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Why Intertrust

Intertrust provides expert corporate and
administrative business solutions to global clients
in more than 30 international markets.

We support the drive for good governance
and business practice in highly regulated sectors
of the economy through unparalleled
legal, inancial and corporate services.

We invest in technology to automate and
accelerate business processes,
helping to ensure our clients
are better equipped to succeed in a fast-paced,
unpredictable and
nighty~connected modern world.
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intertrust delivers high-quality. tailored corporate, fund, capital market and private weslth services to its clients, with a view

to buitding long-term retationships. Intertrust works with global law firms and accountancy firms, multinational corporatians,

Ainancial institutions, fund managers, high net worth individuals and family offices.

Intertrust reports on three geographical segments: the Americas, Western turope and Rest of the World.
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It has been a truly exciting year for Intertrust. Having set aut our
ambitious three-year strategy in late 2018, we wasted na time
in pursuing our goat of becoming a globally renowned, market-
leading, tech-enabled carparate and fund solutions provider.

2019 was characterised by healthy organic growth. the game-
changing acquisition of Viteos and a significant strengthening of
our technaological capabilities, Our efforts have seen the Group
rmake notable progress against all three af the pillars
underpinning our stralegy. These are: capluring opportunities Lo
expand and diversify our service offering; investing in our
platform; and creating an environment far people to grow,
perfarrm and succeed.

Healthy financial results

Our operational achievements are reflected in the solid set of
financial results reported for the full year. Performance across
the Group was in line with expectaticns, with core business
segments positively contributing across all key perfotinanice
indicatars.

Our Corporate and Funds service lines together represent 75%
of our revenue. Funds reparted underlying revenue growth of
10.6%, driven rmainly by Luxembourg and Viteos. Our
aperations in lreland, the Nordics, Spain, the UK, the Americas
and Asia Pacific also grew. Our full year underlying revenue
increased by 3.7% to EUR 544.9 milion, while EBITA armounted
Lo EUR 1969 million, Cur adjusted EBITA margin in the period
reached 36.1%, in line with guidance of at least 36%. Strong
cash generation was also achieved throughout the year,
supported by effective working capital discipline. It is against this
backdrop thal we are proposing z final dividend of EUR 0.33 per
ordinary share at our Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
on 14 May 2020. resulting in a total dividend of EUR 0.63 for
2019,

Viteos: a game-changing acquisition

The acquisition of Viteos, 2 top-10 US fund administration
provider, represents a significant leap forward for Intertrust,
allowing us to accelerate our growth strategy and take the lead
in the digitalisation of our industry, With the addition of moere
than 700 highty skilled employees. including 130 technology
experts, we have enhanced our global position in fund services

6 Annual Report 2019

and the US, and unlocked opportunities to cross-sell products
and services,

Since completion of the transaction in jJune, we have aligned
our cornmercial and marketing strategies and commenced the
migration of selected back office and support functions te our
new Centres of Excellence in India. As the integration continues,
we expect the deal to deliver tremendous benefits to our
existing clients through advanced technology, a digitalised
delivery model and a solution-oriented service suite. Total
synergies are expected to reach USD 22 million, of which we
expect ta realise 209% by the end of 2020 and 50% by 2021.

Accelerated organic innovation

We delivered significant technological advancement in 2079,
not just through the acquisition of Viteos, but by successfully
implernenting a range of internal initiatives. The Group
increased digitiisation through waorkfiow automation and we
successfully completed the rollout of anr ginbal client portal
[IRIS). The rollout of IRIS is the first step towards the consistent
delivery of all our services in a "one-stop shop” and, looking
further ahead. the first step towards client self-service.
Woarkflow automation is also progressing well and, towards the
end of the year, a proof of concept far the automation of
AML/KYC services was delivered, Going forward, we expect the
warkflow automation process to benefit further from the taols
and expertise gained through the Viteos integration.

Nurturing a strong culture

Recognising that our peaple are vital to the success of our
digital transformation, we took action to reinforce our
capabilities and strengthen our culture, to foster engagement
among our teams. As part of this process we announced a
number of key appointments throughaout the year and
established a Senior Leadership Group to facilitate a mare
seamnless transformation of the Group. By creating a new role of
Talent Director, we further enhanced aur Human Resources
function which will play a key role in keeping our employees
informed and engaged.

In 2019, we also launched an emplayee mobility scheme which
offers our people opportunities to pursue newy roles in different
locations within Intertrust. Furthermore, we significantly
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enhanced our learning and developrnent opportunities through
management training. induction and the launch of cur new
cnline training portal ‘ELLA"

Leveraging market opportunities

While mounting regulation can be complex for our clients to
navigate, it presents significant opportunities for our business
and continues to drive our growth. To leverage such
apportunities, during 2019 we developed tailored solutions for
our clients, including our AML/KYC offering and substance
compliance checker.

Once again, Brexit contributed to sustained market uncertainty
throughout 2019. This led ta some stagnation in the Channel
Istands with many of the Group's Private Wealth clients taking a
-wait and see- approach. As a requlatory event, Brexit also
provides potential cpportunities for the Group. Once the UK's
departure from the EU has taken effect, carnpanies will take
decisions about their corporate structures and Intertrust is well
pasiticned to facilitate 1heir next steps.

It's @ good time to be a tech-enabled
administrative services provider

2020 is set to be anather exciting year as we continue to
implement aur key strategic initiatives and start to reap benefits
from the integration of Viteos into our business.

We remain encouraged by the opportunitics presented by new
regulation and continuing market globalisation. Regulatory and
compliance services are increasingly important to our business,
as we can act as an integral gatekeeper to the world, helping

clicnts manage their specific and often complex requirements.

In 2020, we will fully embed technology developed in the past
year. We will alsc drive forward the automation of manual
processes, particularly in Lhe Corporates and Funds service lines,
and further rall-out the automation of AML/KYC processes,
Integrated risk assessrment and transaction rmonitoring will allow
us to better serve our clients in our gatekeeper role. Finally, in
late 2020 we expect to reveal more about our plans to leverage
technalogies such as machine learning and artificial intelligence,
blockchain, robotics and data analytics.

Our future success rermnains in the hands of our talented
warkforce, of which | am tremendeusly proud. There is a lot of
wark ahead of us but | remain confident in our ability to deliver
our medium-term targets for the beneft of all our stakehalders.

Stephanie Miller

Chief Executive Officer

Annual Report 2019 7
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Intertrust is a global lcader in providing tech-cnabled corporate and fund solutions
ta clients operating and investing internationally. In this highly competitive industry,
size matters. By offering a broad range of services and covering multiple jurisdictions
we are able to generate significant economies of scale.

What we do

Intertrust is a global leader in providing tech-enabled corporate
and fund salutions to clients operating and investing in the
international business enviranment. Our services, which are
considered non-discretionary and mission critical from a legal,
regutatory, inancial. reputational and risk management
perspective, are delivered through four service lines:

1. Corporates: We assist clients with the incorporation,
management and administration of legal entities for their
carporate, investrnent and finance transactions.

2. Funds: We provide services cavering the incorporation and
administration of funds, including private equity funds, real
estate funds, hedge funds and venture capital.

3. Capital Markets: We provide trustee and agency services in
capital markets ransactions plus incarparation and
managernent of securitisation and structured finance
transactions for issuers and originators.

4. Private Wealth: We offer fund, trust and foundation
establishment plus administration for entrepreneurs, family

offices and high net. worth individuals.

Acrass our four service lines, we offer a range of ‘core’ and
‘specialised’ services.

8 Annual Report 2019
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Our business model

Input Our key assets

Global client base: Business Partners: Employees: Regulation: Financial:
We wark with corporates, We cooperate with We ermnploy rore than Cor activities are driven Equity investars and
funds, capital ima-kets “usiness partners including 3.500 dnancial servic es by ciess-border tax and firancial institurions
and prvate clients. global law firms, professicnals ac-oss imvestiment ueatios, legal . provide the capital bass
accountancy firms anc 46 offices in 30 couantres, syste s and regulations, ) and f.nding.

financial instit.zions.

Trends and growth drivers
globalisation — regulation — outsourcing — demand for quality - technology — client demands

Our purpose is to
enable globat businesses
to grow sustainably

Responsible financial services

Empowering pecple Creating shared value

Leading by responsible business practices

Output Value created and shared

Clients: Investors:

Employees: . Society:
W contabute o our Our strategy and stralegic By investing in our people ' We are A qatekeeper and
clients’ businesses by arnbitions ensure long - we develop competent ensuie our clients camply
relleving thern frorm Uheir Ltern econaimic value and empowared financial Wit req. larary standards
administrative barden, creation for our investors.

and legal professionals, i o society,

We aiin to aptirmise

shareholder relurn over time,

Annual Repert 2019 9
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Core services

+ Formation and implementaticn services
We offer clients an efficient way to set up new entities
including the implermmentation of structures and
arrangements for corporate, investment and finance
transactions. We can also coordinate the local registrations
far each of these client entities.

* Domiciliation, management and trustee services
We provide a registered office address or office space to our
clients for the execution and operation of their business in
various jurisdictions, Clients can appoint [ntertrust as director,
proxy~holder, authorised representative or company
secretary for their entities. We can conduct day-to-day
management of these entities in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. We also support our clients’
operational, regulatony, governance and trustec
requirements,

Legal and tax campliance services

We provide compliance services in connection with our
clients' legal and tax requirements, including maintaining
necessary statulory records and preparing legal
documentation and tax filings based on the advice of
external experts and input from our clients. In principal we
do not provide tax or legal advisory services as part of our
general service offering. This is to avoid any conflict of
interest between our services and to avoid competing with
the law firms and audit firms that we rely an for the referral
of new business opportunities.

Regulatory and compliance services

We identify regulatory reporting obligations and review, draft
and submit all the relevant reports far relevant reporting
regimes. We also offer compliance consulting and
outsourcing services. Compliance services include assisting
clients with regulatory autharisations, licences, permits or
concessians, and audits; assessing compliance infrastructure;
drafting and maintaining compliance policies and
procedures; and providing training. Outsourcing services
include client due diligence. document managernent, risk
identification, verification and screening.

10 Annual Repart 2019
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» Accounting and reporting services
We provide accounting, bockkeeping. financial reporting and
consoligation services, as well as assistance with financial
audits, internal cantrols and VAT registration and
administration. We offer payroll services and real estate
investment services, engage N bank account management
and pension fund administration, and provide services with
respect to employee benefit trusts and the administration of
trusts and foundations. We also assist clients with their IFRS
reporting requirernents and GAAP-IFRS canversions.

« Liquidation services
We manage the unwinding and dissolving of client entities
and provide support with the tiquidation process of any
entities.

Appraximately 80% of our revenue is generated by ongoing
compliance and maintenance services of client entities which,
for the mosl part, can be considered as recurring. Around 20%
of revenue relates Lo non-recuring revenues generated by
incorpaorations and liquidations.
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Services

Private Wealth

Corporates

Domiciliation,
management and
trustee services

Accounting Liquidétion .

Lagal and tax i
and reporting services

Core Formation and
compliance

implementation

Services
0, .
(70%) Eventdriven’” event driven
+ Corporate Secretarial e Depositary services » Business Succession
services » ManCo services & Family Governance
® Escrow # Qutsourced Fiduciary * Philanthropy &
L ® Performance & Reward services Charitable Trusts
iali
S?ec E“l sed managemeant ® Outsourced IT platform * Real Estate
services e Process Agent & PE/RE Fund * Regulatory & Compliance
(30%)

* Regulatory & Compliance
services
® Treasury Management

services

Adrministration

» Regulatory & Compliance

services

SErvices
® Treasury & Investments

services

Annuat Report 2019 11
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Specialised services

Qur specialised services vary by service tine,
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Maintenance of statutdry recards
Organisation of shareholders and board meetings
Preparation of tegal documentation

Management of escrow agreements to seeure a client’s financial obligations arising from
cross-border acquisitions, international projects, litigation procedures and transnational
trading transactions

Provision of trustee and performance and réward plare sdministration services
Assistance to clients in delivering and managing their reward and incentive arrangements across
both senior management and the wider employee base

Acting as agent for the service of process for our clients

Front-office services inctuding cash management, cash pooling, interest rate management and
liquidity forecast éncf reqﬁireiﬁénts asséésméné h

Middle-affice services including risk management and performance reporting

Back-office services including pracessing confirmations, payments, cash reconciliations,
édministratéon of cash pools and execution of loan agreements T

Cash flow monitaring
Asset verification
Asset safekeeping
Oversight services

Services in relation to management companies
Provision of risk and reguiatory compliance solutions te EU and non-EU Alternative investrent
Funds ("AIFs")

Services in relation to operational, regulatory and governance obligations
Assistance with director and trustee requirements

Provision of fund directorships, registered offices and authorised representatives
Trustee services for unit trust structures

Net asset value calculations

Investor reporting

Fund accounting

Audit assistance

Fund banking and payment services
Performance fee calculations for fund investors
Asset and property management and reporting
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Private Wealth

Agency services

Corporate
administration

Investor reporting

Listings

Portfolio administration

Process agent

» Calculation and payment agency services

+ Principal and interest ledger calculations

« Maonitoring of credit default swap calculations

+ Monitoring of trigger events

+ Calculation and execution of payments to third parties
« Registrar and transfer agency services

» Trustee services for unit trust structures

« Option te act as a security agent and notes trustee

« Maintenance of statutory records
» Qrganisation of shareholders and board meetings

« Preparation of legal documentation in relation to capital markets transactions

s Reporting services ta investors in the SPVs of our clients including portfolio analysis, cash flow

generaticn, prepayments, waterfalls and arrears

= Support and facilitation of the listing of debt or equity securities in cocperation with externat
listing agents

« Administrative services with respect to the underlying assets held by clients including asset cover
testing

s Acting as agent for the service of process for our clients

Istance with passing a bis
ing an owner-

R S ot

Annual Report 2019
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How we deliver value
In an increasingly complex environment, we enable global

Where we operate

We operate from a global network in more than 30 countries
which are grouped into three segments: Western Europe, the
Americas and Rest of the Warld,

businesses ta grow sustainably by acting as enablers, navigators
and gatekeepers for our clients.

At Intertrust, we aim to stay one step ahead of market
developments. By understanding how such developments are
likely to affect the Group's client base, we seamlessly deliver
solutions that enable clients to grow in a sustainable mannar,
Our global position gives us an advantage over smaller praviders
who may deliver a narrower service offering or operate in fewer
jurisdictions. Our ability to rermnain alert and nimble, coupled
with our clear strategic vision, global scale and technological
leadership, means we are well posilioned to deliver value.

In addition to our offices, we have a network of approximately
26,000 business partners wha refer work to us, and a network
of trusted third-party service providers, enabling us to assist
clients by referring thern to our partners in jurisdictions where
we do not have an aperational presence.

Our clients
Qur glebal and diversified client base comprises more than
6,000 clients’ who we supparl in an array of industries.

Our peaple play a key role in making this happen and we have a
strong focus on developing and maintaining a dynamic and
engaged global talent pool. We strive to be an employer of
choice by nourishing a purpose-led, value-driven culture. By
investing in training and developrent, we encourage our
professionals to develop their talents and skills Lo ensure
employees are equipped with the knawledge and expertise
required.

Qur clients, who include multinational corparations, financial
institutions, real estate and private equity funds, UHNWIs and
family offices, represent approximately:

« 60% of the Top 10 Fortune Global 500;
« 50% of the Top 50 Fortune Globat 500; and
s 80% of the Top 50 Private Equity International 300,

intertrust's values describe our identity as an employer and
rernain at the heart of everything we do to create value for our
stakehaolders:

+ Responsive
+ Excellent

* innovative
« Connected

Gatckeepers

i Enablers i Navigators

£ By helping our clients with
their administrative challenges,
i we enable them to grow their

! business sustainably

1+ Based on client graupng in the glabal client porta. RIS,

14 Apnual Repart 2019

i By implementing solutions for
our clients, we facilitate
their ability to operate their

business efficiently and responsibly

i Focusing on compliance,

i business ethics and transparency,
we support our clients in

fulfilling their legal, administrative
¢ and regulatery duties in
international business
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A global business cperating in locally diverse markets

Intertrust is one of the few global service providers for corporate, fund,

market and private wealth services.

The majority of providers within the industry operate on a local
basis and/or offer a limited range of services. Other providers in
the rmarket include:

+ Multi-regional and regional providers who offer a broad
range of services but focus on specific jurisdictions

« Medium-sized and local providers who have a narrower
service offering and smaller geographical coverage

» Some major banks, fund administrators, legal and accounting
firms also compete in specific service lines,

The global expert administrative services market is warth
appraximately EUR 8.4 billion? in terms of revenue. Intertrust
operates in 13 key jurisdictions and these jurisdictions combined
account for approximately EUR 6.5 billion®, or 77%, of revenue
in the glabal expert administrative services market. Through the

Market size within Intertrust’s focus segments
(€Ebn, 2019)

M Corporates
W Funds
W Frivate Wealth

& Capital Markets

Source: external market study of August 2018

2 Source: external market study, Auqust 2018,
= Source, external rrarket study, August 2018,

capilal

acquisition of Viteos the addressable market has increased to
EUR 10.0 billion as a result of the addition of new client
segments, such as hedge funds, and new specialised services,
This is Intertrust’s total addressable market.

The Group holds top 3 positions in all key jurisdictions:

« #1 Netherlands

« #7 Luxembourg

o #1 Jersey

o #2 Cayman Islands

« Top 3 positions in RowW

We differentiate ourselves through our global presence, our
cconomics of scale and our broad range of high value services.

Market size within intertrust’s focus jurisdictions
(€bn, 2019)

B Western Europe
i Americas

A row

Source: external market study of August 2018

Annual Report 2619 15
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The market opportunity

Intertrust's addressable market is expected to grow at a CAGR of
approximately 4% - 6% from 2018 to 2021 driven by
increasing requlation, globalisation and outsourcing.

Regulation

New regulation, such as the Action Plan on Base Ercsion and
Profit Shifting {"BEPS") and the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive
{"ATAD"), has increased substance and reporting requirements
which in turn drive the expert administrative services billable
hours per client entity.

Furthermore, strengthened mieasures to prevent tax evasion,
fraud and terrorist financing have resulted in greater complexity
and increased demand for additional transparency, driving up
administrative burdens and costs of compliance. These trends
often offset initiatives aimed at requlatory and legal
simplification ar international harmanisation,

Service Competitive landscape and industry trends

Opportunities

Globalisation

Globalisalion remained uninterrupted between 2005 and 2017,
with global trade expanding at a CAGR of 4%, in line with GDP
growth, Despite well documented and high-profile trade
disputes, globalisation continues apace, with global trade
expected to grow at @ CAGR of approximately 4% between
2018 and 2023.

As a result of this trend, clients often prefer to work with a
single expert administrative services provider with a full-service
proposition and a global reach.

Qutsourcing

Increased requlatory complexity. coupled with the need for
investment in technology to match the ever-changing
requiatory landscape, means clients are incieasingly opting to
outsaurce expert administrative services, allowing them to
focus on their core capabilities.

Est. annualised growth

line 2018 - 2021
by « Growth in M&A and buyout deal volume = Expansion of jurisdictional footprint e 3-5%
- « Growth of trade activity and FD! » Integrated office sotutions .
‘g'i_ * More regulation driving dernand far e Global CoSec solution '
H outsoircing + Rollout of PRM services to key RoW jurisdictions
o « Recruitment-as-a-service / Payroll services
» Increasing complexity driving up demand » Fund administration e 7-9%
“ for outsourcing » Broaden ManCo services
2 = Number of private equity / real estate + Outsourced fiduciary services
e funds and AUM growth e Compliance-as-a-5ervice
» Growth in transaction volurnes « Specialised sales force in the UK and the US
« More stringent compliance requirements
+ Economic growth « Offering domestic CM services in the US and Asia  «» 2-4%

=
=
L]
3
o
had
m
2
=
o

Deleveraging of barks drives the number of

transactions

Increased confidence around Capital
Markets investments

Increasing demand for alternative
investment in low interest environrnent

16 Annual Report 2019

Expand the targeted capitat market sector to
include corporate bonds, leverage loans and
asset finance

Specialised sales in the UK and the US
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Our strategy

Delivering innovative client solutions underpinned by corporate, legal and financial
expertise and new technology

Our stratogic aim is to be a tech-enabled corporate and fund solutions pravider,

delivering sustainable value to stakeholders. Our strategy s underpinned by three
focus areas, Clients & Services, Innovation & Technology and People. Delivery

against ou(is of these three focu% areas will enable us to wrap operational
excellence E'ﬂ; rovernents through standardisation, centralisation and the use of

shared services.

Strategic ambitions

Operatlonal ‘Excellence
Standardisation | Centralisation | Shared Services

Clients & -~
Services .~
Capture opportunities
to expand and
diversify our service
offering, both
organically and

through M&A Peopie

Develop and maintain
a dynamic and engaged
professionat employee pool

fnnovation & .
Technology

Develop our technology
foundation te serve

changing client needs

Annual Report 2019 17



. frr et

. Qur strategy XIS
i G strateg,

Clients & services

RIS

Coamest ™ pre

Capture opportunities to expand and diversify our service offering both arganically and through M&A activity

Cur ambitions

Corporate services

¢ Develup and deploy integraled office solutions and global "Codec
solutions

« Rollout performance and reward management services in targeted
jurisdictions

s Grow recruitrnent and payroll services

» Expand global footprint to new jurisdictions

s Bundle all of these services on our platform

Fund services

« Expand private equity and real estate full fund administration

« Offer aperaticnal simplicity solutions to an exparced funds rnarket

« Pursue growth opportunities identified in existing and new
geographies (e.g. Luxembourg. Ireland, Spain, Jersey and the
Americas)

« Broaden management company (ManCo) services and fund
services administration in Luxembourg and ireland, respectively

o Intraduce outsaurced fiduciary services {e.g. assist maney
taurdering reporting officers (MLROs) and maoney laundering
campliance offic crs (ML COs) with investor arhaarzing srocedures)

e Expand compliance services, especially alternative investment
fund managers (AIFM), anti- meney laundering (AML) and
customer due diligence (COD) compliance

Capital market services

» Offer domestic services in the US anc Asia Pacific region

« Grow debt capital market services in the LS and Europe

» Broaden our service scope for select transactions including
non-performing loans (NPLs), bank lcans and high yield fxed
incorme

Private wealth services
e Giow Intertrust's ahility to support fanily affices w th CoSec and

accounting services

Facilitate globalisation of multi-generational family wealth
s Increase cross-selling. targeting cur Corparate and Furd service lines
» Offer consohidated reporting to brirg it all together for UHNWI

In addition to organic growth initiatives, Intertrust intends te pursue
selective and value enhancing initiatives to increase scale, comple-
ment the Group's service affering expand its footprirt and enhance

Intertrust's technological capabilitics

A disciplined and selective approach to acquisitions is adopted
through the application of a strict set of selection criteria when
evaluating potential acquisition candidates, with a clear focus on

strategic growth.

18 Annuat Report 2019

Progress in 2019

Acquisition of Viteos, a tech-enabled alternative funds industry
leader, providing end-ta-end middle and back office adminis-
tration for top tier hedge funds, private equity, real estate,
private debt and other alternative asset managers

fnhanced and expanded the services offered in the Capital
Markets and Funds service lines, such as loan administration
and debt servicing

.~ Acquisition of ABN AMRO's Escrow and Settlement busingss
.~ Fund Administration license obtaired in lreland

p UK Fund Finance Advisory services launched

s Applied for a capital markets license in Americas

< Corparate service offering expanded Lo new ocations in
Shenzhen (China} and Aucktand (New Zealand)

Obtained 502 license from NNB to offer escrow services
locatly in the Netherlands This witl be extended to the giobal
network
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Develop our technology foundation to serve changing client needs

Our ambitions

*

Provide insight Lo clients through the consolidation of client data
and empowering decision making

Enhance transparency, providing better ard more consistent
oversight aver activities, deadlings and regulatory changes

Utilise autamaticn to digitise client-facing processes and generate
eficiencics

Provide cantrol thiough risk managerment and cnsure clients
aperate in a compliant environment and with security of
information

Leverage Lhe benefits of new technolugy, ©.q. regyulatory
technalogy (RegTech), robotic process automation and blockchain

People

Progress in 2019

Successfully launched and rolled aut the Groups new client
portal, RIS, Al client data onboarded

Technology upgrade in the Americas accelerated through the
acquisition of Viteos

Automated Payment Platform now Live

Deployed enhancements ta the Perfarmance Reward
Management system for corporate clients

Aulomalion of wor<laws advancing well and witl be supporled
by Viteos tools and expertise

Digitalised the Know Your Client (KYC) and Anti-Meney
Laundering {AML) processes, utilising out of the box Viteas
solutions

State of Art Helpdesk IT centres in India now supporting alt
Intertrust operations

Enhanced pracess of monitoring legal transactions, incoming
and outgoing payments

Suecessfully advanced the 1T roadmap with Naas (networks
as-a-service} which is now Live in the Americas

Develop and maintain a dynamic and engaged professional employee pool

Our ambitions

Create an cnvirgnment for people to grow, perform and succeed,
Intertrust recognises that knowledge, local expertise and business
relaticnships are crucial to delivering high-quality services to
clients and generating new sustainable business

Attract. develop and retain the best talent in the industry
Strengthen employce engagement through process standardisa
tion and new procedures to create a more consistent way of

wanking and improve eficiency

Progress in 2019

Senior Leadership Group established to support and drive
strategy execution

Streamlined management structure and reinforced leadership
tearn,; key appointments include:

e Chief Comnmercial Qfhcer (lan Lynch)

e Global Head of Funds (Patrick O'Brien)

e Chief Risk Officer (Patra van toeken)

¢ Chief Firancial Officer (Ragier van Wijk)

« Managing Director Western Europe (Lee Godfrey)

Updated corpo-ate values rolled out across lacal offices and
embedded in employee objectives

Successful launches of centralised toots, including a global
online learning platform ('ELLA'), global induction process and
glabal expense systern (Concur’)

Workday online

Induction and management training

Annual Report 20719 19
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Employee base

We employ a diverse employee base of more than 3,500
people in more than 30 countries. In 2019, the total number of
FTEs increased by 38%, mainly as a result of the acquisition of
Viteos, reaching 3,467 at the end of the year (2018: 2.515).
Our annual staff turnover rate was 23.4% (voluntary attrition}
which is broadly consistent with last year (23.2%).

The average age is 33 years. Female staff account for
approximately 51% of the total. Around 70% of our employees
are in the 21-40 age range with 32% in the 21-30 range
(2018; 34%) and 36% (2018 35%) in the 31-40 range.

FTEs
1250 - - -
1,000
750
500
250
&)
Western Americas Rest of Group
Europe the World functions
|_IPOEE
Fl 2018

Operational excellence
Enable our strategic ambitions through standardisation, centralisation and the use of shared services
Our ambitions ‘ ) Progress in 2019

« Implement global process standardisation Global process alignment underway

« Create Centres of Excellence to handie some select activitics, : ) ) o
. ) . Strategic planning to automate key business activities
cnabling us to deliver value Lo clients by improving the efliciercy

) completed
and quality of gur services
» Outsource certgin busingss processes to nearby countries to < Integration of Viteos targely completed
improve customer service . . . !
First sleps taken i imigrating cerlain back ofice support

functions to Centres of Excellence in India

lmplementation of ERP system an track
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Environmental, social and governance
strategy

1ol

-
-
W

Building a sustainable business requires a balanced relationship with all staket
inctuding ernployees, clients, business partners, investors, reguiators, the
communities we operate in and society at large.

Our Environmental, Social and Governance programme

The central theme in our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) programme is ‘leading by responsible business practices. It
guides our actions by focusing on Lhree key areas:

1. Responsible financial services

2. Empowering our people
3. Creating value for our stakeholders

Leading by responsible practices

Empowering
Responsible our people
financial
services i
Licence }
to grow
N\ vy ot
nSpling leadership. -
Leading the debate; % gqgagémén& Provide knowledge and expertise
setting the highest standards g ‘ in developing markets
in our industry
Sharing expertise:
Client acceptance & selectivity knowledge sharing
with locat social entrepreneurs
Risk rnanagement compliance
A4 & legisiation Giving back to society
Licence
to operate
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1. Responsible financial services

We contribute ta society with our ambition to behave wilh
integrity and to comply with requlations, We act to deter
corruption, money laundering, terrorist financing and tax evasion
when assisting our clients with their legal, financial and
regulatory reporting obligations. Making choices about who we
serve and how we serve them is an important part of our
responsible and ethical business process. We therefore consider
compliance and integrity within a stringent regulatory
environment to be an integral part of aur business identity.

Compliance and Risk Management framewaork

We are committed to supporting our clients being compliant
with regulatory. risk and societal standards al every location and
segment we operate in. Rapid changes in regulations and
politics, with scrutiny from supervisory bodies, regulatars, and
saciety continue to shape the industry in which we cperate. A
robust Compliance and Risk Management framework is of
centralimportance to Intertrust, With the knowledge of our
clients and the industry and an understanding of their
requirements we continually find new and better ways to serve
and operate in compliance with regulatory, risk and societal
standards. Find out more about cur Cornpliance and Risk
Management practices on page 32.

Risk appetite

We are seen as gatekeeper in the financial services industry as
we work with our clients through ocur services ta be compliant
with the regulatory standards expected by the societies in which
we operate, To do so. it is vitally impartant for us to know and
understand our clients fully, We have clear strategic goals
regarding the types of clients we da and do not wish to serve,
We take our responsibility to protect the financial services
sactor seriously by reqularly evaluating our existing risk appetite.
We must also carefully cansider how to react to new risks,
threats, opportunities, and changes to regulation as well as to
the changing demands of customers and socicty in general as
they emerge.

Our internal cantrols and screening processes are designed to
protect us against reasonable exposure ta risk. This includes the
routine screening of suspicious activities which may be linked to
money laundering, the financing of terrarism, tax evasion,
breaching of sanctions legislation, fraud or other criminal acts.
We act swiftly on any indication that applicable national or
international laws have been broken or are at imminent risk
thereof, We provide quidance to clients on the most
appropriate legal entities for their needs and ensure solutions
which align with the specific requlatory and compliance systems
of the relevant market, We also review and revise our own

internal policies regularly according to changes in regulation and

wider shifts in societal norms or expectations, Routine
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engagement with national regulators in cur operating countries
ensures we continuously frame our risk management and
mitigation approach in line with the external policy
environment and related industry best practice. Operating in a
highly scrutinised global market place means we are often
subject to governmental investigations and regulatory scrutiny.
With regard to open and pending proceedings or investigations
we cannot pre-determine future actions or outcomes.

Continuous checks

At Intertrust we work in the spirit of laws and treaties, that
govern us and our clients’ dealings. We want to know our
clients and the business they operate in, and do careful and
continuous checks to verify their statements to us. We aim to
ensure that the entities we manage for aur clients meet all
local regulations inctuding any financial, legal and regulatory
requirements and abligations to which our clients are bound
under the laws and requlations wherever we do business with
thermn.

We are highly aware of our role as gatekeeper and enabler of
legitimate international investrment and trade. We therefore
make careful choices about the clients we work with and loak
to foster long-term relationships with them based on trust and
transparency. We interact with our business partners on the
same basis, to ensure our mutual clients' needs are correctly
met.

Anti-corruption and bribery

Our reputation and licence to operate depend on responsible
business conduct. As a quality corporate, legal and financial
service pravider, we do our utmaost not to enter inta, or
maintain, relationships with individuals or organisations engaged
in, or suspected of having engaged in. illegal or unethical
activitics,

Human rights

We establish long term business relationships with clients who
respect the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the
eight fundarmental Conventions of the International Labour
Organisation ({LG). Our internal processes include a review of
our clients’ overall social performance.

Our Code of Conduct, Modern Slavery Statement and whistle~
hlower policy are available on our website:
wwwwintertrustgroup.com

Corporate tax policy

As part of our ESG programme, we acknowledge the
impartance of contributing to the public finances of the
countries in which we create business value by making timely
payrment of our tax liabilities, We comply with the tax laws and
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regulations in oll countrics in which vee uperale and shuuld exeil
every effnrt fo act also in the spirit of those laws and

regulations. | his includes such measures as providing to the
relevant autharities the information necessary for the correct
determination of taxes ta be assessed in connection with our
operations and conforming transfer pricing practices according
to the arm’'s length principle. Our corporate tax policy is
reflected by the following elements:

» Our tax principles are aligned with our business principles and
our corporate values, We adhere to the principle that tax
should follow the business and profits are allocated to the
countries in which business value is created.

« We will not enter into Lransactions or structures that are
notifiable to tax authorities under mandatory disclosure
regimes unless there are sound business reasons for it and
due cansideration is given to our reputation, brand and our
corparate and sacial responsibilities,

» Qur objective is to be compliant with nationat and
international rules and best-practice guidelines {such as the
OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises) and to adhere
to the arm’s length principies.

* We gperale in low-taxed or no-tax jurisdictions for
legitimate and justifiable non-tax business reasons. We do
not use so-called ‘tax havens' merely for tax reduction
purposes,

 We commit ourselves to develop and maintain open,
constructive and cocperative relationships with tax
authorities and other stakeholders, based on integrity and
mutual trust and respect.

» Perindical meetings are scheduled by the tax department
{joined by the Chief Financial Officer) with local
managernent to discuss tax developments, our tax policy
and any local uncertain tax positions in detait.

» Intertrust has a limited tax risk appetite.

»  Ourlax position and tax risk mmanagement procedures are
regularly discussed at the level of the Executive Commitiee,
Managernent Board and Audit & Risk Cormmittee aof the
Supervisory Board.

« Our global tax position is regularly discussed with and
reviewed by internal and external auditors. Our Annual
Report provides for clear tax disclosures.

* We explicitly confirm that our whistle-blower policy also
applies to our tax professionals and tax procasses,

« Our Global Tax Policy and Principles of Conduct are approved
by the Management Board and are published on our
corporate website hteps./Asvww intertrustgroup.com/about -
us/corporate-social-responsibility.

New office EDGE
Amsterdam West

Intertrust will move to a new office in 2021,
The building is currently being redeveloped
and transformed to create a biophilic and

sustainable office envircnment.

It aims to be remarkably sustainable, due to the
use of a sophisticated technology platform.

EDGE Amsterdam West is a 48.000 sqm
redevelopment of an office building from the
1970's. The building has been upgraded to become
an advanced and sustainable office space, meeting
the highest requirements in terms of sustainability,
technology and office health. A new and
spectacular glazed dome has been placed to cover
the atrium, transforming the unused exterior space
into the new heart of the building and bringing lots
of natural daylight into the working spaces.
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Aligning corporate values with tax principles:

Responsive Excellent Innovative

® We are open and henest, ®» We seek to develop and
maintain open, constructive,

and will value, support and P )
Gr “séjspecte & B and cooperative

treat everyone [cotleagues. ' 1 L .orepg
clients, and other : IES that relationships with tax

stakeholders} eguatly. and
with mutual respect in order
to suppart our further
growth and improvement of

authorities and other
stakeholders, based on
inteqrity and mutual trust
and respect.

LR S R N

our reputation, brand,
corporate and social
responsibitities.

» We will work jointly with the

»‘We apply dEtEXgE?gt
préféssionai Care and T business as an equal partner
;udgementto arrive . : in providing clear, timely. and

relevant business focused

® We ahserve all applicable
laws, rules requlations and
disclosure requirernents,

advice across all aspects of

tax.

. We w;llprowde a?grapnate
nnput as part of the approval
process for busmess K
proposals w© ensure aclear F
understancﬂngpf the tax .

» We will ensure the business
understands our tax risk
rmanagement policy and
principtes, including our risk

appetite.
c;gnsequeraceg

{g.E, costs, E}E;}eﬁts rlsks)

* We will fuily adhere to our
Tax Principles as defined in
our Global Tax Policy and
Principles of Conduct,

* We are compliant with all
anti-bribery legislation.
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2. Empowering our people

We endeavour Lo be the employer of choice in our sector and
are committed to partnership and integrity in the workplace,
We make substantial investments to ensure a sustainable
growth path by fostering a healthy company culture and by
developing our employees.

Corporate values

Corporate values form an integral part of our recruitment and
selection pracess as well as of our performance management
systemn, Qur values are reflected ininternal and external
communications and marketing materials and presentations, in
employee appraisals, through the Code of Conduct and through
Lhe example set by our seniar management.

Trust, confidence and respect

Our key commitment and core principle is to provide an
environment that promoles trust, confidence and respect of our
employees, clients, business partners, local and international
stakehalders, media, government and regulating authorities as
well as induslry and sacial organisations, Based on this ethos,
we have created a culture where integrity and transparency are
essential to the way we do business.

Continuous compliance

All Intertrust employees are committed to being complant with
regulatory, risk and societal standards at every location and
segment we operate in.

Our internal paticics and compliance training programme aim to
establish expectations and awareness of ethical business
practices and to ensure compliance with applicable trade
restrictions, anti-trust and bribery laws, market abuse rules and
other compliance regulations,

Setting the tone

Senior and board level management see it as an important
responsibility to sel the righl tone at the top of the organisation.
They prornote quality, integrity and professicnalism as the maost
important characteristics of our day-to-day work, Supervising
compliance with the regulatory and quality standards is the joint
responsibility of the Management Board and Executive
Committee,

Environmental policy

Intertrust believes that ESG goes beyond compliance with laws
and regulations, It even goes beyond current profitability and
success. We believe a sustainable global econamy should
combine long-term profitability with social justice and
environmental care. As g professional services firm. our
environmental impact is small compared te many other
industries. But we, as well as our clients, employees and other

stakeholders, want to minimise our environmental impact. Most
of our operational impact comes from carbon emissions
generated by business travel and by energy in our offices. We
aim to reduce the resources that we cansume, such as paper
and water, and the waste we generate. In 2021 Intertrust will
move to a3 new office building called "The Edge Amsterdam
West”, Itis a building that meets the highest requirements in
terms of sustainability, technology and office health.

3. Creating shared value

Adding value to the communities we live and work in

As an international organisation with staff and offices around the
world, we are well placed to make a pasitive conlribution with
sponsorships and local community initiatives.

In 2011, we established the Intertrust Foundation with the aim
of engaging our emplayees in pro-bono services, direct action
and fundraising in support of youth and educational initiatives.
The Foundation does this in partnership with locally established
charities and non-gavernmental arganisations (NGOs). By
actively supporting these causes, our employees know they can
make a difference for young people across the world, while
expanding their personal and cultural horizons.

The Foundation has a programme office with four Intertrust
representatives who evaluate and vole on matching requests
for project proposals from employees, Ambassadors from the
different jurisdictions coordinate the community outreach and
charitable activities in their offices, set goals and report on
achievernents.

Global initiatives

The Intertrust Foundation runs global initiatives in support of
educational programmes. In 2017, to mark our 657 anniversary.
Intertrust announced a three—year global partnership with SO5
Children's Villages. The charity partner and project, with the aim
to ernpower and support young entrepreneurs in Ghana, was
chosen by our employees,

Local initiatives around the world

Hundieds of Intertrust employees give their time and experlise
every year to support their lacal communities. They gain from
the experience whether they are organising events to help to
pramote public awareness of environment protection and
sustainability or raising funds to support charities which help to
create job opportunities for the less advantaged.

In 2019, our community focus has been particularly strong in
places such as the Cayman Islands, Hong Konag. lreland, Jorsey.
Luxembourg, Netherlands, and the United Kingdom.
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Material topics and our focus

In 2018 we performed our first Materiality Analysis wilh the aim
af deepening our focus on Environment, Social and Governance
(ESG).

A total of 27 material themes, validated against the Global
Reporting Initiative's (GRI} Standards were selected for
consideration. These were grouped and ranked by a working
group of internal and external Intertrust stakeholders,
ropresenting a demographic split (age. gender, ethnicity) and
different categories of professicnal expertise. Through direct
survey and third-party interviews, we high-graded the initial list
according to the significance of the subject matter to our key
stakeholders

A goal of the Materiality Analysis was to develap a matrix to
inform future ESG discussions and strategic business decisions. it
facilitates a better understanding of potential future business
and societal impact and the threats and opportunities linked to
enterprise value for Interbust. It also revealed a hierarchy of
stakeholder interests and cancerns enabling leaders to link
future efforts in the ESG space to external, and especially
internal employee interests.

The Materiality Matrix presented below is a first step in an area
of increasing impaortance for businesses like ours. We are

C
Transparency

. Qur strategy L B et

P
Withhalding from
fraudulent or

commnitted to maturing this and with it our role as a leader in
sustainable business growth. On an annual basis we will revisit
and revise the matrix, taking account of shifting stakeholder
perceptions and the risks and opportunities created.

To date eight tapics reached the medium to high threshold of
importance. They were:

« Business principles and human rights;

» Complying with national and international laws and
regulation:

» ‘Withhelding from fraudulent or illegal acts:

» Integrity of personal behavior;

» Transparency;

« Education, learning and growth;

+ Aligned ESG strategy with corporate strategy:

» Data privacy and cyber security.,

Our focus for 2020 will be to develop plans which embed these
tapics further in cur arganisation, This includes day to day
decision-making and langer-term strategic planning. This will
be approached by assessing the risks associated with each topic
and ensure the governance isin place to make sure we link it Lo
our company goals.

F Bugnhess prin(:i?_lles
ioan man rights . . .
v 'g . Complying with national and

international laws and regutation

illegat acts

G Integrity of
g personglg)éhavior
% Education learning & growth
T Aligned ESG ¢
igne!
= strgategy to
= corporate . A .
O strategy Data privacy and cyber security
5
— In) A G Employee
4 Environm?nﬁal Stakehalder engagefnent
5 A lméagr%tpgn)t/ € engagement Fair & flexible compensation
=2 I?nov?tlon in T
5 systems New products and
A service offering in
G line with ESG goals I8 B H
Diversity and i i :
inclusié% Sgégar:gﬁ"ﬂif Risk management
performance i
Su %rtin
= SOCialpEPﬂtElpﬁSES
5 5
Low High
Impact of Intertrust
A General C Econocmic £ Social G People
B Governance £ Environmental f  Compliance Product
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Creating sustainable value and building
frust

In September 2015, the UN launched its 17 Sustainable
Developrment Goals (50Gs), We have identified three of the
goals — and the mast relevant sub-goals — to focus our efforts
first and foremost on sustainable economic growth and
employment (SDG 8), reducing inequality within and amaong
countries (SDG 10} and prometing inclusive sacicties and
building effective, accountable institutians (SDG number 16).

Goal Our contribution Subtargets

emgloyment and decent work for all.

Intertrust aims to contribute to a sustainable future, socially and
economically. through our role as gatekeeper, navigator and
enabler in the global financial sector. We support our clients in
fulfilling their legal, administrative and requlatory duties in order
to enable them to operate their business efficiently and
responsibly. Although we will focus on the highlighted SDGs.
we may link to a wider set of goals and targets as we further
engage with our people and stakeholders and learn where
Intertrust can create value and have a positive impact.

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable 26 By 2020, substantially reduce the proportion of youth not in ermployment,

economic growth, full and preductive education or training.

Reduce inequality within and amang countries 10.2 By 2030, empower and promate the social, economnic and political inclusion
of all, irrespective of age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion ar

cconormic or other status,

105 Improve the regulatan and monitoning of glabal inancral markets and

institutions and strengthen the implementation of such regulations

justice for all and build effective, accauntable

and inclusive institutions at all levels

Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for 16.5 Substantially reduce corruption and bribery in all their forms

sustainable development, provide access to 16.6 Develop cffective, accotntable and transparent institutions st all levels
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Reporting and segmentaticon

On 14 january 2019 Intertrust announced it will simplify its
organisational structure by replacing its current geographical
setup of five segments with three segments, As of Q1 2019,
the Company will repart on:

s Western Europe: Belgium, Gerrnany, Luxembourg,
Netherlands and Switzerland.

* Americas: Baharnas, Brazil, BVI Canada. Cayrnan Islands,
Curacao, India (as of Q2 2019} and US.

+ Rest of the World: Asia Pacific {Australia, China, Haong Kong,
Japan. Singapere and New Zealand); and Northern and
Southern Europe (Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, Guernsey,
Ireland, Jersey, Norway, Spain. Sweden. UAE and UK).

Adjusted 2019 numbers are excluding IFRST6 impact and used
far comparison purposes unless stated athenaise

Revenue and EBITA

Reported revenue increased 9.5% to EUR 543.3 million (+3.7%
underlying) compared ta EUR 496,17 million in 2018. Excluding
the acquisition of Viteos and corrected for currency changes.
revenue increased 3.0%, in line with our 2019 guidance.

As of 2019, Intertrust started ta report revenue per service line,
In the full year, Corparate Services grew by 1.8% to

EUR 196.0 million wath strong growth in Rest of the Warld
(Nordics and the UK). Fund Services reported underlying
revenue growth of 10.6% driven mainty by Luxembourg and
Viteos, which is included in the Americas, Viteos' revenue was in
line with our expectations. Revenye in Capital Market Senvices
increased 2.7%, which is in line with market growth of 2% -
49, Private Wealth declined by 7.8% due to lower
transactional activity as a result of uncertainty surrounding
Brexit and the effect of the decision of a large family office to
inscurce in 2018.

Reported EBITA increased 3.8% to EUR 178.5 million in 2019
compared to EUR 172.0 milion in 2018, Reported EBITA margin
decreased to 32.9% from 34.7% in 2018.
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Adjusted EBITA increased 5.9% (underlying -0.8%) to

EUR 196.9 million from EUR 185.% million in the previous year.
Adjusted EBITA margin was 36.1% (2018: 37.5%), which was
in line with our guidance of at least 36%. The lower margin in
2019 was mainly due to IT investments and a change in
business mix with higher growth in the Rest of the World
segment.

Financing and tax expenses

The reported financial resutt in 2019 of EUR 17.7 million
negative (2018: EUR 32.9 million negative) included interest
expenses of EUR 40.0 million (2018: EUR 31.8 million}. The
higher interest expenses were largely related to a new

USD 150 million term loan and utilisation of USD 65 million
revolving eredit facility following the acquisition of Viteos.

The net financial result excluding 1FRS16 amounted to

EUR 15.0 million negative on a full year basis (2018

EUR 32.9 million negative) and was mainly driven by the fair
value adjustment of the early redemption option. This fair value
adjustment was EUR 22.7 mitlion positive in 2019 (2018:

EUR 0.3 million negative) and related ta the mark to markel
accounting of the early redemption option in the senior notes,

Income tax expenses in 2019 amounted to EUR 24.4 milion
(2018 EUR 8.4 million). The increase was the resull of a
change in the corporate income tax rate in the Nethertands
impacting our delerred tax position. The effective tax rate in
2019 was 21.3%. If Lax expenses were normalised (or one-off
iterns such as the impact of the Dutch corporate income tax
rate change on the deferred tax position and the adjustment
relating to the Viteos acquisition fees, the effective tax rate was
18.6%.

Net income

Reported net income (including FRS16) for the year was

EUR 90.3 million or EUR 147.8 milion on an adjusted basis. The
adjustments in 2019 were for armortisation (EUR 46,1 million),
specific items (EUR 19.0 million), impact of IFRS16

(EUR 2.0 million), ane-off in finance and forex gains {-

EUR 21.7 million) and one-off tax income (EUR 6.1 million).
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Earnings per share

Reported earnings per share weere EUR 1.07 In 2019 (2018
EUR 1.00) and the adjusted earnings per share were EUR 1,58
(2018: EUR 1,54), Following the acquisition of Viteos 561,150
new shares were issued on 18 June 2019. The average number
of shares in 2019 was 89,734,033, while in 2018 the average
nurmber af shares was 89,399,344,

Cash, working capital and capex

Continued strong net cash flow from operating activities in
2079 of EUR 186.7 million compared to EUR 185.0 million in
2018, supported by strong working capital management.

Working capital amounted ta EUR 15.3 million negative alL the
end of 2019 sct against EUR 16.0 million negative at the end of
2018, Warking capital included EUR 6.3 million of working
capital of Viteos. On a like for like basis, working capital
improved EUR 5.6 million compared to 2078, The ongoing
impraverment was mainly driven by acceleraled cash collection
and improved bitling processes.

Capex in 2019 increased Lo 2.3%' of revenue from 1.9% of
revenue in 2018, This was a result of increased investments in
technology relating to the set up of our Centres of Excellence in
India and workflow automation.

Net debt

At the end of 2019 net debt increased to EUR 915.9 million
frorm EUR 682.0 million at the end of 2018, mainly as a result
of a new USD 150 million term loan, USD 65 million revolving
credit facility utilisation and cash used for the acquisition of
Vitcos. The leverage ratio increased to 3.96x in 2019 from
3.38xin 2018, and remained well within our bank cavenant of
4.50x. Based on the covenant definitions in our Senior Facilities
Agreerment, pro forma EBITDA of Viteos and expected synorgies
are included in the calculation of the leverage ratio.

Dividend

In line with our dividend policy of at least 40% of adjusted net
income, an interim dividend of EUR 0.30 per share was paid in
November 2019, The praposed final dividend was EUR 0.33
(subject Lo shareholder approval), resulting in a total full year
dividend of EUR 0.63 per share for 2019 {2018: EUR 0.62 per
share).

Western Europe

In 2078 revenue increased 1.1% underlying to

EUR 237.2 million driven by high single digit growth in Fund
Services, The Netherlands performed in line with expectations
with underlying rovenue decline of around 1%. The

Netherlands continued to increase market share in a challenging

1 Excluding the irinact of IFR316.

market. Luxembourg reported low to mid single digit revenue
growth in 2019, Towards the end of the year, Fund Senvices in
| uxembaurg showed an uptick in revenue following the
onboarding of new clients as well as increased fund activity.
Activation of certain funds remains delayed to 2020, Adjusted
EBITA amounted ta EUR 132.9 miltion in 2019 and was sightly
below EUR 134.2 million i 2018. Adjusted EBITA margin was
56.0% in 2019 compared ta 57.3% in 2018 as a result of
increased expenses in Fund Services in Luxembaourg to support
future growth.

Rest of the World (ROW)

Revenue increased 56.5% underlying on a full year basis with
strong revenue growth in Nordics, Spain, and the UK. Main
grawth drivers were Fund Services (Jersey, Nordics, Asia),
Corporate Services (LIK, Nardics) and Capital Markets (UK,
Jersey], Adjusled EBITA increased 5.9% an an underlying basis
to EUR 84.2 milion. Adjusted EBITA margin was 47.8%
compared to 43.1% in 2018. Margins in ROW are in general
lower compared to margins of other segments due Lo less
operational leverage coupled wilh ongoing investrment in our
seivice lings.

Americas

Revenue in 2019 increased 4,4% underlying to

EUR 110.9 million mainly driven by Viteos. Towards the end of
2019 substance requirements in the Cayman Islands were
clarified and this contributed to the revenue growth. Adjusted
EBITA margin amounted to 52.8% compared to 54.6% in
2018, The lower margin was mainly due to investmentsin a
corporate trust license, additional sales capabilities and office
expansion in Delaware which will enable us to expand our
service affering in the US market.

Group HQ and IT costs

Total Group HQ and T costs amounted to EUR 78.8 million or
14.5% of revenue compared t¢ EUR 70,4 million or 14.2% of
revenue in 2018, Group IT costs increased to EUR 45.7 million in
2019 rmainly due to investments relating Lo the Centres of
Excellence, IRIS portal and workflow automation.
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brtestiust is commilied to maintaining a strong relationship with the investment
community and attaches great value to maintaining an open dialogue with our

shareholdars, investors and equity analysts,

The main goal of our investor relations’ activities is to provide all
relevant information to the markets and to ensure Lthal the
information we disclose is accurate, complete and provided in a
timely way. We provide insight into our activities through
selected financial and nan-fnancial press releases. We regularly
update the markets on our financial perfarmance, the progress
we are making in the execution of our strategy and any other
relevant developments using press releases, webcasts,
conference calis and other channels. All financial press releases
are widely distributed and are also made available to the AFM
(the Dutch Authaority for the Financial Markets). In addition,
they are posted on the Intertrust website:

REtps:/Avwaw intertrustgroup.com/investors

Intertrust is keen to engage actively with existing and potential
shareholders, equity analysts and rating agencies to build
cnduring relationships based on a constructive dialogue. Qur
Management Board hosts onc-on-one and group investar
meetings during (international) roadshows or in-house
meetings, and also atlends broker-organised investor
canferences, Please refer to our corporate website far
Intertrust's policy on bilateral contacts with shareholders and
potential shareholders.

Dividend

We aim for a pay-out ratio of at least 40% of adiusted net
income. In June, a final dividend for the year 2018 of EUR 0.32
was paid out and in Novemnber, an interim dividend far the
financial year 2019 of EUR 0.30 per share was paid. We will
propose to our shareholders a final dividend of EUR Q.33 per
share resulting in a total full year 2019 dividend of EUR 0.63 per
share (2018: EUR 0.62).

Major shareholders
Dutch law requires shareholders holding a (potential) capital
and/or voting interest of 3% or more in Intertrust to disclose
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such to the AFM. The AFM pracesses these disclosures in its
publicly available register which can be lfound at wwaw.afm.nl.

On 12 February 2019, Blackstone placed 6,074,824 of its
Intertrust shares al EUR 15.15 per share with institutional
investaors via an accelerated book build, thereby decreasing
Blackstone's shareholding from £.87% to almost zero.

As per 31 December 2019, the following parties had made a
notification to the AFM with respect to their shareholding in
Intertrust. Actual percentages may differ slightly.

Shareholder %’ Date of notification
FMRLLC 7 T T T 692% 12 Decemnber 2013
Lucorne Capital Management LLC 5.08% 4 Decermber 2019
Harbor Spring 487% 20 June 2019

JP Morgan Asset Managernent 4.82% 1 Novembe- 2019
Holdings Inc.

Norges Bank 3.84% 7 March 2019

' Source v afmunl, AFM -egistor.

Share price performance

Intertrust has been listed on Euronext Amsterdarn since iLs IPO
in October 2075 and its shares are traded under the ticker
symbal INTER. The Campany has been included in the AMX
mid-cap index of Euronext Amsterdam since March 2016,

The share price ended the year 2019 at EUR 17.37, which was
above the closing price of EUR 14.69 in 2018, An overview of
the share price in 2019 is shown in the graph on the next page.

Senior unsecured nates and ratings

In November 2018, Intertrust issued 7-year ELIR 500 million
senior unsecured notes with a coupon of 3.375% (listed on the
Luxermnbaourg stock exchange). Tha Notes have a BB+ rating at
Standard & Poor's and a Ba2 rating with Moody's, For more
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information about this offering, please refer to the carporate
website or Note 20 of the financial report.

Research coverage

Currently, six sell-side analysts are actively tracking us and they
regutarly publish equity research reports on Intertrust; ABN
AMRO, Degroof Petercarn, Deutsche Bank, JP Morgan

Cazenove, Kempen & Co and UBS. Their details can be found at:

https./Asswnaintertrustgroup.comy/investors/analysts.

Financial year and quarterly reporting
Intertrust's financial year runs from 1 January to 31 December.
We pravide trading updates for the first and third quarters of
cach year, interim financials for the half year and full audited
financial staterments for year end.

Financial Calender 2020

Date Event

When publishing financial results and trading updates, Intertrust
holds canference calls/webcasts for shareholders, analysts and
financial journalists that can be accessed through our website.

Opening price as at 2 January 2019 EUR 14.75
Highestclosing price 201~ 7T T TR a3T T
Lowest closing price 2019 EUR 1399

Closing price as at 31 December 2019 EUR 17.31

Market cap as at 31 December 2019 EUR 1.6 billion
Average daily volume shares 120,169

Closed periods

1 January 2020 - 6 February 2020

1 April 2020 - 23 April 2020

1 uly 2020 - 30 july 2020

1 October ?7020 - 22 Octaber 2020

G6Februaty  Publication of 04 and full year 2019 unaudited resolts
14 Feoary  Pubtication of 2079 Annual Report & audited financial staternents

23 Apnl Publication of 01 2020 trading update

14 May Aqnual General Meeting

18 May Ex-dividend date for final dividend 2019

19 May Record date for final dividend 2019

5une Payment date for final dividend 7019

30 July Publication of Q2/H1 2020 results & reviewed interim financial statements
22 October  Publication of Q3 2020 trading update

4 Navember Ex-dividend date for interim dividend 2020
5 November Record date lar interim dividend 2020
27 Novemnber Payment date for interim div dend 2020

INTER share financial year 2019

{share price in EUR)
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Compliance and Risk Management

We are committed to support our clients being compliant with legal, requlatory, risk
and societal standards at every location and segment we operate in,

With rapid changes in regulations and politics, and with scrutiny from supervisory
badies, requlators, and soclety which continue to shape the industry in which we
operate; Compliance and Risk Managermrent is of central importance 1o Intertrust,
With the knowledge of our clients and an understanding of their requirements we
continually find new and hetler ways Lo serve and operate in compliance with legal,

requlatery, risk and societal standards.

Strategic progress

In 2019 Petra van Hoeken joined Intertrust as Chief Risk Officer
(CROJ. to lead and transform compliance and risk management
activities, front to back, in support of our strategy of client
focus, glabal growth and tech enablement. The CRG is a
member of the Executive Committee.

Enhanced focus on governance, risk and compliance Lo ensure
thal Intertryst:

» maintains a robust glebal governance model;

¢ fully embeds a risk and compliance culture;

« pro-actively manages exisling and new operational risks;

¢ provides a structured training programme to improve
knowledge of governance risk and compliance for all; and

s leverages available Lechnology to increase efficiency and
effectiveness.

intertrust is undergoing a technological transformation to
provide tech-enabted corporate and fund solutions, Part of this
transformation is aimed at the alignment of comman global
processes and improving workflows, ultimately leading to a
more effective and efficicnt operating platform. Change is also
an oppartunity to strengthen and embed sustainable industry
best practice for corporate governance, along with codes of
conduct and behaviours driving a clear cultural message for
compliance and risk behaviours. It also clearly provides new
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opportunities and the chance of deep engagement for our
prafessional employees across the globe,

Local and global management promotes and supports
compliance and risk management and the importance of
adherence to global policies and standards and relevant
regulations such as sanctions, anti-tax evasion. anti-bribery and
carruption, anti-money laundering, and the countering of
terrorist financing.

During 2013 we sharpened our quarlerly complisnce and risk
reporting to the Executive Cormmittee and the Supervisory
Board. as well as conducted our fourth Group-wide Risk Cantrol
Self-Assessiment.

Risk appetite

During the year, we continued ta apply our Group risk appelite
and risk tolerances in alignment with our strateqy, our global
policies and our standards. In countries where we are not under
supervision by local authorities, we strive internally to maintain
the same practice standards we apply elsewhere in the Graup.

Compliance and Risk Management continues to work with the
Executive Committee. the Audit and Risk Committee of the
Supervisory Board to regularly evaluate our existing risk profile
and react to new risks, threats, opportunities and changes to
legislation, requlation. customer and societal demands as they
emerge. Intertrust remains vigilant to risks and will turn away



clients that cannot match our risk appetite. We are clear about
those business activities that we will not accept and we also
have an internal control mechanism to assess and manitor our
higher risk and sensitive business activities and relationships.

We play a gatekeeper role to society demands, and it is vitally
impartant for us to know and understand our clients fully and to
make sure that the legal entities we provide services ta comply
with aur, and regulatory, standards. We alsa sce this in-depth
knowledge and understanding of our clients and their interests
as being an opportunity as enablers, adding value and
enhancing our clients' experience.

Navigaling through change in regulation and keeping abreast of
industry standards requires education of our employees and
Intertrust has launched an online e-learning application to
support the upskilling of our employees. Where we can help
our employees understand changes in regulatory demands, Lhis
can also support them in exploring commercial opportunities,

Intertrust has processes for reporting unusual transactions, We
also have a whistle-blower policy allowing employees to repart
activity which concerns them through an alternative channel
which side-steps their reporting line, in order to ensure
independence and anonyimity.

Our senior leadership, business teams, and the Compliance and
Risk Management functicen wark together to apply our global
policies and standards consistently, We must ensure that
existing and new compliance and risk processes are well
designed, proportional, controlled and monitored. They should
also lead to clear business autcomaes.

This year we have seen the impact of Economic Substance
legislation in many jurisdictions. Following FATCA and CRS, we
continue ta see change in the sphere of mandatory disclosure
reporting such as with the Directive an Administrative
Cooperation & in Europe designed to strengthen tax
transparency and to address aggressive tax planning. Significant
regulatory change will continue to sculpt our financial landscape
in 2020 and beyond.

In line with industry developments, we continue strengthening
our risk management and control framewaorks. Special attention
areas are regulatory cormpliance and, also given our tech
enablement strategy, infarmation security. For regulatory
campliance the main focus is on improving the ability to review,
monitar and provide oversight to client ang business activities.
For information security we continue to make developments to
safeguard intertrust and increase awareness of cyber threats,
data leakage and privacy throughout the business,
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Risk management and internal
controls

Far our risk management system we use concepts of the COS0
{Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Comrmission) Enterprise Risk Management. (ERM) framewark.
This is widely accepted as a leading enterprise risk management
madel for larger companies. The COSO ERM framewaork takes
the company's strategy as a starting point and defines four
components of risk: strategic, operational, reporting and
compliance.

We strongly advocate the ‘three lines of defence model that
outlines the roles and responsibilities of the business, iLs support
functions. compliance and risk management and internal audit
functians.

First line of defence: business

Intertrust's business tearns bear primary responsibility for
identifying, controlling and monitaring Lhe risks within their
processes, maintaining effective internal control frameworks
and adherence to global internal and external cormpliance and
risk policies and standards.

Secend line of defence: Compliance and
Risk Management

The Compliance and Risk Management function supports,
oversees and challenges the management and compliance in
the businesses. We further develop and monitar the cempany's
risk tolerance and policies, Risk Management is also responsible
for the independent risk reports to the Executive Comittee.
Supervisory Board and the Audit and Risk Committee,

In addition, the Compliance and Risk Management team
monilors changes that may impact the risk profile of the
business and Lhe appropriateness of providing new services to
existing clients. The tearn also provides employees in every
office with appraopriate risk and compliance training.

Third line of defence: Internal Audit

The independent Internal Audit function conducts audits that
provide insights into how and to what extent aur controls are
effective in managing and mitigating risks that may jeopardise
our strategic and other objectives. These audits provide
ranagement with additional assurance on the effectiveness of
internal controls and risk management.
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Developments in 2019

Quarterly risk reporting

We continued our quarterly reporting, presenting information to
enable our senior rmanagement to focus on the actions
necessary to further mitigate risks around the Group. Our
reporting cavers financial crime prevention including risk from
tax evasion, prevention of terrorist financing, AML, sanction
screening, compliance oversight such as breaches, complaints
and incidents together with any output from our Compliance
Monitoring Programme which can infarm managerment
decisions ~ both on a tactical and strategic level. In 2019 cach
of our operational client facing jurisdictions have kept an up-
to-date Compliance Risk Assessmaent which drives their
Compliance Monitoring Pragrammes.

Client acceptance

Meanwhile all of our operational client facing jurisdictions are
online with our revised on-boarding process in 2019, This an-
boarding process allows for Intertrust ta have a consistent
approach across our entire client facing jurisdictions with regards
to the collection of client data. Part of our technological
transformation in 2020 will look ta imprave our on-boarding
workflow with a technological solution te bring more efficiency
to this process.

Global Business Acceptance Committee
Alongside our revised on-boarding process and in arder to
enhance our monitoring and risk Managermoent capabilities, we
have implemented a revised Global Business Acceptance
Committee, chaired by the CRO. With new terms of reference,
this committee supports our chjective of having informed
decision-making which can support effective and efficient client
service operatians, improve accountabllity, Staff will work across
Jurisdiction boundaries to on-board rrulti-jurisdiction structures
through the use of combined acceptance committees, The
Global Business Acceptance Committee will typically consider
high risk multijurisdiction structures, implementation of new ar
significant changes in the delivery of services, and any patential
far sanctions risks.

Information security

Cyber security will remain an ongaing risk Lo us all. Qur
Information Security Office has continued its awareness
campaign and delivered mandatory e-learning for all our staff,
Ernplayees have learnt that warning signs can include fraud
indicatars in emalls, letters and telephone calls and certain
unusual aspects of payment requests.

Cyber criminals continually subject arganisations to cyber
threats such as with the use of phishing emails which have a
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goal of luring recipients into providing sensitive data or even
transferring funds. We have implemented a reporting systerm
for earlier detection of suspicious messages.

The Information Security Office also supports the business with
a committee that looks at access requests for data, considers
internal and external security threats, responds to security
incidents, and enforces the Group's information security policies.

Other developments from our Information Security Office
include:

« Acceptable Use policy ta preserve the integrity of aur
technology resources (infrastructure, systems, software and
dala of any kind} providing direction and support for
infarmation security in accordance with business
requirernents and relevant laws and regulations.

«  Asystemn to warn if sensitive outgaing email traffic is being
sent to the wrong recipients.

+ Security awareness messages and training along with
phishing simulations to ensure vigilance of users when
engaging with email.

+ Increased intelligent dala leakage prevention capabilities help
protect against the loss of specific information such as
personalty identifiable infarmation {PIl} and other sensitive
client data.

= Continued periodic penetration tests performed by external
experts on our infrastructure in the form of Black and/or
Grey Box tests.

« Implementation of stronger authentication across all remote
access connections in order to prevent unauthorised access
te critical systems and data.

We have appointed a dedicated Chief Information Security
Officer at the start of 2020, reporting to the CRO.

Risk Control Self-Assessment

In 2019, we expanded the Company's Risk Control Self-
Assessrment (RCSA] to identify and validate key risks, across the
whole group. We hoth considered the functions in Operations,
HR, IT, Finance and Compliance & Risk Managerment as well as
the {ocal jurisdictions fram which we operate aur services to our
clients including all our larger or requlated operational offices.

During this exercise the business identified concerns, risks and
trends in strateqic, operational, reporting and compliance areas,
including IT systerns, staff rescurcing, data security and privacy,
client service operations and fraud.



Assessing our main risks

[n pursuing our strategic ambitions, we are prepared ta accept a
certain level of risk to achieve gur abjectives while remaining in
alignment with cur aims, Operationally, the business continues
to mitigate the downside risk of unexpected operational
failures. Our management of financial and reporting risks
continues to focus on alignment and improvement of our
global processes. Furthermore, we quide our employees on
compliance and operational risks through internal policies,
procedures and controls, and by ensuring that aur Code of
Conduct can be adhered to at all times.

Main risks

People

Our peaple are key ta the success of our Company. The inability
to recruit, retain, engage and develop high calibre ermployees,
and empower them with responsibility, could have an adverse
effect on the level of service our clients expect.

Hence our people strategy remains focused on having a culture
and image thal is welcoming to all employees; providing an
environment where emplayees are mentored, engaged, and
feel rewarded and respected. We continue to invest in
initiatives and personal development plans for each employee,
Our succession and resource planning will support and meet our
cver changing global needs,

We continue to invest in meeting regutatary obligations and
upping aur professional expertise. To do so we must cvolve the
intelligence tools that we use to better serve the needs of the
business. As part of this initiative we are realigning our
governance risk and compliance structure to ensure that we
can caontinue to improve our ability to review, monitor and
provide aversight ta client and business activities, in a fast-
paced and constantly changing legal and regulatory
environment. And allow decision making at. the right levels
empowering our staff,

Furthermare, we will continue investment in employee training,
including availabitity of topics through e-leamning which we can
deliver on demand to our employees, The development of our
employees is important ta achteve higher standards of quality,
professionalism and conformity, Last but nat least, we will also
promote our Code of Conduct.

Operational effectiveness - IT

Disruptions in our information technology and infrastructure can
have an adverse material effect on our business. its continuity,
the results of operations, our reputation and our financial
condition.

Key areas of focus are strategics to ensure that we can continue
to operate and meet demand as we transform our business to
be more technologically cnabled. We continue ta invest in our
IT infrastructure and peeple. The roll out of Group-wide
systerns, will mitigate our risks and imprave the resilience of our
netwark.

Our Business Continuity Management programme addresses
potential disruptions to our operations or supply chain.

Operational effectiveness - Data integrity
and cyber security

Data is key Lo our business, The protection and integsity of our
data is important to prevent loss of commercial opportunity
whilst also maintaining an ability Lo manitor our security and
privacy risks, it is important that we continue Lo improve the
consistency ol dala quality and integrity across our jurisdiclions
globally. Failure to manage cur client and corporate data can
result in significant reputational, financial and regutatory
implications. It can also damage the trust our clients have in our
ability to keep their information secure.

Cyber security is an an-going risk to our business and
technological transformation will continue to heighten aur
privacy and information security risks as our business data
volurmnes grow, cyber security threats become more
sophisticated, and some data sets converge.

To manage and mitigate this risk we regularly review and
updale the security controls on our netwark based on known
security Lhreals and the latest intelligence. Alongside the
developrments of our Inforrnation Security Office we continue o
increase awareness amaong staff of the risks and implications
deriving from fraud and cyber threats,

The management of aperational risk is of key importance in
mitigating the risk of loss from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems.
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We actively moniLor our ability to meet our key goals and
objectives by delivering successful projects that, will provide
improvement ta our business and rmake sure that we can stay
abreast of a fast-paced and constantly changing legal and
requlatory environment.

We continue to invest in solutions which will not anly imprave
governance over the quality of our client data but also to be
mMore proactive in identifying changes to make the delivery of
our services morc effective.

Global slignment of workflows and automation of processes
will, during the time of transformation, pravide potential for an
increased risk until the new systems and processes have been
fully emmbedded. Once comiplete, they will achieve efficiencies
whilst increasing the effectivencss of our safeguards and
controls.

Regulation

We operate in a global and competitive market where demand
for our services can also be influenced by political trends,
changes in requiatory regimes and market consolidation.

We closely monitar public and political debate impacting our
industry {including discussions regarding economic substance,
mandatory disclosure regimes and other tax reforms) and the
{patential) development of new regulations in all jurisdictions
and regions where we aperate.

We are conscious of the fact that changes in law and regulation
in many jurisdictions can have negative as well as positive
effects on our business and bring uncertainties to our existing
and new clients. We continue to develop and expand our
cxpertise and capabilities in compliance services to support new
and existing clients.

It is also clear that this environment subjects us, increasingly. ko
reguiar government and supervisory reviews and public serutiny
on comptiance with the high, changing and complex standards
of the industry. We are cornmitted to live up to expeclations,
but caution that the outcome of such reviews nar public
scrutiny can be predicted,
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Reporting

We operate across many countries and have numerous
reporting entities. Without sufficient internal reporting and
escalation we run the risk of not being able to manage our key
performance indicatars to targets, forecasts, and stakeholder
expectations. Itis critical that all our entities report to the same
standards and deliver the same high-guality of reporting in line
with our financial accounting and compliance reperting
principles.

We invest in techneology and pracesses to harmonise,
standardise and the use of best practices. During design and
implementation of the system much attention has been paid to
ensure a cormplete and robust. control framewark for internal
reporting.

Ongoing attention for adequale accounting policies, a standard
chart of accounts for Graup reporting. standard reporting
farrmats, perioadic training and active monitoring of critical
financial transactions, and segregation of duties to manage
conflicts, form part of our internal cantral framework,

Financial risks

The Group is funded with a mix of own capital and external
capital (term loans, toan facility, senior nates), and holds bank
balances and receivables in different locations and currencies.
We have identified the following key financial risks which have
been mitigated with proportionate measures and are manitored
on different levels within the Company.

« The majority of cur debt {senior nates) has a fixed interest
rate. For the porticn with variable rates (term loans and RCF
utilisation) we have hedged 30% of the risk with interest
rate swaps. Cash flow volatility resulting from the interest
rale fluctuation is limited to the nan-hedged part of the
termn loans.

« The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates primarily to the Group's operating
activities, The exposures are mainly with respect to the US
dollar {USD) and Pound Sterling (GBP). Our Group EBITDA is
roughly generated for 20% in USD, 20% in GBF, and 55% in
EUR. The loans and barrowings af the Group are
denominated for approximately 35% in USD, 10% in GBP
and 559 in EUR. With this split we have matched to a
significant extent the cash flows generated by the underlying
operations of the Group with the debt which provides an
econarnic hedge. As we are in the process of repaying the
USD utilisation on the RCF, the currency rmix will further
realign early 2020. Over the longer term, however.
perrmanent changes in foreign exchange rates and the



availability of foreign currencies may have an impact on our
financial results.

We carry significant intangible assets on our batance sheet
related to goodwill and intangibles for brand name and client
relationships resulting from acquisitions. There is a risk of
impairment for these assets, The conclusion of our
impairment assessment as per 31 Decemnber 2019 is that no
impairment is required.

Liquidity risk includes the risk ta a shortage of funds and the
risk to encounter dificulty in meeting abligations associated
with financial liabilities. The Group maonitors its risk to a
shortage of funds as integral part of our forecasting
processes, A cash pool and inter-company financing enables
us to provide all significant group entities with sufficient
liquidity.

Our businesses aperate globally and our profits are subject to
taxation in many diferent jurisdictions and at differing tax
rates, Tax laws that currently apply Lo cur businesses may be
amended by the relevant authorities or interpreted
differently by them, and these changes could adversely
affect our reported results and cash tax expenses.

In the financial staterments, the financial risks are discussed in
Section: Financial instrurments, note 23,
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Acquisition of
Viteos

The game-changing acquisition of Viteos
accelerates our strategy to become a global
leader in tech-enabled corporate and fund

solutions.

Key facts about Viteos:

> A high growth provider of leading-edge
technology solutions

> Holds a top 10 position in U.5. fund
administration

> Over 80 top tier clients

> Approximately 715 employees, including
130 technology experts

> Operates a global delivery model with its
headquarters and sales team in the .5,
supported by Centres of Excellence in India.

The combined group builds on a pre-existing
technology partnership to drive further growth,
digitalisation and innovation of the industry.

The acquisition of Viteos delivers:

1. Meaningful presence in the U.5. and increased
exposure to funds.

2. Accelerated growth potentiat through the
addition of new clients, services and technology
solutions

3. Strengthened technology foundation through
Viteos' leading-edge technologies including
blockehain, werkflow automation. and digitali-
sation.

4. Asignificant step towards operational excellence
by leveraging Viteos' offshore Centres of Excel-
lence in India
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Statement by the
Management Board

Management Board responsibility statement
under Dutch Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with best practice 1.4.3 of the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code, the Management Baoard is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal risk
management. and control systems. Intertrust manages strategic,
operational, compliance and finance/reparting risks by applying
a global internal risk management and control framewaork,

The risk management and cantrol frarmework is designed Lo
mitigate risks and provide reasonable assurance regarding the
achieverment of objectives in the following categories:

» Effectiveness and efficiency of operations:

= Reliability of inancial and non-financial information;

o Compliance with laws, regulations and internal policies;

« Safeguarding assets, identification and management of
liabilities; and

s Strategic goals of Intertrust.

During 2019, the design. alignment, monitaring and reporting
on key processes and the internal centrol framework has
continued ta be a key objective for the Company.

In 2019, various aspects of risk managemaent were discussed by
the Executive Committee, including Lhe results of the annual
Risk Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) and the progress to
mitigate risks in risk registers. The responsibilities concerning risk
managerment and compliance, as well as the role and
responsibilities of our three lines of defence were also discussed
wilh senior managerment. In addition, the results of the RCSA
and the design and harmonisation of key processes have been
reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Supervisory
Board. The review did not highlight any material risk and/or
major control deficiency and concluded an overall improvement
of the organisation.

Intertrust prepared the ‘In Control Statement far 2019 in
accordance with best practice provision 1.4.3 of the new Dutch
Corporate Governance Code. With due consideration to the
above and reference to the informaticn described in the
Compliance and Risk Managerment chapter on page 32 of this
Annual Report, the Management Board believes that (i) that
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sufficient insights are provided in the mentioned Compliance
and Risk Management chapter into any failings in the
effectivencss of internal risk management or internal control
systems; and (i) those systems provide reasonable assurance
Lhat the Intertrust Annual Repart 2019 does not contain any
material inaccuracies.

It should be noted that the above does not imply that internal
risk management, ner the internal cantrol systems and
procedures provide absolute assurance to Intertrust as ta the
realisation of financial and strategic business cbjectives, or that
internal risk management and controt systems can prevent or
detect alt misstatements. inaccuracies, errors, fraud and non-
cormpliance with legislation, rules and regulations.

There are a number of risks in areas where applicable
requlations may be unclear, subject to multiple interpretations
or under development. or where regulations may conflict with
ane anather, or where requlators revise thelr previols guiddnee
ar courts overrdle previous rutings. Despite our efforts to
maintain effective compliance procedures and to comply with
applicable laws and requlations we therefare cannot rule out
the risk of non-compliance with applicable standards. We are
committed to conducting our business with integrity, and
regulatory compliance remains the priority for 2020 and
beyoand.

The Management Board canfirms that based on the current
state of affairs and Lo the best of its knowledge, it is justified
that the financial reparting is prepared on a going concern basis
and that the Annual Report states those material risks and
uncertainties that are relevant te the expectation of the
Cormpany's continuity for the period of twelve months after the
preparation of the repart.



Conformity Statement

WiLh reference 1o section 5.25¢ paragraph 2, sub ¢ of the
Financial Markets Supervision Act (Wet op het financiec!
toezicht), the Management Board states that, to the best of its
knawledge:

» The annual financial statements for 2019 give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of Intertrust Group and its subsidiaries:

» The Annual Report gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs as per 31 December 2079 and the course of business
during 2019 of Intertrust Group and of its affiliated
companies of which data is included in the annual financial
statements, together with a description of Lhe principal risks
lacing Intertrust Group.

Amsterdam, 13 February 2020
Stephanie Miller, Chief Executive Officer
Rogier van Wijk, Chief Finaricial Officer
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Report from the Supervisory Board

2079 was anothar eventful year foi the Supervisory Board of intertrust NV,
Untertrust or the Company). It was a year in which the acquisition of Viteos played
an impaortant role in paving the way for a journey towards a tech-enabled future.

2013 was also the year in which Blackstone reduced its
shareholding in Intertrust to almost zero leading to the
deparlure of Lionel Assant, a highly valued Blackstone
nominated Supervisory Board member who had been wath the
Company since 20714, In addition. during the year, the
Management Board was again reduced to two members with
the departure of Henk Pieter van Asselt (CCO) who had been
with the Cornpany for 14 years and was instrumental in growing
the Company to become one of the world's leading providers of
carporate services. In Septermnber 2019, Hans Turkesteen
stepped down as Chief Financial Cfficer (CFO) of the Company.
During his time with Intertrust, Hans significantly contributed to
the success of the Company evolving the strategy, setting up a
strong finandial framewcrk, successfully refinancing the
Company and helping to secure Viteos to accelerate Intertrust's
strategy. The Supervisory Board is pleased to have found a
suitable successor La Hans from its internal resources by
nominating Rogier van Wijk to the Managerment Board. Ragier
has been with the Company since 2017 as Group Controller and
with mare than 20 years of experience as dedicated finance
professional including in leadership roles, Rogier is expacted to
play a significant role in delivering on Intertrust's strategic
objectives,

In addition, 2019 was also the year in which the Supervisary
Board presented Intertrust’s new Remuneration Policy to the
General Meeting. The review of the Remuneration Policy took
into account several factors including the long-term strategic
oppartunities and challenges that Intertrust will face in the next
few years, the external carporate governance environment,, the
views of Intertrust's employees and senior stakeholders and
commentary frorm sharcholders and proxy advisory bodies. On
28 Novemnber 2019, the shareholders of Intertrust approved the
proposed Remuneration Policy with an overwhelrming majority
of the votes cast. With the amended Shareholders Rights
Directive (Directive] coming into effect in the Netherlands an

40 Annual Report 2019

1 Decernber 2019, Intertrust is very proud to be an early
adopter of the requirements of the Directive.

Composition, diversity and
independence of the Supervisory
Board

Since 21 August 2015, Intertrust has had a two-tier corporate
structure under Dutch law in which the Supervisory Board
functions as a separate corporate body with full independence
fram the Management Board. The Supervisary Board is charged
with supervising the policies of the Management Board and the
general course of affairs of the Company and its subsidiarics,
The compaosition of the Supervisory Board is such that members
act independently and critically from cach other, the
Managerment Board, the Executive Cormnmittee. and any
particular interest. The background, knowledge and expertise of
each Supervisary Board member adds to the board's
effectiveness, enabling it to fulfilits duties in the Company's
best interests. The members of the Supervisory Board as of

31 Decernber 2019 are listed in the table. For full individual
biographies, please refer ta the Supervisory Board section (see
page 59) in the Corporate Governance chapter of this Annual
Report.

The Supervisory Board airns to have a strong representation of
diversity in terms of gender, age, career stage and nationality.
The current composition of the Supervisory Board camplies with
the gender criteria prescribed by article 2:166 of the Dutch Civil
Code in that it includes 30% fernale representatives, When a
vacancy arises within the Supervisory Board, gender is an aspect
that is taken into consideration during the search for a suitable
candidate. Intertrust believes that diversity, both in terms of
gender and background, is critical to its ability to be opento
different ways of thinking and acting, eventually enhancing its
long-term sustainability.



Héléne Vietter-van Dort {Dutch)

Charparson and independesl Supenasary Board
Member

Member af the Rermuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee

Anthany Ruys {Dutch)

Indepencent Supervisory Boad Meimber
ranber of the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee (Chanman Ll

17 Dace nber 2018]

Y Resctrfrom e s

Stewart Bennett (British}

Vice -Charperson ard Indenend e Supenasony

Board Merrber

FMombe of U Audit and Risk Cormnmittee

Charlotte Lambkin (British)

Independent Supanvisary Boz d Monsber
Chaiperson af the Remuneration, Selection
and Appointment Committee {+ce

12 Cecomber 2019)

i o , Governance

Toine van lLaack (Dutch)

Independsint Sunenisory Board Mermber

Chairman ¢f thi Audit and Risk Committee

Paut Willing (British)

Lunder ihe Duateh

Meomber of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Until 16 May 2079, two out of six Supernvisory Board members,
Lionel Assant and Paul Willing, were not considered
independent within the meaning of best practice provision 2.7.8
of the Corporate Gavernance Code. Please refer to the
Supervisory Board section (see page 59) in the Corparate
Governance chapter of this Annual Repart for more detalls.
With the resignation of Lionel Assant per 16 May 2019, the
number of nan-independent members of the Supervisory
Board was reduced to ane for the remainder of the year

Activities and meetings of the
Supervisory Board in 2019

During the year, the Supenvisory Board had access to all
necessary relevant infarmation and company persannel ta
effectively carny out its fiduciary duties in a timely fashion.

The Supervisory Beard formally met seven times in persan and
twice by conference call. In additian, the Supervisory Board had
numeraus conference calls and meetings on a number of topics
which required their atlenlion and deliberation, mainly relating
to the Viteos acquisition. This ultimately led to the Supervisory
Board approval of the acquisition on 17 June 2019,

The overall attendance rate was 89%. In all meetings there was
sufficient presence Lo constitute a valid quorurm.

Recurring topics at these Board meetings included:

» CEOreport

« CFOreport

s Strategy

s Manthly resutts

+ Mergers & Acquisitions. including Viteos acquisition

Compaosition Supervisory Board

TR0
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+ HR related matters
« Committee reports and recommendations {where
applicable)

Additional tapics discussed in more depth during 2019 included:

= Succession planning of the Managernent Board and
Executive Committee

s KPIs: Management Board and Executive Committee

= Govermance framework

= New Remuneration Policy

+ New share incentive plans

« [ntertrust sharc plan awards and grants

« Compensaticn Supervisory Board

« Nominaticn for (re)appointment of Supervisory Board
mermbers

« Annual results 2018 and related reparts and press releases

+ (Interim) dividend distribution

« External audit opinion and audit report 2018

* Interimn financial staterments and the review report from the
external auditor

« Nomination for reappcintment of external auditor

» Engagement of external auditar

* Approval external audit plan 2019

» Quarterly results 2019 and related reports and press releases

* farecasts

= Budget 2020

» Financial plan 2020-2022

+ Capital allocation

s Tax matters

s Internal audit plan 2019

» Internal audit reports and recormmendations

* |7 strategy and priorities

* Integration of Viteos

» Compliance update

Name Date of birth Gender
Héléne Vigtter—van Dot 150clober 1964 female
Taine van Laack 4 April 1963 Mate
Anthony Ruys 20 July 1947 Male
Charlotte | ambkin 1 February 1972 Female
Paul wWilllimg 17 Decernber 1965 Male
Stewart Bennett 30 March 1971 Male
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* Risk Management update

* Regulatory inspeclions

= Legal updates

« Sales and business development strategy
» Global Operations

s Industry developments

s Annual Report

The Supervisory Baard also had in-depth sessions regarding
some jurisdictions. during which they were given detailed
inforrmation about the relevant intertrust business operaticns,
regulatory inspections as well as the main risks and
appartunities in these markets, In 2019 the Supervisory Board
visited the Cayman Islands and Ireland for in-depth jurisdictional
Sessions,

The Supervisory Board adapted written resolutions during the
year to approve, amongst others, the following items:

s New Rermmuneration Policy

+ New share incentive plan Management Board
« Nomination of CFO Lo the Management Board
+ Management agreement of new CFO

The Chairperson and ather mernbers of the Supenvisory Board
maintained regular contact with Intertrust’s CEO, other
members of the Management Board and members of the
Executive Committee during the year to address relevant topics,

The members of the Supervisary Board continued their
Permanent Education prograrmme in order to remain updated
an any relevant developments which waould enable them to
perform their supervisory tasks. During 2019, two Permanent
Education sessions were held for the Supervisory Board. All
sessions were presented by external parties.
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Activities of the Supervisory Board
committees

During the year, the Supervisory Board was supported by two
committees: the Audit and Risk Cormmittee and the
Remuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee, The
committees are respansible for preparing items delegated to
them on which the Chairpersen of each cammittee provides
verbal reports on the discussions of each committee and the
recommendations to the Supervisory Board,

The charter of each committee is published on the Company's
website.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Commiltee consists of three members. As of
31 Dacember 2019, these mernbers were: Toine van Laack
(Chairperson), Stewart Bennett and Paul Willing. The Audit and
Risk Committee assisls the Supervisory Board in fulfilling
oversight responsibilities with regard to matters including: the
integrity and quality of the Company's financial staternents; the
financial reporting process; the effectiveness of the Company's
internal risk management and cantrol systems; Lthe internal and
external audit process; and the Company's process for
maenitoring compliance with applicable laws, regutations and
regulatary requirements, the Corparate Governance Code and
the Company's Code of Conduct.

The Audit and Risk Committee met eight times during 2019
with an attendance rate of 87.5%. Additionally, most meetings
were also attended by the CEO, the CFO, the External Auditar
and the Group Head Internal Audit. Several meetings were alsa
attended by the CRO.

In addition, the Chairpersan of the Audit and Risk Cammittee
had several individual meetings with the CFO and CRO,

The Audit and Risk Cammittee meetings included the lollowing
iterms and topics:

Meeting Attendance of Supervisory Board members

Meeting attendance Supervisoy Board

Haléne Vistter—van Dart Youtofd
Lionet Assant 2outof 6
Toine van Laack Dout of 9
Anthaony Ruys 7 out of 9
Charlotle Lambkin 9 out of B
Paul Willing Soutof 9
Stewart Bennett, Joutof 3

Remuneration, Selection and

Audit & Risk Committee Appointment Committee Total
s e

1T outof 4 n/a 3

8 aut af & nea 17

n/a doutof 5 1

n/a 5autof 5 14

4 out of 4 n/a 13

4 our of 4 n/a 7
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» Annual accounts and Annual Report 2018
« External audit opinion and audit report 2018

« Audit plan by the external auditor and the related audit fees

« Advice to the Supervisory Board regarding nomination for
reappointment external auditer

= Proposal to the Supervisory Board regarding external auditor's

engagement

« Appreval external audit plan 2019

= Repaort to the Supervisory Board an the functioning of the
external auditor

+ Quarterly and half-year results, financial statements and
related press reloases

» Forecasts and guidance

« (interim)dividend

* Interim financial staternents and the review report from the
external auditor

+ Review of half-year results by external audilor

+ Cormpliance and Risk Managernent update and self-
assessment

+ Regulatory inspections

+ Internal audit plan 2019

¢ In control staternent

+ Legal and tax update

Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee
consists of three members. As at 31 Decemnber 2019, these
members were: Charlotte Lambkin (Chairpersan since

12 Decernber 20719}, Anthony Ruys and Héléne Vietter-van
Dort. The Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment

Committee advises the Superviscry Board on the remuneration

of the individual members of the Management Board and
monitors the Remuneration Policy. Its responsibilities include:
setting Remuneration Palicy and compensations standards;
preparing proposals cencerning the individual remuneration of
the members of the Management Board; and manitoring
incentive and equity-based compensation plans. Furthermore,
the Rernuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee is
responsible for the selection and appointment procedure of
members of the Management Board and of the Supervisary
Board. The committee meets at least twice a year.

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee
held five official meatings during 2019, These meetings had a
93% attendance rate. The following items and topics were on
the agenda for these meetings:

» New Remuneration Policy

s New share incentive plans

* Intertrust share plan awards and grants
« Compensation Supervisory Board
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+ Short Terrn Incentive (STI} - rmembers Management Board
and Executive Committee

+ STlscorecard Management Board

= Performance evatuation - Management Board and Executive
Committee members

« Management Board and Executive Committee succession
and development plan

* KPI's and target setting 2019 - Management, Board and
Executive Cormmittee

« Payratio

+ Governance structure 2019

« Remuneration package new CFO

+ Management Board members’ views on own remuneration

« Staff turnover and strategic plan

The Rernuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee
ensures that the remuneration of the members of the
Management Board is consistent with the Rermuneration
Palicy which was adopted by Intertrust's shareholders on

28 November 2019, Please refer to the Remuneration chapter
(see page 45) far mare information on the Remuneration
Policy.

Self-assessment

In 2019, the assessment of the Supenisary Board was done
based on bespoke questionnaires prepared by an external
party. These questionnaires covered the functioning of the
Supervisory Board as a whale, the functioning of the
Chairperson and that of its two committees. The report
prepared by the external party was shared in January 2020 and
will be discussed during the Supervisory Board meetings
scheduled for February 2020.

Additionally, the Management Board conducted an evaluation
of its own functioning by completing a questionnaire. The
aulcorme of this self-evaluation and the steps Lo be taken in
2020 were discussed amang the members of the Management
Board.
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i Remuneration Policy was originally adopted in Seplember 2075 and an

amended version was approved at the Annual General Meeting of 16 May 2017, On

28 Novernber 2079 a new Remuneration Policy was adopt
General Meeating (EGM). Any subsequent aimendiments to i

I at the Extraordinary

35 applicable to the

Management Board are subject to adoption by shareholders at a General Meeting,

This remuneration report is issued by the Supervisory Board
based on the Rernuneration, Selection and Appointrment
Committee's recormmendations, This report presents an
overview of the Remuneration Policy. the remuneration
structure, the application of the Remuneration Policy and the
components of the remuneration of the Management Board. In
addition, the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee is infarmed about the remuneration of direct
reparts to the Managerment Board, including applicable short~
term and tong-term incentive arrangements.

Remuneration principles

The Management Board is responsible for executing the
Company's strategic plan. The Remuneration, Sclection and
Appointment Cormmittee ensures that the performance metrics
used in the Company's variable remmuneration incentive plans
hold the members of the Management Board accountable far
the successiul delivery of Lhis plan. Therefore, it is the
Rermuneration, Selection and Appointrment Commitiee's view
that a variable compensation caompoenent should be directly
linked to the Company's strategic objectives and key
performance indicators, I.e. 8 combination of financial and non-
financial performance measures and individual perfarmance
objectives.

Early in 2019, the Rermuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee reviewed the Remuneration Policy adopted in
2017, The new Remuneration Policy is designed to take into
account written and verbal feedback from shareholders, proxy
advisors and other stakeholders. Increased transparency in
varicus elements of our Remuneration Policy are introduced
and the policy was developed in line with the requirements of
the amended Shareholder Rights Directive. The new

Remuneration Palicy is available on the corporate website in the
Corporate Governance section.

The Remuneration Policy is based on the following
remuneration principles:

1. The Remuneration Policy should enable the Company to
attract, motivate and retain qualified employees;

2. The Remuneration Policy should serve the Management
Board and. in alignment, help to develop and maintain a
dynamic and engaged talent pool;

3. The Remuneration Policy should provide for a balanced
remuneration package that is focused on achieving
sustainable financial results, shall align the interests af
management wilh shareholders and other stakeholders
including clients, employees and wider socicly,

4. Remuneration structure and perforrmance metrics should
be generally consistent for the Managernent Board and
senior managers ta build a cohesive culture and encourage
reamwork Lo drive Company success;

5. Perfarmance-related remuneration should be weighted
towards the long-term reflecting our focus to deliver high-
quality expert services based on long-term relaticnships.
We aim for our global businesses to grow sustainably and
reward behaviours that are aligned to our values:
Responsive, Excellent, Innovative and Connected:

6. The Remuneration Palicy should be simple, clear ang
transparent.

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment Caommittee
ensures that the remuneration of the members of the
Management Board is consistent with this Remuneration Palicy
but has the discretion to deviate where necessary to cnsure the
principles outlined above are met.
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Management Board Remuneration Policy and
2019 result

Rogier van Wijk replaced Hans Turkesteen as Intertrust's CFO on
12 September 2019 and was appointed as member of the
Management Board at the EGM of 28 November 2019. The
remuneration of Rogier van Wijk was also approved by the
shareholders on 28 November 2019. Hans Turkesteen will
remain with Intertrust until 31 March 2020, We refer to the
Management Board section in the Corporate Gevernance
chapter.

The remuneration structure for members of the Management
Board is designed to balance short-terrm operational
performance with the long-term objectives of the Cormpany
and value creation for its stakeholders, The remuneration
package consists of:

» Annual base salary

s Short-teim incentive
+ Long-Llerm incentive
+ Other benefits

Annual base salary

The base salary represents a fixed cash compensation that is set
based on the level of responsibility and performance of each
executive. The base salary of the members of the Management
Board is annually benchmarked to peers in the AMX index
camparable with Intertrust in terms of level of business
complexity and scope, and cther benchmarks as considered
appropriate by the Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment
Committee.

Variable income

The variable income policy comprises the following instruments
which help to strengthen the Management Board's
commitment to the Company's objectives and business
strategies:

¢ Short-term incentive (STI) in cash.

e Lang-term incentive (LTI} awards of conditicnal shares
(Perfarmance Share Plan, 'PSP'), subject to achieving
predetermined performance targets and continued
employrment.

The Supervisory Board will decide upon each award of variable
compensation, taking into account both financial and non-
financial performance for each individual member of the
Managerment Board. The award is subject to financial
perfarmance criteria based on the Company's strategic
objectives ard key performance indicators and nis or her specific
responsibilities to deterrmine their relative weighting.
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For 2019, Lhe Supervisory Board has set specific criteria for the
Management Board that reflect the relevant performance
indicators of Intertrust Group as a listed cormpany.

The Supenvisory Board analyses possible outcornes of the
variable income compenents and the effect on Management
Beard remuneration. This analysis is conducted annually.

Short-term incentive (ST1)

The STlis an annual cash bonus. The abjective of the STls to
ensure that management is focused on realising pre-
established short-term objectives that are aligned to the
Company's strategy and appropriately reflect both quantitative
and qualitative criteria. The target and maximum bonus
opportunity, and the targets pertaining to thesc are for the
Management Board to be set annually at the discretion of the
Remunaeration, Selection and Appointment Committee, in
accordance with the Remuneration Policy.

Management Board STl award as % of base salary

CEO 0% -700% T
Other rmembers 30% - 100%

The short-term incentive for 2019 was based on the following
critena;

70% financial targets i
* Revenue growth
« EBITA growth

30% non-financial targets
+ Strategic projects
+ Pcople

The cash bonus for 2019 was approved by the Supervisory
Board of the Company on 5 February 2020. The resulting STI
award for 2019 amounted to EUR 600,000 for CEO Stephanie
Miller and 21,193 EUR for CFO Rogier van Wijk, as of the date
of his appaintment as a member of the Management Board.

Long-term incentive (LTI)

The LTl intends to drive long-term performance of key
employees, support retention and further strengthen alignment ‘
with sharehalders’ interests. An LT| award consists of an award
of conditional performance shares that become unconditicnal
at the end of a three-year performance periad. It is subject to
achieving predetermined targets based on Absclute Total
Shareholder Return (Absolute TSR] with 70% weighting,
Undertying revenue growth with 30% weighting and to
cantinued employment. The number of conditional
performance shares that vest after three years may vary
between 0% and 200% of the number of conditionally




awarded shares, where the shares wall vest for 100% upaon
attainment of a cornpounded annual growth of 12% of
Absolute TSR aver the three-year performance period (for the
LT! cycle 2019-2021)

Absolute TSR {compounded

annual growth) Vesting

Belowthreshold <8% 0%
Threshaold 8% 50%

At largel 12% 100%

Maximum == 16%4 200%

The vesting percentage is allocated linearly between the
Lhreshald. at target and maximum levels, based on Lhe
principles set out in the Rernuneration Policy and will be a
number between 0% and 200% of the number of
perfarmance shares awarded, as sel out above.

The Absolute TSR target and the Underlying revenue growth
target (below threshold, threshald, target, and maximum) will
be set annually by the Supervisory Board, for a three-year
period. The perfarmance period starts 1 January and ends three
years later on 31 December. Given that these targets are
considered competlitively sensitive, Lhe targets and the achieved
performance will be published in the annual report after the
three-year vesting period.

Shares acquired at the end of the three-year performance
period by members of the Management Baard are required to
be held for a further period of two years in accordance with the
best-practice provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code, except for the LTIP shares that can be sold to cover
income taxes due. LTI awards to members of the Management
Board are made at the discretion of the Supervisory Board in
accardance with the Remuneration Palicy.

Management Board LTI award as of % of base satary

CHo T100%

75%

LTI plans, which started in 2016, vested an 1 April 20719.

2019
B s LRy
Adjusted revenue (EUR'000] 544 833
Adjusted EBITA (EUR'000) 196,914
Basic EPS (EUR) 1.01
Diluted EPS (EUR) 1.00
Average staff cost (EUR'000) 786
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The LTIP awards for 2019 for the members of the Management
Board were set by the Supervisory Board of the Company on
28 Novernber 2019,

The CEQ, Stephanie Miller, was awarded 35,108 shares for
performance year 2018 and 35,108 shares for performance
year 2019. The CFO, Rogier van Wik, was awarded 4,388 shares
for performance year 2019 as of the date of his appointment as
a member of the Management Board.

Pension arrangements

The CEC, Stephanie Milter, received a pension compensation of
25% aof her base salary. A similar set-up was applicable to the
CFO, Rogier van Wik and Hans Turkesteen up to resignation.

The CCO. Henk Pieter van Asselt, participated in a defined
cantribution plan with the age-based contribution level ranging
from 6.9% to 24.5% up Lo his resignation.

Other benefits

Members of the Management Board were eligible for a range of
other benefits, such as healthcare insurance, lease car and
housing allowance. As per 31 December 2019, the members of
the Management Board have no loans outstanding with
Intertrust and no guarantees or advanced payments are granted
ta members of the Management Board. No member of the
Managernent Board is entitled under his or her contract to be
paid a severance payment upon termination of their
appaintment that exceeds ane time their grass annual base pay
in the preceding financial year.

20719 and comparative 2018 tables relating to the
Management Board's L.TIP and ECP commitrnents and
movements and their overall Management Board remuneration
can be found in the Remuneration of key management
persannol paragraph.

Group performance

The following table shows the S year's history of the
nerformance of the Group. Figures are representing full financial
year performance.

2018 2017 2016 2015
496,056 485,716 385753 344,854
185,865 185,132 153,771 140,415

1.00 0.97 0.58 0.12
0.99 0.94 Q.58 0.12
86.3 85.8 83.3 853
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Application of the Remuneration Policy in
2019

The average total staff expenses, including the variable and
deferred remuneration, for all Intertrust employees {excluding
the Executive Committee and Management Board} amounted
to EUR 78,595 in 2019 {2018: EUR 86,339).

Remuneration ratio

This amount compared with the actual compensation earmed
by Stephanie Miller in 2019 (including base salary, cash
allowances, short term incentive paid over 2019 and expenses
related to long term incentives in 2019), amounting te

EUR 1,773.728 resulting in a remuneration ratio of 1:23,
compared to a ratio of 1:16 in 2018.

Remuneration - Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board
consists of fixed annual fees for their role as Supervisory Board
members. In addition, the Chairpersons of the Audit and Risk
Committee and the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee, respectively, receive a fixed annual fee for these
rales. The Blackstone representative on the Supervisory Board
did not receive remuneration for its role during the year.

The annual fees of the Supenvisory Board were revised at the
AGM of 16 May 2019, The various board compositions in 2019
are further explained in the Repart from the Supervisory Board
chapter on page 40 of this Annual Repart.

Annual fees per function in the Supervisory
Board (in EUR '000 and gross)
Functicn in Supervisory Board

B T i
Member 50

' Excluding a fixed annual expense allowance of EUR 5x.

Annual fees per function in committees of the
Supervisory Board (in EUR '000 and gross)

Function in committees of Supervisary Board Fixed annual fee
Rudti and Risk Committee T
Chairperson 15

Member 7.5

Remuneration, Setection and Appointment

Committee

Chairperson 10

Member 5
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The Company does not grant variable remuneration, shares or
options to merbers of the Supervisory Board, As per

31 December 2019, the members of the Supervisory Board
have na loans outstanding with Intertrust and no quarantees or
advanced payments are granted to members of the Supervisory
Board.

Campany-related travel and loedging expenses, in relation to
meetings, are paid by Intertrust.

An overview of the fees of Supervisory Board mermbers can be
found in later in this Chapter,

Remuneration of key management
personnel

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has defined key management persannel as the
members of the 2019 Supervisary Board, Management Board
and Executive Committee of the Group, responsible for the
strategic and operational activities.

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation cornprises:

(EUR 0001 2019 2018
Short-term employee sencfits  6er 6267
Past-employmoent benefits 207 133
Sharc-based payment’ 2.810- 909
Other benefits? 1,493 700
Toat 7T T T T T sooe

' Thisincludes the expenses recag Tised by the Group relgted te the EOP and LTIP
awards mace o key Managemeant personnel,

" including Rollover share plan caosts.

T Inctuding termination benefits.,

Management Board
For the individual members of the Management. Board, the
Graup recognised the following remuneration expenses:
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2019 remuneration

extiaordinary

Other  Short-term Deferred expense from  Annualised
(EUR 000) Base salary benefits incentive” remuneration Total- total total*
Stephanie Miller 600 134 600 590 1,774 - 1,774
Hans Turkesteen® 238 508 310 14 1,580 560 -
Henk Pieter van Asselt® 244 20 - 132 397 - -
Ragier van Wijk’ 32 9 21 13 75 - 855
Total 1,415 PR 931 Cese 2,836 T560 2629

""" © 2018 remuneration
S Extraordinary

Other  Short-term Deferred expense from  Annualised
{EUR 000) Base salary benefits' incentive?remuneration Total? total total
Stephanie Miller 486 101 352 225 1177 - 1.318
Ha1s Turkesteen 83 4 38 21 146 - 711
Henk Pieter van Asselt 350 373 250 222 1.195 350 -
David de Buck? 37 4 - 25 69 - -
Total 966 485 a0 96 2587 T350 2028

Snpre-Term remuneration represents accied bonuses t be paid i the Following financial year.

The rermuncrations of the Management Board are prasenited far the penad they were part of the Management. Board.

Other beneirs nclude Lfe course compensaticn car alowarce, relocation or ather allowances such as terminatior benefits when appl cable,

* As the costs conta n expenses on an accrual basis and in lne with Group Accourting Polimies, the comipanson for share based payments is presenled in details in Lthe taales
hereafler shovang Lhe Management Board awaids. 17 the annualised Lotal, only those members of the Management Boasd are shown il they were in cha-ge as al
31 Becember 2019 or 31 Decerrber 2018 respectvely.
Ras gned and stepped down from the Managemenit Board as of 12 September 2019 but remains employed by Intertrust up to 31 March 202G,

T Effoctve 28 Novormnber 2019, Rogier van Wik becama memoer of the Managernert Baard.

2019 deferred

remuneration

Resigned i1 2018 znd lef: the Management Boare on "6 May 2019 a7d remainaed emplayed by Intertrust until 31 July 2019

Effeczve 22 January 2018 Stephanic Miler replaced Cavid de Buck as Intenrust’s CEQ. Davie de Buck remaned emplovec by Intertrust up to 17 May 2018

CEUR Gagy ™ EOR AR T Pemeion costs “Fotal
Stephanie Miller 240 1450 390
Hans Turkesteen - - 134 34
Henk Pieter van Asselt - 12% 132
Rogier van Wijk - 5 g 13
R - RS 59 Ceis
""""" ‘2018 deferred o
remuneration
(Furcooy T T Eop " Other LTI'  Pension casts " Total
Stephanie Miller - 101 124 225
Hans Turkesteen - - al 21
Heonk Picter van Asselt 94 112 16 222
David de Buck? 29 (3] 4 28
Totat 123 208 165 496

' Reprosents the experse recog 1sed dunng the year in accordance with I°RS2, share-based payment, relaied to the EOP and LTIP awards
* EOP acceterated vested on 1 May 2018 witn the approval of the Supenvisory Board,
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{EUR 000) Base salary
David de Buck® 350
Ernesto Traulsen® 197
Maarten de Vries 431
Henk Pieter van Asselt 50
e e

" Tother

. Governance
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2017 remuneration

Shart-term
benefits’ incentive? EQP3 Other LTP
50 250 373 az
17 - - -
140 - - -
3 37 17 7

© Short-term rermuneratior represents accrued banuses to be paid in the Following financial year.

Represents the expense recogised during the year in accordance with [FRSZ, share-based payrent, related to the LOP and _TIP gwards.

* The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the period thay were pat of the Managerient Board.
+ Bffectiva 22 lanuary 2018, Stephanie Muter replaced David de Buck as Intertrusts CeQ. Dav d «de Buck remaned employed by Interrust ap ta 17 May 2018,

> Erresto Trausen resigyred per 16 january 2017,
¢ Maarten de Vrics resigned per 31 Decanber 2017,

(EUR 000) Base salary
David de Buck® 350

35

Ernesta Traulsen”
T 703

Total

2016 remuneration

Other  Shart-term

benefits’ incentive? EOP? Other LTI
51 a0 238 33

11 60 (12) -
) T 1407 226 0 33

costs
15
15

1

3

Taotal?
1,070
329
621
15
C235

Other benefits irclude Ufe course comrpensation, ca* allowanice, relocation a- other allawances such as tenmination henefits when apolicable. and pension compersation

Pensicn

costs
14

al
s

' Other benetis include Ufe course compensation, ca- allowance, retacation ar other zllawances such 25 terinatron beneafits when applicable and pension campensatior.

< Snatt-term emute talion eprasents accrued hunuses 1o be pad i e fallowang fnanc al year.

Represents the expense recognised during the yearir accardance walh IFRS2, snare-based payment relaled Lo the EQP and LTIP awa-ds.

 The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the periad thcy were part of the Management Board
- Effective 22 January 2018, Stephanie Miller replaced NDavid de Buck as Irtertrust's CEQ) David de Buck rerrained empleyes by Intestrist vp ke 1/ May 20118

Ernesta frausen resigred oer 16 january 2017,

(ELIR 00Q) Base <alary
David de Buck® 350
Ernesto Traulsen” 361
Total 71

2015 remuneration
Other  Short-term

benefits! incentive? EQP? Qther LTE
71 100 375 -
19 94 94 -
T Jod e e

Pension
costs

14

62

76

Totalt
910
630

1540

P Qther benefits nciude Lfe course compensation. car allowance. relocation 0r ather allowances such zs te-rination bonefits when applicable, and pension campensatior.

* Short -term rerpuneration represents accried bonuses to be paid in the fallowing financisl year.

© Represents the oxpense recognised during the year in accordance weih IFRS2, share-based paynent relatec ta the EOP and LTIF awards.

* Allrrembers rermuncrations are presented from and to the period they were part of the Management Board.
= Effective 22 fanaary 2078, Stephan-e Miller replaced David de Buck as Intertrust's (EQ. David de Buck rernained employed by Intertrust Lp to 17 May 2018,

© Ernesto Traolsen resigned per 16 January 2017,

Description of the share based payments

The Company has implemented and made awards to members

f) Performance Share Plan 2019 {PSP); and

g} Viteos Rollover Share Plan (VRS).

of the Management Board and key management personnel
under the following equity-settled share-based payment plans:

a) Executive Qwnership Plan (EQP);
b) Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP);

¢) Long Term Incentive Plan for employees granted in 2016,

2017 and 2018 {LTIP 1-4);

d) Long Term Incentive Plan far Executive Committee (LTIP 5):

e) Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019 (SDPY,

50 Annual Report 2019



a) Executive Ownership Plan (EQP)

It 2015, the members of the Management Board and selected
eligible members of senior management were invited to make &
one-off investment in the Company's shares at a share price
equal to the introduction price of ane Company share on
Euronext Amsterdam at the time of the IPQ. In addition, shares
representing 14% of the total investment amount were
allocated to the eligible participants for no cansideration.

For each of the acquired/allocated shares, the participants were
awarded the conditional right ta receive one Campany share for
every three EOP shares (the Matching Shares) for no
consideration. These Matching Shares were vested in 2018 on
the third anniversary of the IPO settlement dalte Lo Lhe extent
Lhat the participant still (i) held all the EOP shares and (i) was
ermployed by the Company on this date, The grant date fair
value of the Matching Shares was therefore expensed over a
period of 3 years starting on the IPO settlerment date.

The Matching Shares awarded in 2015 did not entitle the
participants to receive dividends during the vesting period.

EGQP matching shares vested in 2018,

b) Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP)

On 1 February 2017, the Management Board has made a one-
time award of the Cormpany's shares (ESOP Shares) to eligible
employees from Azcona, to celebrate Azcona and Intertrust
joining forces. These awards entitled cach eligible employee to
receive shares for no consideration, subject to continued
employment for a period of ane year frorm the acquisition date.,
Participants were not entitled ta receive dividends during the
vesting period. Last ESOP shares vested in February 2018,

c) Long term Incentive Plan (LTIP 1-4)

As referred to in the 2015 Remuneration Policy, the LTIP was
implemented during the first hall year of 2016, Conditional
perfarmance shares were awarded to members of the
Management Board and eligible members of senior
managerment on 1 Aprit 2016 {LTIP 1-2), 1 Aprl 2017 (LTIP 3)
and 1 April 2078 (LTIP 4).

Perfarmance shares are awarded an an annual basis and vest on
the third anniversary of Lhe grant date subject to (i) the
participant remaining in continuaus employment during the
vesting period and (i} the Group meeting the pre-determined
performance criteria. Participants are not entitled to receive
dividends during the vesting period.

For all performance cycles 2016-2019, 2017-2020 and
2018-2021, an adjusted Earnings per Share (adjusted EPS)
growth perfarmance target applied. Subject to meeting the

. Governance
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service condition, the number of LTIP Shares that vest will be
between 0% (adjusted EPS growth below the threshold) and
150%. The vesting percentage was allocated linearly between
the threshold level and 100% and also from 100% to the
raximurmn level. The first LTIP grants vested on 1 April 2019.

Ir addition, fFollowing the acquisition of Elian, the Management
Board awarded performances shares under the LTIP to cligible
Elian employees on 1 Novermber 2016, These awards had the
same vesting conditions (including the same vesting date) as
the performance shares granted an 1 April 2016 and those
shares atso vested on 1 April 2019.

c) Long Term Incentive Plan for Executive
Cornmittee (LTIP 5)

For the members of the Executive Committee, grants were
glven also an a similar criteria basts, Their grants vest on each
anniversary of the grant date for 3 years. In each year 1/3 of the
tatal grant will vest on the condition of (1) continuous
emplayment of the participant during the vesting period and (II)
the Group meeting the pre~-determined performance criteria in
the first year the grant is given, There were 40,238 shares
granted on 1 April 2019, 7,738 shares forfeited and based on
the perfarmance of the Company, 95% (from the remaining
32,500 number of shares) will vest in the upcoming three years.

d) Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019 (SDP)

As continuance of the Long term Incentive Plan, the SDP grants
were implemented during the first half year of 2019. Grants
were awarded to eligible employees an 1 April 2019,

Perfarmance shares are awarded on an annual basis and vest on
each anniversary of the grant date for 3 years. In each year 1/3
of the total grant will vest subject to the participant remaining
in continued employment during the vesting period.
Parlicipants are not entitled to receive dividends during the
vesting periad.

e) Performance Share Plan 2019 (PSP)

The Management Board was granted awards under a new plan
on 29 Novernber 2019, called Performance Share Plan. as
described before in the same chapter,

f) Viteos Rollover Share Plan (VRS)

At the time of the Viteos acquisition in 2019, management of
Viteos received shares of the Company which are restricted to
hold for three years after the acquisition, each year 1/3 of that
released from restrictions every year. As the shares require
cantinued employment of the participants, the shares are
accounted as share based payments in line with [FRSZ.
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Movements of awards

The Management Board awards autstanding and movements

during the financial year were:

EOP - Matching

shares

Award

date

David de Buck

EOP - Matching
shares
Ernesto Traulsen
EOP - Matching
shares

Asselt
COP - Matching

shares

19 Oct

2015

19 Oct

19 Oct
2015

2015
1Jan Moaove-
2015 ment

- 0013
- 12,503

2075

31 Dec

50,013

12503

! Tae moverrents it 2018 ave caused by the vesting of the FGP shares.

* Mavernent is caused by resignation of Ermesta Trautsen per 16 January 2017

2015

(A
2016
Mave- 31 Dec
ment 2016
- 50,013
- 12,503

. Governance
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2017
Maove-

ment

(12.503)*

250062

* The maverrient < caused gy Henk Prater van Awsalt ainag the Manageamant Board effect ve 2 Navernher 2017,

Other LTI

Stephanie Miller
PSP shares
PSP shares

LTIP4 shares”

Rogier var Wijk

PSP shares
SDP shares”
LTIP4 snares®
Henk Pieter van Asselt
LTIP4 shares
LTIP3 shares
LTIP1 shares

Award date

29 Mow 20746
29 Nov 2019
1 Ap 2018
29 Now 2019

1 Aoril 2019

1 Aprl 2013

1 Apr 2018
1 Apr 201/
T Apr 2016

Outstanding
asat 1Jan

10,600
4300
A2

2019

Granted in Movements
2019 in 2019*
35108 -
35,108 -
4,338

- 2.381

- 2,700
(10.000)

- (4 000)
- {£.59745)

* Tne Group is planning ta transfer 2vailable treasury shares to cover the vesting of the grants in 2020.

that can e sold to cover income Laxes due.

" LTIP4 shares gra ted to Stephanic Miller do not need to meet performance canditions.

52 Annual Report 2019

Grants frarm 1 Apnl 2018 anc 1 Apol 2018 do not have perfarinance cntena.

31 Dec

50,013

25,006

Outstanding
as at 31 Dec

Rogier van Wijk was appainted to the Managerient Board as at 28 November 2019. Other mavements are caused Ty vesting.

2017

20197

2018
Mave-

(50.013)

(25.0086)

ment!

31 Dec
2018

Fair value per

share at grant

date

(EUR)

11.26
11.96

14.80

1

v

o

[§]

ho

15.

14.86

Stephianie Miller was awarded 35 108 shares for perfarmance year 2018 and 35,108 shares for performance year 2019 on 29 Novernber 2019,

14 26
16.05%
1795

Fair value
per share
at grant
date
(EUR)

- 14.28

- 14.28

- 14,28

Vesting date?

26 Nov 2027

29 Now 2022

29 Now 2022
T Apr 2022
1 Bpr 2021

1 Apr 2021
1 Ape 2020
1 Apr2018

Foltaw ng tha vesting date the LTIP shares granted to members of the Management Soare are subject to an additioral twa-year lack up periad, excent far the LTIP sharcs
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Fair value
Qutstanding per share at
Award  Granted Movements  Granted Movements  Granted Movements as at 31 grant date  Vesting
date  in 2016 in2016  in 2017 in2017'"  in 2018 in 20187 Dec 2018 (EUR) date’
‘S't'éphé'riie“Mri'L'L'éf L T e e T LTI T T L e
1 Apr 1 Apr
LTIP shares’ 2018 - - - - 28534 - 28,534 14.86 2021
David de Bucs . e e e Lo LT s T T T
i Apr 1 Apr
LTIP shares 2017 - - 4,000 - - (4.000) - 16.03 2020
1 Apr 1 Apr
LTIP shares 2016 4,925 - - - - (1.925] - 1795 2018
ik Pletoran T e e FE e e e T L T T
Asselt
1 fpr 1 Apr
LT shares 2018 - - - - 10,000 - 10,000 14.86 2021
1 Apr 1 Apr
LTIP shares 2007 - - - A1.000 - - 4,000 1603 020
1 Apr 1 Apr
| TIP shares 2016 4925 - - - - - 4,925 1795 2019
Miirtan de Va7 e s T
1 Apr n.a
LTIP shares 2017 - - 14,352 (14,352) - - - 16.03
'E‘rne‘stuo Traﬁléeﬁ C ‘ ‘ ' ST ’ o . o ' o
1 Apr
LTIP shares- 2016 4,925 - - {4.925) - - - 17.95

! Movoments are caused as fallows Ernesto [raulser rosigned per 16 'anuary 2017, Maarten de Vries resigned per 31 Dece Ther 2071 7, Henk Picter van Asselt jo ned
effective 9 Noverber 2017 the Management Baard.

© Mavermnents are caused Dy the resignation of David ce Buck as per 16 May 2018,
Follawing the vesting date the LTIP shares granted to members af the Management Board ar¢ subject ta an additisral twa-year lock up penad, except for the LTI shares
that can ac sald to cover ncome taxes due.

* Sares grame ta Stephanie Miller da not need to meet performance condizions,
Westing of LTIP shiares for Dawd de Buck wll rerman g per the onginal vesting dates of the respective grants,

* Westing of LTIP shares for brnesto Traulsen gained agair thel vest ng rohts as per onginel vesting dere 1 Apnl 2019,

As of 31 Decernber 2019, the members of the Management
Board have no loans autstanding with the Group and no
guarantees or advance payments are granted to members of
the Management Board.
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Supetrvisory Board
The individual members af the Supervisory Board received the
following remuneration:

{EUR 000) Member since / {until) 2018 2017 2016 2015
Heiéne Vietter—van Dot 21 Aogust 2005 B R ga T o 80
Toine van Laack 16 May 2017 65 40 - -
Anthony Ruys 21 August 2015 &3 60 60 60 46
Charlolte Lampkin 17 Octaber 2017 18] 60 12 - -
Paui Willing 17 October 2017 58 50 10 - -
Stewart Bennetlt 16 May 2019 39 - ~ - -
Bart Groenewegen 21 August 2075 /(16 May 2077 - - 24 65 25
Sotgt R T B T AT T

* In addit'on, EUR 35 thousand remuneration fiom afillated entities as the Chdir of the Superasory Buard,
< naddinon, EUR 25 thousand rermuneraticn from affibated entives as rnember of the Supenisony Beard,

The Company does not grant variable rermuneration, shares or
oplions to the member of Lthe Supervisory Board, They had no
toans outstandings any of the year ends for the above
respective years. No guarantees or advance payments are
granted Lo members af the Supenvisory Board.
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DCoiperai Sowverance

The corporate governance framework of the Company is based on our slrategy and
in line with the requirements of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code (the Code]. Intertrust attaches great value to the principles
embedded in the Code and its vital role in safeguarding the interests of its
stakeholders. Intertrust has a two-tier board structure with o Managernent Board

and o Supervisary Board,

General

Intertrust NV, (Intertrust) is a public company with limited
liability (naomioze vennootschap) incarporated on 8 September
2014 under the laws of the Netherlands. On 15 Octaher 2015,
part of the share capital of Intertrust was offered to the public
and its shares were listed on Euronext Amsterdam in an Initial
Public Offering (IPO). Since 18 March 2016 Intertrust's shares
have been included in the AMX index.

Intertrust’s management and supervision are embedded in two
corporate bodies by maintaining a two-tier board structure thus
cnhancing effective corporate governance and independent
supervision. During 2019, the Management Board was reduced
to two members angd the compaosition of the Supernvisary Board
remained at six members, In addition, Intertrust has an
Executive Commitlee which has day-to-day management
respansibility for Intertrust comprising the members of the
Management Board and leaders with functional or regional
responsibility.

Each member of the Management Board, Supenvisory Board
and Executive Committee has a duty to Intertrust to properly
perform the duties assigned to them and to act in the interest
of Intertrust, extending to the interests of all its stakeholders.
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Management Board

Duties

The Management Board is entrusted with the managernent.
the strategy, policies, abjectives and results of Imtertrust, under
the supervision of the Supervisory Beard. The Management
Board focuses on long~term value creation for Intertrust and its
affiliated enterprises, and takes into account the interests of all
stakeholders (please refer to the Strategy chapter on page 17 of
this Annual Report). The Rules for the Management Board
{Management Board Rules) deseribe the duties, tasks.
composition, procedures and decision-making of the
Management Board, its relationship with the Supervisory Board
and with the Executive Commitlee as well as the individual
tasks and responsibilities of each mernber of the Management
Board.

Certain resolutions of the Management Board require Lhe
approval of the Supervisory Board. These resolutions are
outlined in the Articles of Association and in the Management
Baoard Rules, bath of which are available on Intertrust's website:
https:/Awwaw.intertrustgroup.com/investars.



Stephanie Miller

Chief Fxaculive Officer

Sreptenie starled a5 Chiel Dueontive OfMee (TG on 22 L3 ary 2018 and
becarne mentier of the Management Board on 7 February 20718, She has
aver 3 years intermational leadership cxponence 0 the firanoiel senrvices
sertan, ACludineg eecutive 1oics in Tund arg corporate seracos busingssos at

Lsted companizs, Mostrecently she was somar v

it anc s agng

drectar slternative assets, at S5&C Techrologis, s global provider of

smvastrent ard fianoal sofiware-canled servces, Stephanis Pas srovio

stratesh

neld managing direclos pasidons &L LR Margan's fora adr
husingss and Crrea Fard Seraces,
wAar

hanie holas 4 BA In Accountirg 2nd
111 Queers Calage, Cry Unive<ity of

nent Infarmatisr S
Yok LISA.
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Ragier ven Wijk
Chief Financial Officer

Roger s e en Chiel Tinandial Ofhcer (CTOY since: 12 Sesterhes 2009 a3

wor 1o Hang Turksstesn and was appointed tothe Management Board

GLICCEEY

00 28 Novarnbaor 2003, Rogier juined Iatertinst in 2017 as Group Controlier

has ovee 20 yoars of iIngerrat onal aaueienc e i ha ce inclading soveral

cxecutive 1oles at Pl ps i TPY Techoology, Rog er halds o degresin
Interatisnal Busines from Maasiricht Univarsity, the Netharlands vah o

<pocialisar ar i Fimanes aed Aceounling ard a0 brocatiao Masier Finance

a

P Contnd from RMaastrz bt Uiversity and University of Amsterdam jont

PEOgTAsTE,
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Appointment, removal and suspension

The General Meeting appaints a member of the Management
Board pursuant to and in accerdance with a proposal of the
Supervisory Board or upon a binding nomination drawn up by
the Supervisory Board. A resolution of the General Meeting teo
appoint a member of the Managerment Board pursuant te and
in accordance with a propasal of the Supervisory Board, can be
adopted by an absolute majority of the vates cast irespective of
the capital present or représented at the relevant shareholders'
mecting. The General Meeting can overrule a binding
nomination of the Supervisory Board by a majority vote of at
least two-thirds of the votes cast, provided such a majority
represents at least one-third of the issued share capital.

If the General Meeting, with an absolute majority of the votes
cast, overrules the binding momination, but this majority does
not represent at least one-third of the issucd share capital, then
a new meeting may be convened in which the nornination can
be overruled by an absolute majority of the votes cast
imespective of Lhe capital present or represented at the
meeting.

The Arlicles of Association provide that the General Meeting has
the authority to suspend and disimiss a member of the
Management Board, A resolution of the General Meeting to
suspend or dismiss a member of the Management Board
requires an absolute majority of the vates cast if the suspension
ar dismissal 1s propesed by the Supervisory Board. However,
such resolution requires a majority of at least two-thirds of the
votes cast, which majority must represent, at least one-third of
the issued share capital if the suspension or dismissal has not
been proposed by the Supenvisory Board. If the shareholders
support the suspension or dismissal with an absolute majarity of
the votes cast, but such majority does not represent at least
one-third of the issued capital, a new meeting may be
convened at which the resclution may be passed with an
absolute majerity of the vales cast, irrespective of the part of
the capital represented at the meeting.

Composition Management Board

Name Date of birth Gender Nationality
Stephanic Miller 28 May1968 CFernale  American
Ragier van Wijk 27 Decemnber1975 Male Dutch
Hans Turkesteen 3 Navember 1963 Male Dutch
Henk Pieter van Asselt 24 May 1970 Male Dutch
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Composition

Intertrust’s Articles of Association stipulate that the
Management Board must consist of two or more members, the
number af which is to be deterrmined by the Supervisory Board.
Intertrust aims to have a balanced and diverse composition of
its Management Board which is reviewed in more detail in this
chapter under ‘Diversity'. The Diversity Policy is available on
Intertrust's website: https://Awww.intertrustgroup. comyinvestars.

With the departure of the CCO, Henk Pieter van Asselt, the
Supervisory Board took the decision to reduce the number of
statutory Managerment Board members to twa, being the CEQ
and the CFO. The Executive Committee would then in addition
to the CEO and the CFO include all leaders with functional or
regional responsibility.

Remuneration

Infarmation on the remuneration of the members of the
Management Board can be found in the Remuneration chapter
on page 45 of this Annual Report.

Term until

4 years - 2022

4 yoars - 2024
Resigned per

12 September 2019
Resigned per

12 Aprit 2019

Member since

7 Febroary 2018
28 Novenber 2018
17 October 2018

Position

Chief Financial Officer
Chiefl Financial Officer

Chief Comrnerical Officer @ Novernber 2017



Supervisory Board

Duties

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the supervision of the
policy of the Management Board and the general course of
affairs of Intertrust and the business affiliated with it. In
performing its duties, the Supenvisory Board is quided by the
interests of Intertrust and the business affiliated with it, taking
into consideration the relevant interests of all Intertrust's
stakeholders. The Rules far the Supervisory Board (Supervisary
Board Rules) describe the duties, tasks, compasition,
procedures, and decision-making of the Supervisory Board as
well as its relations with the Management Board, the General
Meeting and the Executive Committee. The Supervisory Board
Rules are available on Interrust's website: htlps://
wwavintertrustgraup.comy/investors.

Appointment, removal and suspension

The General Meeting appoinls a mmember ol Lthe Supervisory
Board pursuant to and in accordance with a proposal of the
Supenvisory Board ar upon a binding nomination drawn up by
Lhe Supervisory Board.

A resolution of the General Meeting to appoint a member of
the Supenvisory Board. in accordance with a proposal of the
Supervisory Board, can be adopted by an absclute majority of
the votes cast, irrespective of the capital present or represented
at the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

The General Meeting can overrule a binding nomination by the
Supervisory Board by a majarity vote of at least two-thirds of
the votes cast, provided such majority represents at least one-
third of the issued share capital. If the General Meeting, with an
absolute majority of the votes cast overrules the binding
nomination, but this majority does not represent at least one-
third of the issued share capital, then a new meeting may be
canvened in which the namination can be overruled by an
absolute majority of the votes cast imespective of the capital
presenl or represented at the meeting.

Composition Supervisory Board

Name Date of birth Gender

Héléne Vietter—van Dort 15 October 1964 Fernele  Duich
Lionel Assant 22 May 1972 Male French
Toine van Laack 4 April 1963 Male Dutch
Anthany Ruys 20 July 1947 Mate Dutch
Charlotte | ambkin 1 February 1972 Female British
Faul Wiling 17 December 1965  Male British
Stewart Bennett 30 March 1971 Male British
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Each memnber of the Supervisory Board shall be appointed for a
maximum period of four years, A member's term of affice shall
lapse in accordance with the rotation schedule drawn up by the
Supervisory Board. The ratation schedule is available on
Intertrust's website: htps:/Awww intertrustgroup.com/investors.
A member of the Supervisary Board may be re-appointed once
for another four-year period and thereafter be re-appainted
again for a period of twao years, In the event of are-
appointment after an eight-year period. the report of the
Supervisory Board shall state the reasons for that.

The General Meeting has the aulhority Lo suspend and dismiss a
rmember of the Supervisory Board. A resolution of the General
Meeting Lo suspend or dismiss a member of the Suparvisary
Board requires an absclute majority of Lthe votes cast If the
suspensian ar dismissal is proposed by the Supervisory Board,
However, such resclution of the General Meeting requires a
majority of at least two-thirds of Lhe votes cast, which majority
must represent at least one-third of the issued share capital if
the suspension or dismnissal has not been propased by the
Supervisory Board.

Composition

The Supervisory Board must consist of a minimum of three
members and a maximum of seven members, the number of
which is to be determined by the Supervisory Board. The profile
of the Supervisory Board is available on Intertrust's website:
https:./Avww.intertrustgroup.com/investors, Intertrust aims to
have a balanced and diverse composition of its Supervisory
Board, which is reviewed in more detail in this chapter under
‘Diversity'. The diversity policy is availabte on Intertrust's website:
wwaw.intertrustgroup.comy/investaors,

In 2019, the Supervisory Board consisted of six members, One
of its members, Lional Assant, was appointed upon nomination
of Blackslone in accordance with the Relationship Agreement.
This Supenvisory Board member was therefore deemed not to
be independent within the meaning of best practice pravision

Maximum term -

Nationality Position

Member since

rotation schedule

Chaiperson 2t August 2015 4years - 2023
Member 21 August 2015 Resigned per
16 May 2019
Member 16 May 2017 4 years - 2021
Member 21 August 2015 4 years - 2023
Member 17 October 2017 4 years ~ 2021
Member 17 QOctober 2017 4 years - 2021

Vice-Chairperson

16 May 2079

4 years - 2023
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2.1.8 sectian vii of the Code. Lionel Assant resigned from the
Supervisory Board on 16 May 2019 and was succeeded by
Stewart Bennett.

As the former CEO of Elian, the business Intertrust acquired in
2016, Paul Willing is not considered independent within the
rmeaning of best practice provisicn 2.1.8 section i of the Code.

To date, the tatal number of Supervisory Board members is six
of which one member is considered non-independent. Cne of
the independent members has been appointed as Chairpersen,

On 12 February 2019, Blackstene placed 6.1 million of its
Intertrust shares with institutional investors via an accelerated
book build, thereby increasing Intertrust's free float and
decreasing Blackstane's shareholding fromn 6.87% to almast.
zera; Blackstone maintained a number of shares faor distributian
Lo certain charities. Pursuant to the Relationship Agreement,
Blackstone's right to nominate and propose a replacement for
its Supervisory Board member would lapse if the percentage of
shares held by Blackstone falls below 10%. The reduction of
Blackstone's shareholding below the threshold percentage of
10% implied that Intertrust was entitled ta request the
Biackstone-nominated Supervisory Board mermber to resign
which resulted in Lionel Assant’s resignation on 16 May 2019,

Hs at 31 December 2U 1Y, the Superasory Board consisted ot
the following persons:

Héléne Vletter-van Dort is a professor of {Furopean) Financial
Law & Governance at the Erasmus School of Law of the
University of Rotterdam. She is the author of numeraus books
and artictes on Financial Law and Corparate Governance. Her
PhD research focused on the equal treatment of shareholders
of listed campanies when distributing price sensitive
information. Helene started her career in 1988 as an M&A
lawyer at Clifford Chance in Amsterdam. Between 2004 and
2008 she served as a judge at the Enterprise Chamber of the
Court of Appeal of Amsterdam. Héléne has held non-executive
board positions with a variety of financial institutions, including
Fortis Bank Netherlands and the Dutch Central Bank, From
2009 to 2018 she has been a member of the Dutch Monitaring
Committee on Corporate Gavernance, appointed by the Dutch
government. In October 2615, she was appointed to the
Supervisory Board of NN Group, where she alsa serves as chair
of the Remuneration Committee, and member of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and of the
Risk Committee. In 2018 she was appointed as Chair of the
protective foundation of Kaninklijke Brill. Until October 2019,
she was non-executive director in the Board of Barclays
International and chair of the Remuneration Committee.
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Toine van Laack is a Registered Accountant with extensive
international experience in the finance and accounting sectar.
He spent 25 years at EY where he held several senior positions,
including Senior Audit Partner, Managing Partner for Transaction
Advisory Services and Managing Partner Markets. Mare recently,
he was Managing Director of Janivo Holding B.V., an investment
campany and family office based in Zeist, the Netherlands, He
has also held supervisary pasitions on various boards including
TornTom N.V., LBi N.V. and Nidera Capital B.V. Earlier in his
career at EY, Toine spent several years working in Asia, including
Singapare and Indonesia. Toine also serves as non—-executive
director at Vroon Shipping B.V., an international shipping
company with headquarters in the Netherlands, as non-
executive chairman of Favorita Holdings Ltd, an investment
holding company in Malta, as non-executive director at EMS, a
payrment solutions company and as non-executive directar at;
Big Dutchman AG since December 2019. He holds a Registered
Accaunting degree from NBA and also campleted the Harvard
Advanced Managemenl Programmme.

Anthany Ruys is the former Chairman of the Executive Board of
Heineken NV, He holds a degree in cornmercial law from the
University of Utrecht and a Masler's degree from Harvard
Business School. He was appointed an Officer of the Order of
Orange-Nassau by the Dutch government in 2005, Thany
commenced his career at Unilever in 1974, During his tenure at
Unilever, he served N vanous senior positions, INCluding that of
Marketing Director and Chairman of various subsidiary
companies in the Netherlands, Colombia and ltaly. In 1993, he
joined Heineken as a member of its Executive Board, became
Vice Chairman in 1996 and Chairman in 2002 -remaining in that
position untit 2005, Thory served as a Non-Executive Chairman
of the Board of the Schiphol Group until April 2015, and he also
served as a8 non-executive board member of ABN AMRO NV,
BAT ple (UK), ITC plc {India), Lottomatica Spa (Italy) and Janiva
Holding B.V. Thony is currently Chairrman at the museurn
Beelden aan Zee foundation. In January 2017, Thony was
appainted as member of the Board of Directors of
HunterDoualas Group.

Charlotte Lambkin is an experienced member of FTSE 100
executive committees and a seasoned corporate affairs and
comrnunications professional. She is a member of Edelman’s UK
Advisory Board and a consultant to their corporate affairs
practice and she is a Trustee to the UK's largest volunteering
charity, Royal Voluntary Services, Mast recently, she served as
Executive Committee member and Corporate Relations Director
at Diageo. the UK headquartered FTSE-10 listed global
alcoholic beverages company. Prior to that, she spent 10 years
at BAE Systerns, a UK-headquartered FTSE-30 listed defence,
aerospace and security solutions company, as Executive
Committee member and Group Communications Director.




Charlotte started her career in a communications consultancy,
advising boards of large multi-nationals. She is a graduate in
Histery fram Bristol University.

Paul Willing is the former CEQ of Elian, having held that
position from 2009 until the acquisition of Elian by [ntertrust in
2016, After joining Intertrust as a result of that acquisition, he
became Managing Director Atlantic Region for the combined
organisation, until he stepped down fram his executive
respansibilitics in July 2017, He has aver 25 years of financial
services experience, with an extensive career at PwC in both
lersey and Geneva. He is a graduate of the University of London
and qualified as a chartered accountantin 1991. Paul is resident
in Jersey and holds several non-executive Director pasitions,

Stewart Bennett is Global Head of Alternatives at BMO Globat
Asset Management, Before that he was a partner and Head of
the Financial Institutions Greup at Ondra Partners, an
independent corporate finance advisory firm, authorised and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. He gained broad
experience in advising executive tearms and boards of leading
UK and international inancial institutions in respect of, amongst
others, financial strategy, M&A and debt and equity capital
raising. Prior to joining Ondra Partners, Stewart was Managing
Director and Head of Financial Institutions Group, Strategic
Advisary at Dresdner Kleinwort and an Investment Directar at
Botts & Company. Since 2013, Stewart has been a Trustee of
the Willow Foundation, a charity focused on seriously ill young
adults, where he serves on the main Board and on the Finance
and Audit Cammittee. Stewart holds a degree in German and
Managerment Studies fram the University of Leeds.

Remuneration

Information on the remuneration of the members of the
Supervisary Board can be faund in the Remuneration chapter
on page 45 af this Annual Report,

Committees of the Supervisory Board

General

The Supervisory Board has established two committees from
among its members: the Audit and Risk Cormmittee and the
Remuneration, Selection and Appointment Committee, The
function of these committees is to prepare the discussion and
decision-making undertaken by the Supervisory Board. The
organisation, duties and working methods of the committees of
the Supervisory Board are detailed in a separate charter for each
comimittee, which are available on Intertrust's website: https://
www intertrustgroup.com/investors
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Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Commitlee assists the Supervisory Board in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with regard to, amongst
others, the integrity and quality of Intertrust’'s inancial
staternents, the financial reporting process, the effectiveness of
Intertrust's internal risk management and control systems, the
internal and external audit process, as well as Intertrust's process
for monitoring campliance with applicable laws and regulations,
the Carporate Governance Code and Intertrust's Code of
Conduct.

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of three members. As at
31 December 2019, these were: Toine van Laack {Chairperson),
Stewart Bennett and Paul Willing.

Further details on the Audit and Risk Committee are given in the
Report from the Supenvisory Board an page 40 of this Annual
Report.

Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Cammittee

The Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment Committee
advises the Supervisory Board on the remuneration of the
individual members of the Managerment Board and monitors
the Remuneration Policy. Its responsibilities include, amongst
athers, setting Remuneration Policy and compensation
standards, preparing proposals concerning the individual
remuneration of the members of the Management Board,
rmonitaring incentive and equity-bascd compensation plans.
Furthermore, the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Cormmmiittee is respansible for the selection and appaintment
procedure of mermbers of the Management Board and of the
Supervisory Board. It meets at least two times a year.

The Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment Comrnittec
cansists of three members, As at 31 December 2019, these
were: Charlotte Lamblkin (Chairperson), Anthany Ruys and
Hélene Vletter-van Dort. Charlotte Lambkin has succeeded
Anthony Ruys as Chairperson, effective 12 December 2019,
Further delails on the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee are given in the Report fraom the
Supervisory Board on page 40 of this Annual Report,

Diversity

Diversity Is taken seriously in connection with the appointrment,
or nomination for the appointment, of members of the
Management Board and drafting the criteria for the size and
composition of the Supervisory Board, as well as the
designation, appaintment, recornmendation and nomination for
appointment of members of the Supervisory Board. Intertrust
strives for a diverse and balanced compaosition of toth the
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Management Board and the Supervisory Board in terms of
gender, nationality, age. education, experience and expertise.

Pursuant to Article 2:166 of the Dutch Civil Code, large public
companies must strive for a balanced distribution of seats on
their boards between men and women. Such balanced
distribution entatls that at least 30% of the scats on the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board are held by
women and at least 30% by men. With the appointment of
Stephanie Miller as CEQ and member of the Managerment
Board in 2018, Intertrust has successfully established a
distribution of seats in accordance with the above. For the
Supenvisory Board the gender balance requirement was met as
well during 2019.

Executive Committee

Roles and duties

To create a well-balanced division of functional and regional
responsibilities, Intertrust has opted for the installation of an
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee is entrusted
with the day-to-day management of Intertrust in particular
wilh respect to setting, implementing and achieving Intertrust's
strategic, operational and financial objectives, The Executive
Committee is furthermare actively involved in all important
topics related to, amongst others, integration, innovation,
culture, leadership and ESG. In the performance of its
responsibilities, the Executive Committee must carefully
consider and act in accordance with the interests of Intertrust
and the business connected with it, taking into consideration
the interests of all Intertrust's stakeholders.

The Rules for the Executive Committee (Executive Cormnmittee
Rules) include, amongst others, the role, duty and cormnpasition
of the Executive Committee as well as how the contacts
belween the Supervisory Board and the Executive Committee
have been given shape. Members of the Executive Comimitiee
will attend meetings of the Supervisary Board if sa requasted by
the Supervisnry Board and shall provide the Supervisary Board
with such information to properly performi its duties, through
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the Management Board. The Executive Committee Rules are
available on Interlrust's website: htips://
www.intertrustgroup.com/investors.

Composition, appointment and removal
Memibers of the Executive Committee, not being members of
the Management Board, are appointed, suspended and
dismissed by the CEQ, after consultation with the Supervisary
Board. The Executive Committee consists of (i) the members of
the Management Board, (ii) the Chief Human Resaurce Officer
(CHRQ), (iii) the Chief Operating Officer (COQ), (iv} the Chief
Commercial Officer (CCO). () the Chief Risk Gfficer (CRO), (vi}
the Chief Solutions Officer, (vii} the Glabal Head of
Transfarmation and Operations, {viii) the Managing Directors of
Intertrust Americas, Intertrust Western Europe, and Intertrust
Rest of the Warld, and (ix) such other members as appointed
by the CEO from time Lo time,

A number of changes in the membership of the Executive
Committee tock place during the year:

Hans Turkesteen, Henk Pieter van Asselt, Sara Jonker-Douwes,
Simon Mackenzie, James Nolan and Frank Welman stepped
down from the Executive Committee,

lan Lynch jained the Executive Committee as CCO as a
sucCessut Lo Henk Pieler vain Assell, elleclive 1 July 2019
Shankar lyer and Chitra Baskar jained the Executive Committes
as respectively Chief Solutians Officer and Global Head of
Transformation and Qperations, effective 17 June 2019. Petra
van Hoeken joined the Executive Cornmittee as CRO, effective
15 August 2019, Rogier van Wijk joined the Executive
Cornmittee as the successar to Hans Turkesteen, effective

12 September 2019. Lee Godfrey joined the Executive
Committee as Managing Director Western Eurape as successor
to Frank Welman, effective 1 October 2019,

As at 31 December 2019, the Exceutive Committee consisted
of the following members:



Composition Executive Committee

Name

Stepﬁa'mé Miller

Rogier var Wijk
lan Lynch

Lee Godfrey
James Fergusan
DaniclJaffe
Roberto Canenti
Theo Splinter
Petra van Hoekean
Skankar lyer
Critra Baskar

Date of birth

- 28 May 1968

27 Decernber 1975
16 Aprit 1973

25 Qctober 1969
13 June 1966

19 August 1975

12 July 1971

1 June 1971

28 April 1961

26 Novernber 1964
20 April 1966

Gender

Fernale

Male

Nationality

Ariencan

Dutch
Irish
British
American
Brizish
British
Dutch
Dutch
Indian

Indian
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Pasition

Chiaf Executive Offcer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Commercial Officer
MD Western Europe

MD Americas

MD Rest of the World
Chief Hurman Resource Officer
Chief Operating Off cer
Chief Risk Officer

Chief Solutians Qfficer

Global Head of Transformation ard Operations
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General Meeting

Frequency, notice and agenda

The Annual General Meeting must be held within six months
after the end of each financial year, An Extraordinary General
Meeting may be convened by the Supervisory Board or the
Management Board, whenover Intertrust's interests sa require.
Shareholders individually or in aggregate representing at least
one-tenth of the issued and outstanding share capital may.
pursuant to the Duteh Civil Code, request that a General
Meeting be convened. If no General Meeting has been held
within eight weeks of the shareholders making such request,
they may be authorised upon request by a District Court in
summary proceedings to convene a General Meeling.

Notice of a General Mecting must be given at least 42 days
prior to the day of the rmeeting as required by Dutch law. The
natice convening any General Meeting must include, armong
other itemns, an agenda indicating the place and date of the
meeting, the items {or discussion and vating, the proceedings
for registration including the registration date, aswell as any
proposals for the agenda. Shareholders holding at least 3% of
the issued and outstanding share capital may request that an
itern be added to the agenda. Such requests must be made in
wirlting., must either be substantiated or include a proposal for a
resolution, and must be received by Intertrust at least 60 days
before the day of the General Meeting.

Admission to General Meetings

The General Meeting is chaired by the Chairperson of the
Supenvisary Board. Members of the Management Board and of
the Supervisary Board shall have the right to attend the General
Meeting in such capacity. In these General Meetings, they have
an advisory vate. The Chairperson of the General Meeting may
decide at his ar her discretion to admit olher persons to the
General Meeting.

Each shareholder, as well as other persons with voting rights or
meeting rights, may attend the General Meeting, address the
General Meeting and, in so far as they have such nght, to
exercise voting rights pro rata to is shareholding, either in
person or by praxy. Shareholders may exercise these rights, if
they are the halders of shares on the registration dale, which is
currently the 28 day before the day of the meeting, and they
or their proxy have notified Intertrust of their intention to attend
the meeting in writing at the address and by the date specified
in the notice of the meeting.

Voting and resolutions

Each shareholder may cast one vote for each share held.
Pursuant to Dutch law, na votes may be cast at a General
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Meeting in respect of shares which are held by Intertrust.
Resolutions of the General Meeting are taken by an absolute
rmajority, except where Dutch law or the Articles of Assaciation
provide for a qualified majority.

Powers of the General Meeting
The rost important powers of the General Meeting are to:

s Authorise the Management Board to issue shares, to restrict
or exclude the pre-emptive rights of shareholders and to
repurchase shares

+ Appoint members of the Managernent Board upon a
proposal of the Supervisory Board or upon a nomination of
the Supervisory Board

= Suspend or dismiss members of the Managerment Board

» Appoint members of the Supervisory Board upon a proposal
of the Supenvisory Beard or upon a nomination of the
Supervisory Board

» Suspend or dismiss members of the Supervisory Board

« Adecpt the annual accounts of Intertrust

¢ Adopt the rermuneration policy for the members of the
Management Board

« Resolve an the reservation or distribution of the profits upon
a proposal of the Management Board that has been
approved by the Supervisory Board

+* Amend the Articles of Association of Intertrust upon a
proposal of the Managemeant Board that has been approved
oy the Supervisory Board

General Meetings held in 2019

In 2019, & total of two General Meetings were held as follows:

1. 0n 16 May 2019, Intertrust held its Annual General Meeting
at which the following resolutions, among others, were
adapted:

+ Amendment of the compensation of the members of
the Supervisory Board

» Adaption of Intertrust's Annual Accounts 2018

« Discharge of the members of the Management Board for
their functioning throughout financial year 2018

» Discharge of the members of the Supenvisory Board for their
functioning throughout financial year 2018

» Appoeintment of KPMG as the External Auditor far the
financial statements for 2013

+ Re-appointment of Héléne Vletter-van Dort and Anthony
Ruys as members of the Supervisory Board of Intertrust

* Appointment of Stewart Bennett as member of the
Supenvisary Board of Intertrust




2. On 28 November 2019, InLertrust held an Extraordinary
General Meeting at which meeting the following resolutions
were adapted:

¢ Amendment of the Remuneration Policy

» Approval of a new Performance Share Plan for members of
the Management Board

« Appointment of Rogier van Wijk as member of the
Management Board

Share Capital

Issuance of shares

The authorised share capital of Intertrust consists of ordinary
shares only. The General Meeting may resolve Lo issue shares in
the share capital of Intertrust, or grant rights ta subscribe far
shares, upon a proposal by Lhe Management Board that has
been approved by the Supervisory Board.

The Articles of Association provide that the General Meeting
may delegate the authority to issue shares, or grant rights 1o
subscribe for such shares, to the Management Board, pursuant
Lo and in accordance with a proposal thereto of the
Management Board, which has been approved by the
Supervisory Board. At the designation, the number of shares
which may be issued by the Managerment Board must be
determined. No resalution of the General Meeting or the
Management Board is required for an issue of shares pursuant
to the exercise of a previously granted right to subscribe for
shares.

On 16 May 2019, the Annual General Meeting extended the
autharity of the Management Board to resolve ta issue shares
and grant rights to subscribe for shares, subject to the approval
of the Supenvisory Board and for a period of 18 months, until
16 Navernber 2020. The autharity of the Management Board is
limited ta a maximum of 10% of the issued share capital, at
the tme of issue, or at Lhe time of granting of the right to
subiscribe for shares.

As per 31 December 2019, the issued share capital armounted
to EUR 54,189 811.2, divided into 80,316,352 shares with a
nominal value of EUR 0.60 each of which 260,846 shares were
held by Intertrust on its custody account.

Pre-emptive rights

Each shareholder has a pre-~emptive right to subscribe an a pro
rata basis for any issue of new shares or upon a grant of rights
to subscribe for shares. Exceptions to these pre-emptive rights
include the issue of shares and the grant of rights to subscribe
for shares (i) to Intertrust's emplayees; (i) in return for non-
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cash consideration; or (i) to persons exercising a3 previously
granted right ta subscribe for shares,

On 16 May 2019, the Annual General Meeting extended the
authority of the Management Board as the competent
corporate body to limit or exclude the pre-emptive rights in
respect of the issue of shares or the granting of rights to
subscribe for shares pursuant to the autharisation given above.

Acquisition of own shares

Intertrust may acquire fully paid-up shares in its own capital for
consideration, subject te the authorisation by the General
Meeting and subject to Dutch law, and after prior approval of
Lhe Supervisory Board. The authonsation is nat required far
shares queted in the listing of any stock exchange in order to
transfer them to emplayees of Intertrust or of a Group company
pursuant to a scheme applicable to such emiployees, Inrertrust
is nat entitled to any distributions from shares in its own capital.
Na vote may be cast at the General Meeting for shares held by
interLrust ar by a subsidiary.

At the Annual General Meeting of Interlrust on 16 May 2019,
the authority granted to the Management Board to repurchase
shares in the share capital of Intertrust up to a rmaximum of
109% af the issued share capital was extended for a period of 18
months. until 16 November 2020,

Transfer of shares and transfer restrictions
The transfer of shares in the share capital of Intertrust included
in the Statutory Giro Systemn must take place in accordance
with the provisions of the Dutch Securities Giro Act (Wet giraal
effectenverkeer). The Articles of Association of Intertrust do not
restrict the transfer of shares in the share capital of Intertrust,

Intertrust is not aware of the existence of any agreement
pursuant Lo which the transfer of shares in the share capital of
Intertrust is restricted. The shares awarded to the members of
the Management Board under Intertrust's Long-Term Incentive
Ptan (LTIP) and Performance Share Plan (PSP) shall be held for
at least five years after they are awarded as prescribed by the
Carporate Governance Code.

Articles of Association

The General Meeting can only resclve to amend the Articles of
Association on proposal of the Management Board, which
proposal has been approved by the Supenvisary Board.

Externat auditor

The External Auditor is appointed by the General Meeting. At
the Annual General Meeting held on 16 May 2079, the General
Meeting appointed KPMG Accountants N.V. as the external
auditor for the financial year 2019. The External Auditor may be
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questioned at the Annual General Meeting in relation to its
audit opinion an the inancial statements. The External Auditor
will therefore attend and be entitled to address this meeting.

Financial reporting

A description of the most impartant characteristics of the
rnanagement- and control systems of Intertrust with respect to
the financial reporting process of Intertrust and its Group
cormpanies of which the financials are consclidated can be
found in the Compliance and Risk Management chapter.

Dutch Corporate Governance Code

Intertrust is subject to the Corporate Governance Code. The
Corporate Governance Code is based on a 'comply or explain’
principle. Accordingly, companies are required to disclose in
their Annual Report whether or not they comply with the
various principles and best practice provisicns that are addressead
to the Management Board and the Supervisory Board and
provide a substantive and transparent explanation for any
departures from the principles and best practice provisions.

Considering Intertrust's interests and the interest of its
stakeholders, intertrust. deviates from a imited number of
principles and best practice provisions, which are described as
follows:

Best practice provision 2.3.2 (establishment of committees)
Intertrust does not comply with best practice provision 2.3.2,
which provides that if the supervisory board consists of more
than four members. it shall appoint an audit committee, a
remuneration committee and a selection and appointment
cornmittee. For efficicncy purposes. the Supervisory Board has
combined the functions and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee and the selection and appointrment committee in
one committee, the Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment
Committee.

Best practice provision 4.3.3 {cancelling the binding nature
of a nomination or dismissal)

Intertrust does not camply with best practice provision 4.3.3,
which provides that the general meeting of shareholders of a
company may pass a resolution to cancel the binding nature of
a nomination for the appointment of @ member of the
management board or of the supenvisory board and/or a
resolution ta dismiss a mernber of the management board or of
the supervisory board by an absolute majerity of the votes cast.
It may be provided that this majority should represent a given
proportion of the issued capital, which proportion may not
exceed one-third. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the
General Meeting may only overrule the binding nature of such
nominations by resolution of the General Meeting adopted with
a two-thirds majority of the votes cast, representing at least
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one-third of the issued share capital, If the shareholders support
overruling the binding nature of the nomination wilh an
absolute majority of the votes cast, but such rajority does not
represent at least one-third of the issued capital, a new
meeting may be convened at which the resolution may be
passed with an absolute majority of the votes cast, irespective
of the part of the capital represented at such meeting. A sinilar
provision is included in the Articles of Association regarding the
removal of members of the management board and supervisory
beard. These provisions are stricter than best practice provision
4.3.3, Intertrust belicves this te be justified in the interest of the
continuity of Intertrust and its group campanies.

Corporate governance statement

This chapter, including parts of this Annual Report incorporated
by reference. also serves as the corporate governance
staterment referred to in section 2a of the Management Report
Dacree (Vaststellingshesiuit nadere vaorschriften
bestuursversiag).

Legal transparency obligations

This section includes an overview which sets out where the
infermation that is required to be disclosed under Article 1 of
the Decree on Article 10 of the Takeover Directive can be
found.

Capital Structure

Information on the capital structure of Intertrust, the shares and
the rights attached thereto is provided in the Shares chapter of
this Annual Repart and in this Corporate Governance chapter.

Limitations on transferability of shares
There are no limitations on the transferability of Intertrust's
shares. See also the paragraph Transfer of shares and transfer
reskrictions' in this chapter.

Major shareholders

Shareholders are obliged ta give notice of interests exceeding
certain thresholds ta the Netherlands Authority for the Financial
Markets (AFM),

As per 31 December 2019, the following parties had made a
nolification ta the AFM with respect to their shareholding in
Intertrust. Actual percentage may differ slightly.



Shareholder %! Date of Notification
FraR LLC 9.82% 12 Decemnber 2015
Lucerne Capital Management LLC 5.08% 4 Decemnber 2019
Habar Spring 497% 20June 2019

JP Morgan Asset Management 4.82% 1 Novemoer 2019
Holdings Inc.

Narges Bank 3.84% 7 March 2019

T Saurce. www.a'm.nl AFM ragster.

Maore information can be found in the Shares ang sharcholders
chapter {see page 30] of this Annual Report.

Special rights of control
fntertrust has not issued shares to which special rights of control
are attached.

Control mechanisms relating to employee
participation plans

Under none of the Intertrust share plans can Lthe voling righls
an the shares be exercised before the shares awarded have
vested,

Voting limitations
There are no limitations on the voting rights attached to the
shares in Intertrust.

Lock-up agreements
This informaticn is included in the paragraph Transfer of shares
and transfer restrictions’ in this chapter,

Diversity

In 2017, the Supervisory Board adopted a Diversity Policy which
is available on Intertrust's website: https.//

wannw intertrustgroup.com/investors.

For Intertrust, diversity means a wark{orce reflective of different
genders, nationalities, cultures, generations, cthnic groups,
abilities, education and sacial backgrounds. Intertrust does nat
discriminate on the basis of age, skin colour, disability, gender,
marital status. nationality, race. religion, sexual orientation or
other ethnic or cultural aspects.

Intertrust attaches great value to diversity within its main
coiporate bodies and senior leadership. Intertrust believes that
diversity in its broadest meaning makes the organisation
stronger and more sustainabte. Diversity is critical to the ability
to be open to different ways of thinking and acting enhancing
long-term sustainability. Intertrust will cantinue to strive for an
adequate and balanced compaosition of the Management
Beard, the Supervisory Board and the Executive Committee (the
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Baoards) in future appointrments, by taking into account all
relevant selection criteria.

Intertrust applies the following principles to the composttion of
its Boards:

1. Tomaintain the number of women on the Boards,
whereby the preferred composition includes at least 30%
female members and at least 30% male members and to
maintain these percentages.

2. Tocreate a diverse mix of knowledge. skills and expertise,
in line with the required profiles.

3. To strive for sufficient complementarity. pluralism and
diversity with regard to age, gender and background,

4, To ensure relevant professional and educational
backgrounds within the Boards, including amaong other
things:

» financial expertise

* Relevant industry knawledge

* Knowledge of IT

¢ International experience

¢ Risk management experience

e Experience in the planning and implementation of
campany strategies

» Governance and leadership experience

In 2019, the gender balance for both the Management Board
and the Supervisary Board referred to under (1) above was maet,
With a total of three female members, the Executive
Committee has not reached a balanced distribution of seats in
2019, Intertrust will strive to add an additional fernale member
to the Executive Committee should a vacancy arise. Intertrust
wishes to recruit the best candidate for the job with a
preference for a female candidate in case of equal capabilities.

Intertrust believes that the diversity pillars as referred to under
(2)-(4) are sufficiently represented in its Boards as further
described in the Managerment Board, Supenvisory Board and
Executive Committee paragraph of Lhis Corporate
Governance chapter.

Provisions regarding the appointment and
dismissal of members of the Management
Board and Supervisory Board

This information is included in the subparagraphs "Appointment,
removal and suspension” of the Managerment Board (see page
56} and Supervisory Board (see page 59) sections respectively
of this Corporate Governance chapter.
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Authority of the Management Board to
issue and repurchase shares

Information on the authority of the Managernent Board te issue
and repurchase shares is included in the subparagraphs
“Issuance of shares" and "Acquisition of own shares” in the Share
Canital section (see page 67) of this Camorate

Governance chapter.

Change of control

A change of control provision is included in the senior facilitics
agreemcent of Intertrust and in the Management Agreement of
Rogier van Wik,

Severance payments

The agreements of the members of Lthe Management Board
provide for severance payments in the event of a termination
other than for urgent cause.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss

(EUR 000} Note
Revenue T i s i
Staff expenses 6
Rental expenses 15
Other operating expenses 8
Other operating income

Depreciation and amorlisation of ather irtangible assets 17
Amortnsatlon of acquwsmon related mtangnblc asscts 17

Profit/(loss) from operatlng activities
Finance incoma

Finance expense.

F|nanC|al result .

Share of profit and result of Lransactions with equity-accounted

investees wnd subswdlanes (net of tax) 18

Profit befare income tax

income tax 26

Profit far the year after tax

Frofit for the yeor after tax attributable to

Owners of the Company

Non~caontrall mg mr@rests

Prafit for the year ‘

Basic earnings per share (ELIR}) 9
Diluted earnings per share {(EUR) a

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(EUR 000)
Proﬁt for the year af'ter t

Actuarial gains and lasses on defined benefit plars 28
Incorme tax on actuanaL gdms and losses on doﬁnpd bmoﬁr p ans

Items that will never be reclassified to proﬁt or loss

Foreign currency Lranslation differences - foreign aperations

Net movemnent on cash fiow hedges in other comprehensive ingome 21

Income tax on mm‘ movpmenk on Cash ﬂow hedges in Olher comprehw sive incorme 26

Other comprehens mcome/(los;) far the year net of tax

Total comprehenswe income for the year

Toral comprehensive incorme/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Mon-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

The Notes an pages 78 to 137 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.
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543340

(250.732)
(8,563)
177,015)
135
(28591}

44
114789

(24.447)

90342

20375
17
90.342
1.01
1.00

Az

15.854
(3729}

101,033

101,073
10
101,033

(46,075}
13’2 469

312]

2018
496,056

{223,559)
(24,309)
(65.179)

51
(11,096]
(41.309]

130,655

387

H 321)

78

' '97.799
(8.408)

89,391

89,362
29
89,391
1.00
0.99

997
11,595
(525)
132
11,202

IRERLLY

101,590

101,558
32
101.590
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Consolidated statement of financial position

(EUR 000) Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Rssets o
Property. plant and cquipment 15 107713 14,580
Qther intangible sssets 16 17,554 15,289
Acquisition-related intangible assets 16 172901 1.451.836
Investments in eguity-accounted investees 18 156 149
Other non-current inancial 2ssets 21 42 388 2.404
Deferred tax assets 27 6 E29 2.158
Non-current assets T T mmmT o om o T 1904151 1486417
Trade receivables I 100,794 90,478
(Jther receivables 13 31,19/ 18422
Work in pragress 10 13,801 34,228
Current tax assets B2 4,836
Ozher clrrent financal assets 21 2455 521
Prepayments 11.547 8,244
Cash and cash equivalents 19 121,044 127.803

301,528 284,521
2205679 1,770,938

Current assets

Totalassets

Equity

Share capita. 34,190 53,853
Share premium 630,441 630,441

Raserves (23.276} (39.294)
Retained earnings 13017 73.546
Equity attributable to owners of the Compary 7 C 774472 718546
Nan-controlling interests 25 267 257
Totalequity 0 T T n T 4738 718803

Liabilites

Loans and borrowings 20 918,346 774,927
Other non-current financial labilities 21 91,309 3.664
Employee benelis liabilitics 28 2,570 929
Deferred income 12 5100 5,562
Provisions 29 960 6949
Deferred tax liabilities 27 31,550 69,330
Non-curent Gabilties 7T T T e T T 112,840 854911
{0ans and borrowings 20 93,691 2.433
Other current financial liabilities 21 15,795 1.555
Deferred income 12 78,085 68.251
Provisions 29 1,101 4,125
Current tax liabilities 32,699 31.478
Trade nayables 11,814 8375
Other payables 13 70,415 21,007
Current Uabilties T T o o .0 e7oea
Jotalliabifties T U ommmmmmm o e 1430940 1,052,135

Total equity and liabilities 2205679 1770938

The Notes on pages 78 to 137 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

(EUR 000)

Balance at O1january 2019

Profit/(loss) far the year
Other camprehensive income/(lass) “or

the year, net of tax

Total camprehensive income/{ioss) for

the year

Contributions and distiibutions
Equity-settled share-based payment
Treasury shares delivered

Dividends paid

Total contributions ang distributions

Changes in ownarship interests
Business combination

Tatal changes in ownership interest
Total transactions mthownersof the

Company

IFRS16 opening nalance adjusiment

fbrt'a('op'eri‘n'ng béléhcé 'sh-eé't )
adjustments
Balance at 31 December 2019

Nate

24

14

Share Share

capital premium

53853 630,441

337 -
337 -
337 -

| 54190 630,441

For the period ended 31 December 2019

89,203

6,130
(4.10]
(44.654)

(s3722) T

(337)

RECER

{54.059)
4,427

4,427
133117

15,861

' (13984)

T Atmibutable 1o awners of the Comyp y

S 7 Treassy Nen-
Retained Transiation Hedging share controlling
earnings reserve  faserve  reserve Tatal  interests
73546 (29.845)  (938) (8511) 718546 257
90,325 - - 90325 17

(4,041) - 101,023 10

- - 6,130 -
- 4108 _ -
- {BhERA) -

- 4098 (495200 -

- 4,198 (49,524) -

- . 4,427 -

- - 4427 -

(4979) (4313) 774472 267

The Notes on pages 78 to 137 are an integrat part of these consolidated fnancial staternents.

74 Annual Repoart 2019

Total
equity
718.803
090,342

11.122) 15,861 14,047} - 10648 (7] 10.469%

101,033

6,130

(hh654)
(49,524)

{49,524)
4477

4,427
774,739
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

(EUR 000)

Balance at 01 January 2018
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprebensive income/{lass) for

the year, net of tax

Tolal comprehensive incomey/(lass) for

the year

Contnbutions and distributions
Equity-scttled share-based payment
Purchase of treasury shares

Treasury shares delivered

Dividends paid

Total contributions and distributions
Changes i ownership interests

Share cancellation

Téfal';:hanées ih”ownérship' interest

Total transactions with cwners of the
Company

IFRSY opening balance adjustment
Total opening balance sheet

adjustments

Balance at 31 Decernber 2018

MNote

" Attributable to owners of"t'H-e-dﬂrﬁ;ﬁany

Share Share

capital premium

155,200 630,441

11,347} -
(1.347) -

(1,347} -

53,853 630,441

earnings
75585 (41,437)

(34,542) -
| (34,542) -

(91,196) - -
(1.202) - - -

For the period ended 31 December 2018

Treasury
Retained Translation Hedging share
reserve  reserve  reserve

89,362 - - -
997 11,592

90,359 11,592 (393) -

5,454 - - -

(5,937) - - 5937

(56,171) - - -
(56,654) - -

35,889

t

5815

(1,202) - - -
73546 (29,845}

The Notes an pages 78 to 137 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(393) -

"35,889

Total

| (545) (14,326) 704918

89,362
12,186
101,558

5454

{36.011) (36011

(56.171)

(30,074) (86,728)

(86,728)

{1,702}

(1,202)

(938) (8.511) 718,546

Non-
controlling Total
interests  equity
225 705,143
29 39391
312198
32 101,590
- 5454
(36.011)
- (56171)
T2 (86.728)
- (86,728)
- (1,202
- (1,202)
257 718803
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

(EUR 000) Note 2019

Cash flaws from operating activities o
Profit/(loss) for the year T S 90342
Adjustments for:

Incorme tax expense 26 24447 8,408
Share of profit and result of transactions with equity-accounted mvestees and subsidiaries (nel of Lax) 18 (44 (78)
Financial result 22 17.724 32,934
Depreciation and amaortisation of other intangible assets 17 23,591 11.096
Armortisation of acquisition-related ‘ntangible assets 17 45,0/ 41,309
{Gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets 18 33
Other non cash iterms 5942 5,435
Changes in:

(Increasel/decrease in trade working capital’ TET3 19,041
{Increase)/decrease in other warking capital’ {4.515) 3271
Increase/{decrease) in provisians {2.798) 3,743
Changes in foreign currency 333} (967)
ncame tax paid (P4 435) (28.698)
Net cash from/(used in) aperating activities R S 186,657 184978
Cash flows from investing activities

Praceeds fram sale of property. plant and equipment 3 1
Furchase of oroperty, plant and equipment (=3 l4.575) (3.297)
Purchase of intangible assets 16 [7,406) (6,275)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 14 (254.777) (6611}
{Increase)/decrease in other financial assets {1.327) 1.670
Dividends received 150 75
Interest received 22 803 322
Net cash from/A{used in} investing activities o S T 7147y (14.099)

" (Increasc)/decrease in trade Working capital ‘s defined by the net (increase)/decrease in Trade recenvables, Work in progress, Trade payatles and Deferred income,

+ (Increase)/decrease in other Warking capital is defined by the net (increasel/decrease in Other recewvables, epayments and Other payabiles (excl. labilties for cash held
an behalf of clents).

The Noles on pages 78 1o 137 are an integral parl of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

{ELIR 000} Note 2019 2018
Cash flows from financing activitles ST T e e
Proceeds fram bank borrowings 20 250556 789,802
Repayment of toans and borrowings banks 20 [67.622} (782.906)
Interest and other finance expenses paid (34 429} (23.347)
Payment of financing costs (1.913] (13.216)
Change i1 financial lease lability/asset due to IFRS16 15 (1/7.810] -
Dividencs paid 24 (55.654) (56.171)
Acquisition of treasury shares 24 - (37.040)
Inzerest rate hedge settiement : [330)
Net cash from/lused in) financing activites 77 82328 (123.208)
Netincrease/(decrease) incash T o e3s Ta7er
Cash attributable to the Cormpany at the beginning of the period 19 105,505 56,157
Fffect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash attributable to the Company 3075 1677
Cash attributable to the Company at the end of the peried ST T T T 218 105,505
Cash held on behalf of clients at the end of the period 19 10,826 22298
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 7T g T 21044 127,803

The Notes on pages 78 to 137 are an integral part of these consolidated inancial staterments,
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Notes to the consolidated financial

statements

Section 1
General information and basis for reporting
1. Reporting entity
2 Basis of preparation
3. Significant accounting policies and standards
4 Non IFRS financial measures

Section 2
Result of the year
5 Operaling segments

6. Staff expenses
7. Share-based payment arrangements
8. Other operating expenses
9. Earnings per share
Section 3
Working capital

10, Wark in progress
11, Trade receivables
12.  Deferred income
13, Otherreceivables and other payables

Section 4

Investments

14.  Acquisition of subsidiaries

15.  Property, plant and equipment

16.  Intangible asscls and goadwill

17, Depreciation and amortisation

18.  Investment in equity-accounted investees
Section 5

Financing, financial risk management and financial
instruments

19, Cash and cash equivalents

20. Loans and barrowings

21, Other financial assets and cther financial liabilities

22, Fimancial results

23 Financial instruments

24, Capital and reserves

25. Non-controtling interests
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General information and basis for
reporting




. Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Reporting entity

Intertrust N.V. (the "Campany") is a company domiciled in the
Netherlands and was incorporated on 8 September 2014, The
address of the Cormpany's registered office is Pring Bernhardplein
200, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

The financial statements of the Company for the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 Decemnber 2019 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaties (together referred as the "Group” and
individually as "Group entities') and the Group's interest in
associates.

The Company began trading its shares on Euranext Amsterdam
on 15 October 2015 following an Initial Public Offering (IP0).
The Group pravides corparate and fund services, private client
services and capital markets services. As at 3T December 2019,
the Group has cperations in mare than 30 countries and
employed 3,467 FTEs as at 31 Decernber 2019 (31 December
2018; 2 515 FTEs).

2. Basis of preparation

2.1. Statement of compliance

These cansotidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reparting Standards
{IFRS) as adopted by the Eurgpean Union for use in the EU (EJ
IFRS) effective as at 31 December 2019 and in accordance with
Title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

These consclidated financial staternents were authorised for
issue by the Management Board and appraved by the
Supervisory Beard on 13 February 2020. They are subject to
approval by the Annual General Meeting to be held on 14 May
2020.

2.2. Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial staterments have been prepared on

the historical cost. basis except for the following material itams

in the consolideted staternent of finanaial position

» Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;

= Defined benefit labilities/(assets) are recognised at the fair
value of plan assets less Lthe present value of defined benefit
obligation, as explained in Note 28,

2.3. Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial staternents are presented in Euro,
which is the Company's functional currency. All financial
information presented in Euro has been rounded to the nearest
thousand (EUR 000), unless otherwise indicated.
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2.4. Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IERS requires managerment to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recagnised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Infarmation abaut assumptions and estimation uncertainties
that have a sigrificant risk of resulting in a material adjustment
within the next finandial year is included in the fallowing notes:
» Note 15: IFRS16 related assumptions;

« Note 16.1: impairment test: key assumptions underlying
recoverable amounts ol cash geneérating units;

« Note 27.1: recognition of deferred tax assets; availabllity of
future taxahle profit against which carry forward tax losses
can be used;

« Note 29: recagnition and measurement of pravisions and
contingencies: key assumptions about the likelhood and
magnitude of an ocutflow of resources.

Determination of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures
require the determination of fair value, for both financial assets
and labilitics.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a Lability, the
Group uses market observable data as much as possible. Fair
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value
hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation technigues
as follows:

« Level 1: queted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

« Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1
that are observable far the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived from prices):

« Level 3:inputs for the asset or Lability that are not based on
abservable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a
liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the
lowest level input that is significant to the entire measuremeant.
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The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy at the end aof the reporting period during which the
change has occurred,

Further information about assumptions made in measuring fair
values is included in the following notes:

e Note 7.1 description of share-based payment arrangements;

o Note 23.6 fair values of inancial instruments,

3. Significant accounting policies
and standards

3.1. Changes in accounting policies and
new standards

The accounting policies set out below bave been applied
consistently to all perinds presented in these consolidated
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by
Group entities. There have been no significant changes
compared ta the priar year cansolidated financial statements as
at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 except
specifically mentioned below.

To the extent relevant, all IFRS standards and interprelations
including amendrnents that were in issue and effective from

1 January 2079, have been adopted by the Group from

1 January 2019, These standards and interpretations had no
material impact for the Group except IFRS16, which s disclosed
under Note 15.

New standards and interpretations issued and

effective from 1 January 2019 other than

IFRS16:

s Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation —
Amendments to IFRSS;

» Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures -
Amendments to IAS23,

¢ Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement —
Armendments to 1AS19,

s Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments;
and

« Annual improvement 2015-2017 cycle.

New standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective

AlL IFRS standards and interpretations that were in issue but not
yet effective for reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2019
have not yet been adopted and disclosed in the Group's
consolidated financial statermnents as at and for the year ended
31 December 2019.

IFRS16 ‘Leases’

IFRS16 ‘Leases’, published in January 2016, introduces a new
definition of a lease bringing most leases on-balance in the
financial statements of the lessee. It replaces existing guidance
on leases, including 1AS17. The Group implemented IFRS16 per
1 January 2019 both where the Group is 3 lessor and a lessee.
The Group bas a significant number of operating lease contracts,
mainly far real estate, and therefore the transition to IFRS16
had a significant impact on our balance sheet and a smaller
impact to the opening equity.

In applying IFRS16 for the first time, the group has used the
following practical expedients permitted by the standard.

« reliance on previous asscssmients on whether leases are
cnerous;

+ the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease
term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short
term leases;

+ nat Lo reassess whether a contract is. or conlains a lease at
the date of initial application;

« the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of
the right-of -use asset at the date of initial application, and

« the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

A mare detailed impact assessment is disclosed under Note 15,

Other standards

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2019
reporting periods and have not been carty adopted by the
Group. These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

3.2. Summary of significant accounting
policy

The general accounting policies applied to the consolidated
financial staterments as a whote are described below, while
other significant accounting policies related Lo specific itemns are
described under the relevant note. The description of
accounting policy in the notes forms an integral part of the
description of the accounting policies in this section. Unless
othenwise stated, these policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented.
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R e
Acquisition of subsidiaries 14
Employee benefits 23
Share-based payment arrangemerts 7
Praperty. plant and equipment {including IFRS16) 15
Intangible assets and goodwill 1%
Impairment of nor-financial assets ie, 1
Financial instrurnents 23
Provisions 29
Trade receivables 11
Equity 24

3.3. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorparate Lhe financial
statements of the Company and entities cantrolled either
directly, or indirectly. by the Company. Controlis achieved
when the parent is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns
from its involvernent with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee, Where
necessary, adjustrments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries Lo bring their accounting policy in line with the
Group,

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expensas arising froim inlra-group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
acceunted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Graup's interest in the investee, Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of Group entities at. the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denorninated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities dencminated in foreign currencies that are measured
at fair value are translated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured
based on historicat cost are translated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in other
comprehensive income:

+ FVOQ - equity instrument (except on impairment in which
case foreign currency differences that have been recognised
in other comprehensive incame are reclassified to profit or
loss);

» financial liabilities designated as hedge of the net investment
in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is
effective; and

« qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is
effective.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustrmnents arising on acquisition. are
translated into Euro al the exchange rates at the reporting date
{closing rates). The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated into Euro at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

The Group doesn't own nor control any foreign operations in
hyperinflationary economies.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income, and accurmulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve (franslation reserve) in equity.
However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, then the relevant proportion of the translation
difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that cantrol,
significant influence or joint contrel is last. the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest
in a subsidiary that includes a foreign aperation while retaining
control. the relevant proportion of the curnulative amount is
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group
disposes of only part of its investrnent in an associate or joint
venture Lhat includes a fareign operation while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss,

When the settlement of a monetary itern receivable from or
payable to a foreign operaticon is neither planned nor tikely in
the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses arising
from such item are considered to form part of a net investment
in the foreign aperation and are recognised in other
comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve
in equity.
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Hedge of a net investment in foreign operations
The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency
differences arising between the functionat currency of foreign
aperation and the Company's functionat currency (Euro),

To the extent that the hedge is effective, foreign cumrency
differences arising on the translation of a financial liability
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation are recognised in Other comprehensive income (OCH
and accumulated in the translation reserve. Any remaining
differences are recognised in profit or loss. When the hedged
net investment is disposed of, the relevant amount in the
transiation reserve is transferred to profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

3.4. Cash flow statement

Cash flow statements are prepared using the indirect method,
Cash flows from derivative instruments are classified consistently
with the nature of the instrurments, Dividend income is
presented under investing activities,

4. Non IFRS financial measures

4.1. Definitions

For the definitions of nan-financial measures we refer to the

Glossary. Other than those defined there, we give more

clarification as listed belaw on:

e Specific items of income or expenses are income and
expenses itemns that, based on their significance in size or
nature, should be separately presented to provide further
understanding about the financial performance. Specific
itermns include:

« Transaction costs;

» Integration and transformation costs;

* Share-based payment upon {PO;

» Share-based payment upon integration;

« Income/expenses related to dispasal of assats,

Specific iterns are not of an operational nature and do nol
represent the care aperating resuits,

+ Underlying is defined as current and prior period at constant
currency and, if applicable, including profarma figures for
acquisition{s);

« Adjusted revenue is defined as revenue excluding IFRS16
impact.

= EBITDA is defined as profit/(loss) from operating activities
excluding depreciation and amartisation.

s Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA excluding specific
items and the impact of IFRS16,

e Adjusted EBITA is defined as Adjusted EBITDA excluding
depreciation of all property, plant and equipment as well as
amortisation of other intangible assets.

Adjusted EBITA margin is defined Adjusted EBITA divided by
revenue, and is expressed as a percentage.

Adjusted net income is defined as Adjusted EBITA less net
interest costs, less adjusted tax expenses and share of profit
of equity accounted investees (net of tax] and excluding
adjusted items in financial results and income taxes.
Adjusted earnings per share is defined as adjusted net
income divided by the weighted-average nurnber of basic
shares for the period.

Capital expenditure (Capex) is defined as investments in
property, plant, equipment. software and other intangible
assets not related to acquisitions and excludes right-of-use
assets.

Net interest is defined as net inance cost excluding foreign
exchange gains and losses and fair value adjustments (for
specific inancial instruments) recagnised in the Statement
of profit or loss.

Warking capital (WC) in the Staterment of financial pasition
is defined as the total of the trade working capital. other
waorking capital and nel current tax.

Trade working capital in the Statement of financial position is
defined as the total of Trade receivables, Work in progress,
Trade payables and Deferred income.

Other working capital in the Statement of financial position is
defined as the total of Other receivables, Prepayments and
Other payables.

Net tax positions in W is defined as the net of deferred tax
balances and incorme tax receivables and payables.

Capital employed is defined as the total of Working capital
(W) in the Statement of financial position, Property. Plant
and Equipment and Intangibles (including acquisition related
and other asscts).

Net debt is defined as the net of cash and cash equivalents
excluding cash held on behalf of custorners and gross value
of third party indebtedness.

Leverage ratia is defined as total net debt (on "last twelve
months" (LTM) average FX rates) divided by the adjusted
EBITDA proforma contribution for acquisitions and full year
run-rate synergies related to acquisiticns and ather Senior
Facility Agreement (SFA) adjustrnents such as the addhack
of LTM Long term incentive plan (LTIP), Share deferral plan
{SDP} and Rollover share plan accruals.

Effective tax rate (ETR} is calculated as minus one times
income tax expense divided by the profit before tax of the
Group.

Annual Report 2019 83



Lt g eaneal detes Baanle

T L Cemy oyt TR S

IR S L

. Consalidated Financial Statements

Section 2
Result of the year

This section presents the notes related to items in the income staternent (except for depreciation and amortisation, operating
leases, fimancial results and taxes) and disclosure of operating segments. I applicable. relevant nates on balance sheet iterns, which
also relate to itemns in the income statement, are alse presented in this section. A detailed description of the results for the yearis
provided in the financial perfermance section In the Management Board report.

Fult year revenue Basic EPS
5433 1.0
R.D T »....} ? -m.) £ 1)

in EUR million EUR

W Corporares (CUR 196,0 mition)
M tunds (FUR 213,17 miluon)
M Pivate Weaith (EJR 65.4 milk )
B3 Capital Maricets (EUR 65.4 mittiun}
84 Qrher (EUR 3.4 mibtan)
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5. Operating segments The analysis of the business is organised on and managed from

a geographical perspective. From 1 January 2019, the revenue
5.1. Basis for seg mentation breakdown reflects Intertrust's new reporting structure.
As of Q1 2019 Intertrust reperts on three segments corsisting

e Manac i Board is the Chi perating Becisi T
The Mznagement Board is the Chief Qperating Beaisian of the following jurisdictions:

Maker of the Group (CODM), The resocnsibitity of tho

Manacemeant Board s Lo assass performance and Lo make :
5 gusess o Western Europe: Belgium, Germany, Luxcmbourg,

Netherlands and Switzerland,

. ) ) } bt i bable i » Amcricas: Bahamas, Brazil, BVI. Canada, Cayman Islands,
is recagnised to Lhe extert that it is prob 2 ‘
Revenue is recagnised ta the extert that it is probable thet Curaczo, India (as of 02 2019} and LS.

the economic benefts will Cow 17 the Groun and the

rescurce aliacation decsians across the Group.

« Rest of the World: Asia Pacific {Australia, China, Hong Kong,
Japan, Singapore and New Zealand); and Northern and
Southern Europe (Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, Guernsey,
Ireland, Jersey, Norway. Spain, Sweden, UAE and UK].

revenue can be relianly measurec. Revenue is measured at
the consideration receved or :ecevable. excluding
discaunts, rebates and sales Laxes ar duty. Reveniue is
recognised im orofit or loss to the proraie part of the senvices
rendered tc the client durng the reporting period, When
the Graup acts i the capacity of an agent rather than as
the principal in a transaction, the revence recognised is the
net amount of cammission made by the Group.

The revenues of the interim fnancial staternents of 2019 based
on the new reporting structure have been adjusted for
COIMPAriscn purposes.

The reconciliation tabte below shows the restated 2018

Revenue comprisas corparate, fund services, private wealth .
F
segmentation:

and capital markets services, Revenue also includes rental
incoms: from subicasing to clients.

(EUR 000) 2018 presented in 2019 2018 presented in 2018
P L e i e
MNetherlands - 8. 115749 3%
Luxembourg - na, 109,125 22%
Woestern Europe 234238 47% - n.a.
Amer cas 79873 16% 84,434 17%
Jersay - nd. 57.854 12%
Rest of the World 121.945 37% 128,894 26%
Segment Revenue 496,056 100% 496056  100%

' Revenue % s calculated from nan-rounded figures,

(EUR 000) 2018 presented in 2019 2018 presented in 2018
e i et et et e e oo+ e e s et e e s Adjusted e Adjusted Ad]usted %Adjusted
EBITA EBITA EBITA EBITA
Netherlands - n.d. 65838 38%
Luxernbourg - n.a. 62,741 34%
Western Europe 134,150 T2 - n.a.
Amercas 14,626 235 45,693 25%
Jersey - n.a, 29,166 16%
Rest of the World 78,480 42% 48,824 26%
Group HQ and IT costs? (70,.597) -3i8% (70.397) -38%
Segment Adjusted EBITA T T T T T s ges T T100% 185,865 100%

' Adjusted EBITA 9 15 caloilated from non-rounded Agures,
¢ Group HQ anc IT costs are net alloczted hy operating segment.
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All cperating segments are regarded as reportable segmenits
due to their sice/imporance for the overall understanding of
the geagraphical business, They are reparted in @ manrer
consistent with the internal reporting provided to and used by
the Management Board.

(EUR 000)

EBITDA

integration and transformation costs

Impact of IFRS16 on adjusted items

Share-based payment upon IPQ, integration

Transaction costs

Other operating expenses

Adjusted EBITDA

Depreciation and armortisation of other intangible assets

Adjusted EBITA

The individual Adjusted EBITA by operating segment excludes
the allocation of Group HQ and IT costs. which is subsequently
deducted from the total.

Profit/(loss) before income tax is not used to measure the
perforrmance of the individual segment as itemns like
amortisation of intangibles (except for software) and net
finance costs are not allocated to individual segments.

5.2. Information about reportable segments

Weslern Europe
Rest af the World
Americas

Segment Revenue
' Revenoge % is calculated from non-rounded figures.

Western Europe

Rest of the World

Aimericas

Group HQ and IT costs?

Segment Adjusted EBITA

' Adjusted EBITA %3 is calculated from non-rounded figures.
< Graup HQ and i1 costs are not allocated by operating segment.
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(EUR Q00)

The Management Board evaluates the perfermance of its
segrents based on Revenue and Adjusted EBITA ("segment
Revenue” and "segment Adjusted EBITA"). Management.
considers that such infarmation is the most relevant in
evaluating the results of the respective seqments.

Note 2019 2018
o S
8 8515 12,486
(1.064) -

7 3047 1,285

8 7416 110

556 20

‘225505 196,961

17 {28.591) (11.098)
R 7 O -G

Consistent with the aforementiened reasoning, segiment assets/
liabilities are not reviewed regutarly on a segment basis by
management and are therefore not included in the IFRS
segment reporling.

2019 2018
“Revenue % Revenue  Revenue % Revenue
337 295 44%, 234,238 47%
196 677 367 181,945 37%
110911 209, 79.873 16%
" 544,883 100% 496,086  100%
2019 2018
" ndjusted % Adjusted  Adjusted % Adjusted
EBITA EBITA EBITA EBITA
132,903 67% 134,150 2%
284196 4394 78,486 A2%
58 582 30% 43.626 3%
178.767) -40%, (70.397) -38%
196914 100% 185865  100%
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5.3. Reconciliation of reportable segments
to profit before income tax

(EUR 000) Nate 2019 2018

Adjusted EBITA reportabie segments 196914 185865
Share-based payment upon PO,

integration 7 13.047) (1,285)
Teansaction costs 8 (7.318) {11Q)
Integration and transformatior casts 8 (8515)  (12.486)
Impact of IFRS16 1,064 -

Qther aperating expenses 2 (556) (20)
Amortisation of acquisition-related

intangibles 17 46,075)  (41,309)
Financial result 22 L1/./24)  (32.934)
Share of prafit and result of transactions

with equity-accaunted investees and

sabsidiaries (net of tax) A4 78

Profit before incometax 114789 97.799

5.4, Entity-wide disclosures

Management does nol distinguish between revenue streams
resulting from different services. Therefore no Turther split of
revenues is presented.

There is no single customer amounting to 10% or mare of
Group's revenues.

6. Staff expenses

(EUR 000) 201 2018
Salaries and wages 1192.561) (171,805)
Other personnel expenses {22.743)  (20.556)
Sadial secur ty contributions (18,729 (17,191)
Pensions and benefits (9.596) (8.536)
Share-based paymen: lang Lerm incenlives 7 {4.056) (4,186)
Share-bhased paymen: upar PO arid

integration 7 (4047} (1.285)

Staff expenses (250,732) (223,559)

Pernsion and benefits includes defined contributions of

EUR 9,098 thousand (2018: ELUR 8,467 thausand) and defined
benefts amounting ta an expense of EUR 498 thousand (2018
expense of EUR 69 thousand).

Staff expenses include specific items for share based payments

upon IPQ and integration:

« share based payments upon integration of EUR 69 thousand
{2018; EUR 195 thousand);

= share based payments upan IPO of EUR 1,090 thousand in
2018 (2019: nil}; and

« chare hased payments relating to the Viteos acquisition
{Viteos Rollover Share Plan} of EUR 2,978 thousand.

These programs arc related to the awards granted related to the
following events:

s the listing of the Company's shares on Euronext Amsterdam
in 2015;

« the Elian acquisition in September 2016;

« the Azcona asset deal in February 2017,

« Viteos acquisition in June 2019 (see further details in Note
14).

The number of FTEs at year end amounts to 3,467
(2018 2.515). Average number of FTE in 2019 amounts to
3.358 (2018 2,497).

7. Share-based payment
arrangements

The Company cperates equity-settled share-based
payment arrangements, under which services are recelved
from Management Board remoors and aiigible employocs,

The tolal emcunt Lo be expensed for services rece’ved is
deierm’ned by reforence to the grant date fair value of the
share-based payment awarcs made, including the impact
of any non-vesling conditlans and market conditions,

Service conditians and nan-rmarket performance condigions
are Laken inte account in the cumber of awards expected
to vest. The fain value dotermined at the grant date is
expensed an a stra ght-lire basis over the vesting period.
based on the Company's esiimate of the number of awards
Lhat will evertually vest, with a correspanding credit Lo
equity.

At each reporting dare, the Company revises its estimatos of
the number of awards that are expected to vest. The
impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, <
recognised in the income statement for the penod.

The ernployer social security contributians payable in
connection with an award made is considered an integral
part of the award, and the charge is treated as 8 cash-
settied share-basad payment transaction.

= Caleulated with prapartionated average of accured entities For campanson reason. Excluding this propotiondted weighing the average number of FTE is 3.047,
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7.1. Description of share-based payment
arrangements

The Company has implemented and granted awards to
members of the Management Board and selected eligible
employees under the following equity-settled share-based
payment plans:

a) Executive Ownership Plan (EOP},

b) Employee Stock Gwnership Plan (ESOP);

c) Long Term Incentive Plan for employees granted in 2016,
2017 ang 2018 (LTIP 1-4);

d) Long Term Incentive Plan for Executive Committee (LTIP 5);
e} Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019 (SDP);

f) Perfarmance Share Plan 2019 (PSP); and

q) Viteaos Rollover Share Plan (VRS).

a) Executive Ownership Plan (EOP)

In 2015, the rmernbers of the Managerment Board and selected
eligible members of senior managerment were invited to make a
one-off investment in the Cormpany's shares at a share price
equal to the intraduction price of ane Company share an
Euronext Amsterdam at the time of the IPO. In addition. shares
representing 14% of the total investrnent amount were
altocated to the eligible participants for no consideration.

The grant date fair value of each of the 216,605 additional EOP
shares allacated for no consideration was equal to the
intraduction share price at the date of listing of EUR 15.50. As
there were no vesting conditions related to the additional EQF
shares, the total grant date fair value was expensed
immediately.

For each of the acquired/allocated shares, the participants were
awarded the conditional right to receive one Company share for
every three EOP shares (the Matching Shares) for no
consideration. These Matching Shares vested in 2018 on the
third anniversary of the IPO settlement date to the extent thal
the participant still (i) held all the EOP shares and (i) was
emplayed by the Cornpary on this date. The grant date fair
value of the Matching Shares was therefore expensed over a
period of 3 years starting on Lthe IPO settlernent date.

Details of the number of Matching Shares in 2018 were as
follows;

In number of shares 2018
Outstanding at the beginning of the year’ 435129
Forfeited during the year {(58.470)
Vested during the year (376,659)

Outstanding at the end of the year -

The Matching Shares awarded in 2015 did not entitie the
participants to receive dividends during the vesting pericd.
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EOP matching shares vested in 2018.

b) Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP)

On 1 February 2017, the Management Board has made a one-
time award of the Cornpany's shares (ESCP Shares) to eligible
employees from Azcona, to celebrate Azcona and Intertrust
joining forces. These awards entitled each cligible employee to
receive shares for ng consideratian, subject to continued
emplayrment for a period of one year from the acquisition date.
Participants were not entitled to receive dividends during the
vesting periad. As dividends were expected during the vesting
period of the new ESOP shares. the fair value at grant date of
the Celebration Shares of EUR 16.82 was cqual to the share
price at grant date less the discounted value of expected future
dividends.

In nurnber of shares 2018

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 4080
Nwarded during the year

Forfeited during the year -

Vested dunng the periad {4.080)

Oljtéfaﬁding at thewehd OIf theyear T -
Last ESOP shares vested in February 2018,

¢} Lang term Incentive Plan (LTIP 1-4)

N reforred to in the 2015 Remuneration Policy, the LTIP was
implemented during the first half year of 2016, Conditional
performance shares were awarded to members of the
Managerment Board and eligible members of senicr
management on 1 April 2016 (LTIP 1-2). 1 April 2017 (LTIP 3}
and 1 April 2018 (LTIP 4).

Performance shares are awarded on an ennual basis and vest on
the third anniversary of the grant date subject to (i) the
parlicipant remaining in cantinuous employment during the
vesting period and (i) the Group meeting the pre-determined
performance criteria,

For all performance cycles 2016-2019, 2017-2020 and
2018-2021, an adjusted Eamings per Share (adjusted EPS)
growlh performance target applied. Subject to meeting the
service condition, the number of LTIP Shares that vest will be
between 0% (adjusted EPS growth below the threshold) and
150%. The vesting percentage was allocated linearly between
the threshold level and 100% and also from 100% to the
maximum level. For 2016-2019 grants a vesting percentage of
104.67% was applied based on the Adjusted EPS growth of
9,28%. Those shares vested on 1 April 2019, For the other
rermaining LTIP grants, 25% of the grants of the participants
were cancelled and on the remaining grants the performance
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criteria was removed on 12 June 2019, Limited number of
exceptions were recagnised due to good leavers,

In addition, following the acquisition of Elian, the Management
Board awarded performances shares under the LTIP to eligible
Elian erployees on 1 November 2016, These awards had the
same vesting conditions (including the sarme vesting date) as
the performance shares granted on 1 April 2016 and also
vested on 1 April 2019.

Details of the number of LTIP Shares (LTIP 1-4) awarded and
autstanding (at target) are as follows:

In number of shares 2019 2018
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 976790 711350
Awarded during Lhe yea~ 371,519 425215
Cancelled during the year (16449 -
Farfeited during the year (1500830 (159775]
Vested duning the year (749.600) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 785177 976,790

Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the
vesting period. As dividends are expected during the vesting
periad, the Fair value st grant date of the performance shares Is
equal to the share price at grant date less the discounted value
of expected dividends. The fair value of the LTIF Shares granted
in 2019 are presented under d), e), f) and g) (2018:

EUR 14.86).

The Managerent Board's EOP and LTIP awards outstanding
and movements during the financial year are disclosed in Nate
33.2.

d) Long Term Incentive Plan for Executive
Committee (LTIP 5)

For the mernbers of the Executive Committee, grants were
given also on a similar criteria basis. Their grants vest on cach
anniversary of the grant date for 3 years, In each year 1/3 of Lhe
total grant will vest on the condition of {1} continuous
employment. of the participant during the vesting periad and (I}
the Graup meeting the pre-determined perfarmance criteria in
the first year the grant is given. There were 40,238 shares
granted on 1 April 2019, 7,738 shares forfeited, and based on
the perfarmance of the Company, 95% of the Lotal remaining
32,500 number aof shares will vest in the upcorning three years.

Details of the number of LTIP Shares (LTIP 5) awarded and
autstanding (at target) are as follows:

In number of shares 2019
Outstanding at the beginning of the year -
Awardad during the year 20,733
Cancelled durirg the year -
Farfeited during the year 17.738)
Oﬁ'tst'andi‘n‘g at the end-nfrthe'y'e'arw ’ "?:-2“,500

Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the
vesting period. As dividends are expected during the vesting
period, the fair value of the performance shares at grant date is
equal to the share price at grant date less the discounted value
of expected dividends. The fair value of the LTIP 5 shares
granted in 2019 is ELIR 15.26.

e) Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019 (SDP)

As continuance of the Long term Incentive Plan, the SDP grants
were implernented during the first half year of 2079, Grants
were awarded ta eligible employees on 1 April 2019.

Perfarmance shares are awarded on an annual basis and vest on
each anniversary of the grant date for 3 years. In each year 1/3
of the total grant will vest subject ta the participant remaining
in continued ermployment during the vesting period,
Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the
vesting period. As dividends are expected during the vesting
period. the fair value of the shares at grant date is equal to the
share price at grant date less the discounted value of expected
dividends. The fair value of the SDP shares granted in 2018 is
EUR 15.26.

Detalils of the number of SDP grants awarded and outstanding
(at target) are as follows:

In number of shares 2019
Outstanding at the beginning of the year -
Awarded during the year ANE61T7
Farfeited during the year (22.029)
Outstanding ot the end of the year " 234648

f) Performance Share Plan 2019 (PSP)

The Management Board was granted awards under a new plan,
called Performance Share Plan on 29 November 2019, See
details about this new plan under the Remuneration note.

A PSP award consists of an award of conditional performance
shares that become unconditional at the end of a three-year
performance period. It is subject to achieving predetermined
targets based on Absclute Total Shareholder Return (Absolute
TSR) with 70% weighting, Underlying Revenue Growth with
30% weighting and to continued emplayment. The number of
conditional performance shares that vest after three years may
vary between 0% and 200% of the nuimber of conditicnally
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Section 3
Working capital

The nates in this section specify iterms that form part of Group's working capital.

W% of revenue - . Capital ernployed

D 204 s
4 o {») rd k} . : : ;
- lexcluding IFRS16 impacy) i FUR mittion {exclading

IFRS16 impact)
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9.1. Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic eamings per share is based on the fallowing profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and weighted-

average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

{EUR 000)

2019

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders T T

Profit for the perlod attributable to the owners of [he Compaﬂy

Proﬁt/(loss} attrlhutable to ordlnan/ shareholders R

In number of shares

Waeighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January

Effect of distribution of treasury shares far vested shares
tffect of issue of treasury shares for Viteos acquisiticn
Effect oftreasury shdres held and shares cancelled

Werghted average number of ordlnary Shares at 31 December (basm)

9.2. Diluted earnings per share

90,225

T 90,325
2019
30,237 848
PEY

3001404

" 89,734,033

91,047 255
100,651

(1,748562)

89,399,344

The calculation of diluled earnings per share has been based on the fallowing profit attributable Lo ordinary shareholders and
weighted-average nurnber of ordinary shares oulstanding afler adjustrnent for the effects of alt dilutive poatential ordinary shares.

(EUR OOO)

Profiz attributable Eerordlnary shareholders

Profit for the perrod attnbutable to Ordmary shareholderi

Proﬁt/(toss) attrlbutabLe to ordmary sharehol.ders S

In number of shares

Werghted average ‘number of Grdmary shares (diluted)
Weighted-average number of ard nary shares (basic)
Effect af share-based payment an issue

Effect of share based payrrent carcellation

WE|ghLed average number of ordlnary shares at 31 Decemnber (dlluted)' o

G.3. Adjusted net income per share

The Group calculates the Adjusted net incorme for 2019 to be
EUR 141.8 million (2018 EUR 137.7 million). Adjusted net
incorme is defined as Adjusted EBITA (2019 EUR 196.9 million,
2018 EUR 185.9 miillion), less adjusted nel interast costs af
FUR 36.7 million {2018: EUR 29,5 mitlion), plus share of profit
and resull of transactions with equity-accounted investees and
subsidiaries (net of tax) of EUR 44 thousand (2018

EUR 0.1 million) and less adjusted tax costs of EUR 18.5 million
(2018 EUR 18.7 million).

Based on this Adjusted net income and taking the weighted-
average number of basic shares for the year of 89,734,033
(2018: 89,399,344), the adjusted net income per share is
EUR 1.58 (2018 EUR 1.54).

2019 2018
a0 325 89,362

" 90,325 89,362
2019 2018
37440453 89 399,444

- 035476 1,463,521
(175,792 {187.657)

" 90,595,717 50,675,168
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Section 3
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Working capital

The naotes in this section specify items that form part of Group's working capital.

W% of revenue

-2.8%

(excluding IFRS16 impact)

Capital employaed

1./ 77

in ELUR million (excluding
IFRS16 impact)
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10. Work in progress

Werloin progress réorasents Lhe nat unbilled amount
expected to be coliected from clients far work performed
to cata. It measwred at the chargeable rate sgreed with
the individual clients less pragress billed.

11. Trade receivables

Irade recenables are initaly recognised at fair value, and
subsequently measured at amortizea cost (if the time value
= matenall, using offective interest method, less provision
for impairment. /A provision for expected credit losses of
trade recelvables ‘s established when there & objecuve
evidance that e Group will not be able to colloct. all
amaunts due, according to the onginal terms of the
recelvables and the receivalile ilall in line with its [Tetime
expected credit loss ('ECLY). The amount of the provision is
the diference between the assat's carrying amount and the
armount calculatec by Lhe expeciea credit loss model. The
model calcolales the default loss percentage adjusted by
forward looking nformation, The carying amount of the
asset s reduced througn the use ol an allowance account
and the arnaunt of the loss is recagnised in the income
staternent within ‘Other operating expenses’. When a trade
receivable Is uncoltectible, it ts wiritten off against the
allowance account far trado receivables, Subseauent
recaveries of amounts previausly written off are credited
against "Other operating expenses” in the income
statemant.

The ageing analysis of Lrade receivables net of the allowances is

as follows:
(EUR 000) 31.12.2019
Gross . Met
for trade }
receivables ) recaivablos
recaivables
Nat yet dug 54,408 202) 54,206
Past due 1-90 days 28979 {1 170) 27.809
Past dug 91-180 days 10,874 {3568) 10,506
Past due 181-360 days 8541 (1.436) 5,905
Past due more than 360 days 5848 [4,450) 1.368
Total 108,450 (7.656) 100,794
‘31722018
Allowance
Gross Net
} for trade
receivables receivablos
recervables
Mol yet due 49,051 (120) 48,931
Past due 1-90 days 23950 (747} ?23.203
Past due 91-180 days 9686 (888) 8.798
Past duc 181-360 days 9,281 (1.269) 8012
Past due more than 360 days 54939 (4,405) 1.534
Total 7 Tezs07 (7.429) 90,478

The movernents in the allowances in respect of trade
receivables during the period were as follows:

(EUR 000)

Balance at G January 2018 (5.789)
IFRSS Opening balance adjustment 11,202)
Losses recognised in P&L {4,665)
Amounts written off during the year 1.745

Unused amounts reversed 2,622

Eifect of movernents in exchange rates
Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 01 January 2013 (7.429)
Business combination 11s)
Losses recagnised in P&L [4525)
Armounts writlen off daring the year 1.082

Unused armounts reversed 2831

Effect of moverments in exchange rates (200)
Balance at 31 December 2019 7 (7.656)

The impairment lasses and unused amounts reversed during the
periad are recognised in "Other operating expenses” under
“Other expenses”. For credit risk refer to Note 23.2.
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Trade accounts receivable include amounts denominated in the
following major currencies:

(EUR 000) 31.12.2019  31.12.2018
B e e e e L
uso 40,995 31.929
GaP 12,961 11,783
Other 6.946 5,587
Total 100,794 90478

12. Deferred income

The deferred income represents fixed fees invoiced to
customers mainly in November-December for the next year(s).
It drives higher trade receivables and deferred income at the
end of the period, with the deferred income released in the
fallowing year. in sorme cazes the fees are invoiced i advance
for the complete life of the structures resulting in non-current
deferred income, The expected reversal of the balance of
deferred incame is shown in the following table:

(EUR 000) 31.12.2019  31.12.2018
To be released within ane year U 7z0es T B89

To be released batween ang and five years 3543 2.940
To be released later than five years 1,557 2422
Total 83185 73613
Balance at 31 December

Totaleurent 7777 T7a085 7 e8.251

Tatalnon-current 7 7 73400 T 5362

13. Other receivables and other
payables

13.1. Other receivables

{EUR 000) 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued income T 19212 973/
Due from customers 5888 5376
VAT and other tax receivables 4,654 1879
Others 1,445 1.430
Other receivables 31997 T igazz

Due fram custorners relates to receivables from clients for
disbursements and expenses where payments were made on
behalf of the customers,

None of the "Other receivables” are past due or impaired.
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13.2. Other payables

(EUR 000)

Nate 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Accrued expenses for short term a

employee benefits 31,995 24,410
WAT and cther tax payables 14,629 14,157
Accrised expenses 13602 15,651
Liabititics for cash held on behalf of

clients 19 10,926 22,298
Due to customers 4,182 3,354
Others 261 1,137
Other payables 776415 7 81,007

Accrued expenses for short term employee benefits includes
mainly banus accruals, sacial charges and holiday allowances.

Liabilities for cash held on behalf of clients relates to advances
framn clients for future fees, unapplied cash received from
clients and disburserments invoiced in advance.
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Section 4
Investments

The notes in this section specify the graup's non-current assets including investments made during the year eithar through separate
asset acquisitions or business cambinations.

IFRS16 impact - 7 Acquisition related

Capex on total assets intangibles
. : . . : 3 .
12.4 1078 f ”’29
f f . : ‘z
in EUR million excluding i EUR million as at in EUR‘ million

RoA 31 Dece nver 2019
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14. Acquisition of subsidiaries

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisicion method as at the acquisition date, which is the
cate on which control is transferred w the Group. The
consideration transferred in tho acquisition is generally
measured al fair value, as are the identifiable nel assels

acquired, Ary gondwill that arises is tested annually for
impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase 1s recognised in
profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as
ircuried, exceptt if related to the issue of debt ar equity
securties.

The consideration transferred does ot inctude amouants
related to the settlerment of pre-existing relatonships. Such
arnounts are generally recognised in profit or toss. Any
contingent consideration payable is measured ol fair value
at the scquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
¢lassified as equity, then it is not rermeasurad and

settlement is accounted for within equity. O herwise,
subsoquent changes arc recognised in the profit or Loss.

Fair value measurement at acquisition

Cost technigue: the valuation madel considers market
prices for simitar items when they are available, and
depreciated replacement cost when appropriate.
Depreciated replacement cost reflacts adjustrments For
physical deterioration as well as functional and economic
obsolescence.

Retef-from-royaity mathod considess the discounted
estimated royalty payments that are expecied to be volded
as a resull of the software being owned.

Multi-period access earning method considers the present,
value of net cash flows expected to be generated by the
cuslomer relationships. by excluding any cash flows related
to cartributary assets.

Income methad determines the fair value based on the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a
reasonable proft margin based on the effort required to
compiete and sell services.

Equity accounted subsidiary

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of contol are accounted for as equity
transactions.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiarios are entities contralted by the Group, The Group

controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to.
variable returns from its involvernent with the entity and
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has e ability Lo affect those retumns through its power over
the entty. The financial statements of subsid:aries are
included in the consolidated financial stalernents from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
conbrol ceasas,

Loss of cantrol

When the Group loses cantrol over a subsidiary, it
derecegnisas the assets and lizbilitics of the subsidiary, and
any related non-confrolling interests and ather components
of equity. Any resuiting cain or Lass is recognised in proiL ol
loss, Any interest retained in the forrner subsidiary 1s
meastred at fair value when contral is lost.

14.1. Expanding Intertrust's global footprint
2019

Viteos

Cn 17 June 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and
voting rights in the company of Viteos from PPC Enterprises
LLC, FiveW Capital LLC (an affiliate of 22C Capital) and Viteos
management.

Viteas is a tech-enabled alternative funds industry leader
providing end-to-end middle and back office administration for
top tier hedge funds, private equity, real estate, private debt and
other altemative asset managers. Viteos had approximately 715
employees and operates a global delivery model with its
headquarters and sales teamn in the U.S. supported by Centres of
Excellence in India.

The acquisition of Viteos is an acceleration of the Group's
strategy to become a global leader in Lech-enabled carporate
and fund salutions, adding a high growth provider of leading-
edge technology solutions with a top 10 position in US fund
administration and over 80 top tier clients. The strategic goals
were as follaws:

= Meaningful presence in the U5 and increased exposure to
funds - the combined group will hold a top 10 position in US
fund administration providing mission-critical services to
asset managers:

e Accelerated growth potential - Viteos brings new clients,
services and technatogy solutions which expand Intertrust’s
rnarket potential inta higher growth adjacencies with an
annual market value of >EUR 3.5 billion, resulting in a total
market potential in cxcess of EUR 10.0 billion growing at.
4-6% per annum:

« Strengthened Lechnology foundation - Viteos is at the
forefront cf digitising and autornating fund sdministraticn
with leading-cdge technologies including blackehain,
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warkflow automation, RPABG, and digitalisation/OCR7, Fair vatue Fair Value
Leveraging these tools, the cornbined group will have the (EUR 000) determination recognised on
potential to drive incremental revenue growth through approach’ acquisition
service innavation and reduce costs through service ﬁrdﬁﬁé‘r't';'f; ‘p'n'{é'n”t' and ot 77T o3
automation; equipment
» Step towards operational excellence - building on Viteos' Intangible assets Multi-period excess 76,755
offshore Centres of Excellence in India will allow to fasttrack earnings and relief
standardisation, centralisation and shared services initiatives, from royalty
improving the efficiency and quality of cur services. Trade receivables® Cost 4 837
QOther receivables Cost 9072
The acquisition was funded through debt {new USD 150 million Current tax assels Cost 52
term loan plus USD 99 million RCF) and cash on balance sheet Deferred tax assets Income 3.992
with USD 171 million re-invested by Viteos’ management and Frepayments Cost 1.731
key employees in Intertrust shares. Cash and cash equivalents  Cost 8,257
P T T
The Group acquired Viteas on 17 June 2019 and cansolidated as
of that date. Cther financial liabilities Cost 45,274
Deferred tax liabilities Income 22659
From the date of acquisition ta 31 Decernber 2019, Viteos Deferred income Incormne 766
contribution to the revenue and adjusted EBITA to the Group's Currert tax liabilities Casl 3.035
financial statements is EUR 26.3 rillion and EUR 14.1 million Trade payables Cost 675
respectively. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, Other payables Cost 3.55%
managernent estimates that consolidated revenue for the Liabilities ' - 75988
period ended 31 December 2019 would have further increased
by EUR 24.0 million and adjusted EBITA by EUR 7.8 million. Totalidentifizble et assets © 38751

at fair value
Identifable assets acquired and lLiabilities assumed
The fair value of the assets and liabilities were defined as a fair 1 The Fair valiation methad metiensd For cach inancial pastian is the mast
proxy of the market value. The following table summarises the typical for cach categary applied at tie acquisitan.
¢ Trade reconvabes at acquisiion amounted to EUR 4.8 mildon based on the

recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at . ‘
contractual armount and a bmited arount of expected credit Inss

the acquisition date and valued on fair valuc:

Consideration transferred and restricted share issue
The total consideration was EUR 259,451 thousand and
transferred in cash.

Intertrust NV, issued 567,750 shares wilh reslrictions subject to
continuous employment on shares which were granted ta key
managament of Viteos transferring to Intertrust ("Roll-over
plan”). The Graup has recognised in the equity these restricted
shares on a nominal value of EUR 0.60, ano will build the
reserves for the fair value of these shares within the upcoming 3
years based on the IFRS 2 requirements for post-combination
benefits. See more details on the cost in Note 7.2,

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as
follows:
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(EUR 000) 2019
Cansideration transferred 259,457
Fair value of identifiable net assets 138.751)
Goodwil T " 220,700

The consideration was transferred in cash.

Acquisition related expenses

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of EUR 7,775
thousand related to external legal fees and due diligence costs.
These costs have been recognised in other operating cxpenses
in the Group's consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Impact on cash flow

(EUR 000) 2019
Consderalion transferred T0E5451)
Cash acquired (excluding cash on behalf of clients) 9257
Acqursmon s e e T e e Cshina]
Repayment of loans (37,1517
Totalimpact cash t287.345)

 This repayment 15 ncluded in the "Repayment of laars and barawings banks” Lne
n Lhe Consalidated statement of cash Mlows.

ABN AMRO's Escrow and Settlement business
On 7 February 2019 Intertrust announced the signing of the
acquisition of ABN Amro's Escrow and Settlement services
business. The transaction was approved by the regulator and
campleted on 1 November 2019, It does not have a material
impact on the Company's financial positicn or results and in
accordance with IFRS3 no further information is disclosed.

Wells Fargo Trust Corporation Limited

On 13 December 2019, the Group acquired a part of the Wells
Fargo Group, which operates in the UK. It does not have a
rnaterial impact en the Company's financial position or results
and in accordance with IFRS3 no further informaticn is
disclased.

2018

On 2 July 2018, the Group acquired Seed Outsourcing Pty Ltd
{"seed Outsourcing”). Seed Outsourcing is a boutique Australian
corporate and fund services firm, providing corporate secretarial,
director, domiciliation and payroll services to private equity and
real estate fund managers. Intertrust has been working with
Seed Qutsourcing for more than five years, enabling its global
clients to grow their business in Australia and New Zealand.
Seed Qutsourcing is based in Sydney and the team consisted of
six (B) employees. The asset rocagnised was mainly attributable
to revenue from new customers. While this acquisition expands
Intertrust's global footprint it does not have a material impact
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on the Campany's financial position or results and in accordance
with IFRS3 no further information is disclosed. Australia is
included in the Rest of the World reporting segment.

15. Property, plant and equipment

lLerns of property, plant and equipment are measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and sccumutated
irmpairment losses,

Cost includes expenditure Lhat is directly altfbuotable to the
acquisilion of the asset and all costs directly attributabie W
bringing the asset to wark:ng condition for its intended se.
Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant
and equipment and borrow:ng cost, if the recognition
criterra are met. When significant pats of property, plant
and equipment are required £o be replaced inintervals, the
Group recagnises such parts as individual assels with specific
useful lives and depraciation, respectively. Al other repair
and rmaintenance costs are recagnised 0 profit or loss as
incurred,

Regarding right- of -use assats, at inception of a conract,
the Craup assesses whether a contract conveays the rght to
contral the use of an identified asset for a period in
cxchange for considoration, in which casc it is classified as a
lease. The Group recognises a rigit-of-use asset {lease
asset) ard a tease lability at the lease commiencement
date.

Right-of-use assets are rmeasured at cost cemprising the
following:

e the amount of the intial measurement of lease lability,;
® any lease payrnents made at or before the
cornmencement date less any lease incentives received;

® any inilial direct costs, and

¢ estimated restoration costs.

The lease asset is subsequently deprecialed using the
straight-line method from the commencernent date to the
end of the uselullife of the right-of -use assel, considered
to be indicated by the strategic lease term assessed by
manacement. The lease asset is periodically adjusted for
certain remeasurements of the lease liabiliy and
impairment losses (if any.

A sublease is a tansaction for which an underlying asset is
re- leased by Intertrust (intermediate lessor) to its
customners, and the ‘ease (head lease’) between the head
lossor and Intortrust remains in effect. Intertrust classify the
sublease as a inance lease or an operating lease as follows:
{a) if the head lease is a short-torm lease, Intertrust, as a
lessee, has accounted for using the practical expedieont,
the sublease is classified 25 an operating lease.
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(b) othenwise, the sublease is classihed as l=ase asset
ceducting frorm Lhe right-07-use asset value.

Deprec ation for ary other property. plant and equipment is
czleuiated to write off ene cost of property, plant and
ecuipment wss thor residual values on 3 straight-iine bass

over their expectec useful Lves as folows:

Leasehold improverments 5 to 15 years —~ not exceeding tho
rematning lease terms:

Equiprnent & motor vehicles 3 to 10 years;

IT equipment 3 ta 5 yoars.

Anitem of property. plant and equ prment and any

sign ficant part inilially -ecognised, is derecogn'sed upon
dispasal ar when no future cconomic benefils are expectad
from s use o disposal. Any gain or l0ss arsing on
aarecognition of the asset (calculatod as the difference
between the nel disposal proceeds and the carmying
arnount of the asset) is ncluded n the proft ar loss when
the assel is derecognised,

The assets’ residuat values, useful lives and methods of
aepreciation are reviewed At each financia. period end, and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Transition accounting

The Graup has adapted IFRS16 in accordance with the modified
retrospective transitional approach (see details in note 3.1.). The
group applies the standard anly Lo leases which were previously
identified as leases under IAS17 and IFRIC4 in accordance with
the practical expedient allowed under the standard, The leases
within the group cornprises anly of buildings, car and other
equipment leases. The adoplion of this standard results in leases
being recognised cn the balance sheet, except for short~term
and low-value leases, which caused a significant decrease af
the rental and increase in the depreciation expenses in the
staterment of profit or loss in 2019 . The naot transiticning leases
rernained in the staternent of profit or loss as rental expenses.
At the date of transitioning the group alse adjusted the right-
of-use asset value with the previously recagnised anerous lease
provisions by an amount of EUR .3 million,

Movements

As at 1 January 2019, the group recagnisad right-of-use assets
of EUR 75,9 million, assets under sublease of EUR 16.4 millicn
and a corresponding lease liability of EUR 88.7 million which
resulted in an increase in equity of EUR 4.4 million. The assets
are accounted under other non-current and current fnanciat
assets and the liabilitics are accounted under other non-current
and current financial iabilities in the balance sheet of the Group.
Other than above mentioned onerous provisions impact,
working capital was impacted as a result of payments made

before the transition date or rent free periods impacting the
period after transitioning. This impact was below

EUR 0.3 millicn. The movement during the financial year was
included in the movernent schedule of all tangibles.

Adjusted

1 January IFRS16 1January

{EUR million) 2018 adjustment 2019
Non-current assets Tasear7orooz T s7A 59
Current assets 254,521 (381) 284,160
Total Assets 1770938 91,541 1862479
Tatal Equity A18804 4,427 /23,230
Non-current liabilities 8h0. 511 71,606 926,057
Current liabilities 197224 15,468 2.2,652
Total Equity and Liabilities  1,770938 91,541 1862479

The following table shows how the Group's commitments
transitioned to the lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

1 January
(EUR million) 2019
Operating .ease commitment as at 31 December 20182
disclosed in the Group's consalidated financial statements 63,727
- Recognition exemnption for leases of low-vatue assets 11039)

- Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at
1 January 2019 (16 718)

- Recognition exermption for leases w.th less than 12

rmonths of lease term at transivon and other reasons 1405)
- Service contract not transitioning (6.229)
- Extension opticns reasonably certain ta be exercised 49,339
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 88,669
ot e T e 7001
Non-current 71,668

The impact to the statement of prohit or loss for the periad
ended 31 December 2019 is an increase in EBITA of

EUR 0.6 million, including the increase in depreciation cost of
EUR 16.9 milticn, in addition to this an increase in finance cost
of EUR 2.7 million. Total negative impact on the proft after tax
was ELUR 2.0 million.
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The movements of all tangible assets are as follows:

(EUR 000) . Leasehald
improvements
T e et e e e
Accumulated depreciatior and impairment Losses
Balance at 1 January 2018 817
Business combinations, inceming entities 12
Additions 1444
Disposals -
Depreciation of the period (1,885)
Effect of maovements in exchange rates 26
Movementsin 2018 7 a03)
Cost 13,754
Accurmnulated depreciation and impairment losses (6.040)
Balance at 31 Decembar 2018 T 3m4 T

Transition Lo IFRS16 -

Restated balance at 1 January 2019 I FAPY
Business combinations, incomng entities 345

Additions 1,258

Disposals/Remeasurernent recognised in the

Statermnent of profit ar loss (17)
Depreciauon of the period (7.437)
Effect of rmovernents in exchange rates 120

st 1H078

Accurnulated depreciation and impairment losses [6.490)
Balance at 31 Decemnber 2019 T 88

No interest costs have been capitalised in property, plant and
equipment during the period under review,

16. Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill

Goodwill that anises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is
presented with intangible assets, For the measurernenl of
agoodwill at iniial recognition, sec Note 14,

After initial recagnition, goodwill is measured aL cost less
accumutated impairment losses, In respoct af equity -
accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying armount of the invesiment, and any
impairment lass is allocated to the carrying amount of the
equity-accounted investee as a whole,

Intangible assets acquired separately

intangible asscts that are acquired separately by the Group
and have finite useful lives are imeasured at cost less

100 Annual Repart 2019
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Equipment & . Right-of-use
i IT equipment Total
or vehicles

(8.386) - (15.858)
6218 T - T Hearo

- 20 - 32

386 1.461 - 3.291

m (23) - (24)

{594) (2.746)} - (5.225)

7 3 - 36
"""""" (02 ~ (ressy T o (eem)
5,507 14,056 - 33,317
(3,574) {9,123) - (18.737)

- 75,901 75,501
TTp3zT T 433 75901 T epas
461 1.591 54966 2365

384 2336 5277 79855

(2} - {430 (499]

(653) [2,458) [16.334) (22.427)

7 1313 1851 1,947

197 © 1438 15730 17,239

f,3A6 17 A0 0% 493 112,542
{4,216] (11,249) (16,874) (40,829)
AL 6377 91e2a 107713

accurnutated amosisation and accumulated impairment
losses. The Group does not have intangible assets with
indefinfte useful lves.

Amortisation is recagnised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over Lheir estimated useful lives from the date that
they are avaiiable for use, The amorlisation expense is
recognised in the consalidated statement of profit and loss
i the "Armorbisalion of acquismion-relatea intangible assets”
caplion, The estinnaled uselcl Gves gre as Fulluws,

¢ Other intangible assets 1 to [ years;

* Acquisition related software 5 years;

¢ Brand name 20 years;

& Custamer relationships 8 1o 17 years.

Amortisation methods, estimated useful lives and residuat
value, are reviewed at ach reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted far on a prospective basis.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Imtangible assets acaqared in a business combination and
racagnised separatey from goodwill are iritially recognised
at their fair value at the acqu silion date twh chiis regarded
&% thowr cost).

(EUR 000) Goodwill Brand name
P
Accumulated depreciatior. and

impairment losses - (7.869)
Balance at 1 January 2018 948521 25266
Business combinations,

Incoming entities 225 -
Addit ons - -
Armortisation of the period - (1,665)
Effect of movements in

oxchange rates 8.828 312
Movementsin2018 9053 (1353
Cast 957,574 33,562
Accumnulated depreciation and

impairment losses - (9.649)
Balance at 31 Decernber 2018 957,574 23,913
Business combinations,

incorming entities 222406 -
Additions

Arnardsation of Lhe period - {1.695)
Filect of maoverments in

exchange rates 15,705 277
Movementsin 2019 237661 {1,423)
Cast 1,195,255 33949
Accurnulated depreciation and

impairment losses - 171.459]
Balance at 31 Decernber 2019 1,195.235 220490

During the year, the Group invested in other intangible assets
for an amount of EUR 7,770 thousand (2018 EUR 6,325
thousand).

At 31 December 2019 an amount of EUR 432 thousand (2018
EUR 62 thousand) remains payable on the balance sheet.

For the newly acquired intangibles, please see Note 14.7.

The brand name "Intertrust’ is a registered trade name for all
countries in which the Company has operational activities or will
expand in the near future. The rermaining useful life on average
is 13 years as at 31 December 2019.

Subsequant Lo nival recogr.tion, intangible assels acquired
irn a business combination are measured al cost less
accumolated amortisation 2nd acoumulated impairment
losses, on the same hasis as ntang’ble assels that are
acquired separately.

The movernents of the intangible assets and goodwill are as

follows:
Custormer Acquisition  Other intangible Total
ota
relationships  related software assets
g e e s e e
{142,491) - (22,287) (172.647)
B S A
5076 - - 5,301
- - 6,325 6,325
(39.644) - (5.877) (47,180)
4,516 - (14) 13,642
; (30052) S o 440 Y (21,‘)12)
654,455 - 43,547 1,689,138
(184.106) - (28,258) (222013)
T470349 o T T 4288 1467125
648/3 11,689 661 300,684
7770 7770
(42.300) (1.580) {6, 164) {h2,249)
7.744 ) {2 RN
Toreez T a3a1s T 2268 279440
727351 14,689 52023 2023247
(229.180) (1.574) (34,463) (275,682)
“Ua9s171 0 13415 17554 1,746,565

The customer relationship is the Campany's client portfolic
acquired and has an average remaining useful life of 11 years as
at 31 December 2019,
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16.1. Impairment testing for cash-
generating units containing goodwill

groups of CGLIs that are expected to benefit from the
synergees of Lhe combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets , ,
Irmpairment losses recognised 10 respect of CGUs are

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financdial assets,
ather than work in progress. current and deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting dale Lo delerrning whethar
there is any indication of impairment. IF 2ny such indication
axisLs, then the assat’s recoverable amount is estimated.

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs). and then to
reddce the camyirg amounts of the other assets in the CGU
{yroup of CGUS) on a pro rara basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impaliment loss i3 reverssed anly to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does nat excead
Lhe carrying amount that would have beon determined, net

Coodwil is tested anually for impairment. Animpairrment
lass is recogrised of the carrying amount of an assel or
cash-generating unil {CGU) exceeds iLs recoverable

amaunt. ) e o : A .
of deprecialion or amortisation, if no impairment loss had

, heen recagnised.
Thie recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the grealer of E

its value in use ang its fair value less costs Lo sell. |-
assessing value in use the estmaced future cash flows are
aiscounted to their present valLe using a post-tax dscount
rate that reflects currant markat assessments of tho time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGUL

For the purpose of impairment testing, gacdwill is allocated to
the Group's operating divisions. That is nct the same as our
reportable segments disclosed under Note 5. In some cases the
Group identified its cash-generating units for goodwill at one
level below that of a repartable operating segment. Cash flows
at this level are substantially independent frem the other cash
flows and this is the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
ty the Executive Commitee.

For the purpose of impeirment test ng, assets are grouped
togother Into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows frormn corlinuing use that are Largely
irdependent of the cash Aflows of other assats or CGLs.

Gaodwill acquired in a business combmation is allscated to The agyregate canying amounts of goodwill sllocated to each

CGU are as follows:

) Batance at
Balance at Business Movements
o1} 2019 binati h N 31 December
@
(EUR 000) anuary combinations  exchange rates 2019
CGlNetherdands T TheaTss 360 - 307974
CGU Luxembourg 137,211 28,602 - 165,813
CGU Amaericas excluding Viteos »35.037 13,495 AAR2 251009
CGU Jersey 175547 18,8385 9023 204,453
CGU Viteos - 90,497 - 9,497
CGU Rest. of the world excluding lersay 147994 30353 1,700 175,549
Total C 957,574 222 456 " 15,205 1195235
. Balance at
Balance at Business Maovements
L 31 December
01 January 2018 cornbinations  exchange rates
(EUR 000) 2018
COUNetherlands oeszes T - 268,788
CGU Luxembourg 137,211 - - 137,211
CGU Americas! 222,486 - 10,546 233032
CGU Jersey 176,991 - (1.444) 175547
COU Rest of the world excluding jersey 143,045 225 (274) 142986
Total S "948.521 225 8.828 957574

T Athough the rew segrmentation was introduzed in Q1 2018, all CGU Cayman related goodwill was transferreq to CGU Americas without any further reclassifcation from

CGl Rest of the world.
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The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined for
the six cash generating units as at 31 Decernber 2019 and for
the five cash generating units as at 31 December 2018. For
each of the CGls, the recoverable amaount is individually and
collectively higher than its carrying amount.

Key assumptions used in discounted cash flow
projection calculations

The recoverable amount of all CGUs has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
excluding Viteos where Fair value less cost of disposal
("FVLCOD") model was used. The year 1 cash flow projections
are based on detailed financial budget, the year 2 to 3 on
detailed outlook and the years 4 to 5 on estimates, prepared by
management for each cash generating unit based on
expectation of future autcomes taking into account past
experience. Tha revenue growth rate assurned beyond the
initial 5-year period is between 0.2%-1.4% (?018: 2.0%), that
has been based on the expected long term inflation rate.

The values assigned to the key assumptions used in the
calculations are as follows for Lthe years 4 to 5

«  Market growth: between 1.5% to 6%;

« Annual Margin Evolution: Improvement 0.0%-0.6%.

QOther key assumpticns used in the calculations are:

+ Terminal value growth rate between 0.2%-1.4%;
« Discount rate: between 6.42% to 7.85% (2018: 7.07% to
8.30%).

Discount rate

Discount rates represent a post-tax measure that reflect
management’s estimate of the time value of money and the
risks specific to each unit that are not already reflected in the
cash flows. In determining appropriate discount rates for each
uniL. regard has been given to the industry average weighted
average cost of capital, The WACC takes into account both
debt, lease and equity since the implementation of IFRS16 from
1 january 2019, The cost of equity is derived from the expected
return on investrment by the Group’s investors. The cosl of debt
is determined by adding a debt risk premiurn ta the risk free
bonds rate with a maturity of 20 years. CGU-specific risk is
incarporated by applying industry beta facters that are
evaluated annually based on publicly available market data. The
cost of lease liabilities is determined with reference to the
median credit rating of the peers of Intertrust N.V. adjusted by a
ane notch up, given that leases are backed by collateral and
therefore should reflect an estimated credit rating on secured
debt, in line with the methodology used to calculate the IBRs
for the Group's leases.

o

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Managerment believes that any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable armount of the CGUs,

17. Depreciation and amortisation

(EUR 000) Note 2019 2018

Amortisation of acquisition-reiated intengible
assets 16 (460/5) (41.309)
Amortisation of other intangible asscts 16 (6.164)  (5871)
Depreciation of property, olant and

equiprnant 15 (22.427) [5225)
Depreciation and amortisation ~ (74666) (52,405)

18. Investment in equity-accounted
investees

The Group's intarests in equity-accounted investee
comprise only interest in one associate.

Assaciate is an ontity in which the Group has significant
infuence, but not control or jomt contral, over the inancial
and operating policies.

Investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method. IUis recognised in Ually al cost. which includes
Lransaclions costs. Subsequent Lo initia, recognition, the
cansoidaled fimancizl staterments include the Group's share
of Lha profl or wss and othor commprehansive income o) the
equity-accountod mvestee, after adjustrments Lo align the
accounting palcies with those of the Group, fror the dale
Lhal significant influence commengces until the date that
significant influence ceases.

When ihe Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an
equity -accourted nvestee, the carrying amount of the
investiment, including any long-ternm interests that form
part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recagnition of
furthor losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Croup has an obligation or has made payrments on behalf of
the investee.

The Group's share of profit in its equity-accounted investees far
the year 2019 was a gain of EUR 44 thousand (2018: gain of
EUR 78 thousand). In 2019 the associale declared dividend of
EUR 130 thousand and cash of EUR 130 thousand was
collected relating to 2018 declaration (2018: EUR 125
thousand, cash of EUR 75 thaousand in 2018 relating to dividend
declared for 2017).
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The Group's equity-accounted investee is not publicly listed and
consequentially does not have published price quotaticns. As
the equity-accounted investee is not material to the Group, no
further information is provided ather than the details below.

{EUR D0D)

Country of incorparation

Percentage ownership interest
Current
Total

Current

liabilities

Net assets (100%)

Group's share of net assets

Revenues

Expenses

Profit / (loss) (100%)
Group’s share of profit

" Structured Finance Managément

Sz FasanciNGT oo (LR TS RN

The Group has no commitment in providing additional financing
to any of its associates, The (estimated) full year revenue and
net profits of the associate and its assets and liabilities are as
foltows:

Balance at 31 December 2018
Structured Finance Management

Balance at 31 December 2019

Italia SRL! tealia SRL?
lLaly lealy
50%, 0%
718 1.065

/67

' Thus associate has a 31 Decernber year-end. Data fo- calculating the result of associate, based on the equity method. is obtained from January thiaugh te Decemnber. The
summarnsed financial infasmation presented above 15 based o managemnents estimates for Lhe year ended 31 December 2019,

¢ Data for cateulating the resull of associae, based on the equily method, s ablainec fram January through ta December. The summiarised financial informat an presenied

above is based ar: fnancal statements for the vear ended 30 Seplemiber 2018
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Section 5
Financing, financial risk management

and financial instruments

This section includes notes related to financing items such as equity and borrowings as well as inancial risk management and
financial instruments. Related items such as earnings per share catculation as well as financial income and expenses, are included in

this section.

Dividend per sharg Net debt Laverage ratic
- ': -‘ ‘3 g - 9 6
0.635 - 9759 SR

FUR . ©in EUR million (excluding
: IFRS16)
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19. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances in bank
accounts, cast an hand and cash in short-term deposits
with maturities of three months or loss.

(EUR 000} 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Bark balsnces T a3 127,759
Short termn deposits 775 26
Cash on hand i 13
Total U T 121044 127803
Of which:

Cash attributable ta the Cormpany 110,278 105,505
Cash held on behalf of clients 10.326 22298
Tatal T T TR 6ad T 127,803

Bank batances includes cash in current and call accounts and
exclude a cash pool balance of EUR 38,062 thousand classified
under Loans and borrowings. See Note 20, The net of cash
attributable to the Company and the cash pool balance
amounted to EUR 72,156 thousand as at 31 December 2015.

Cash heid on behalf of clients is driven by funds ta pay
government fees on their behalf, intellectual praperty activity
and other advances with iLs corresponding liabilities in “Other
payables - liabilities for cash held on behalf of clients”,

20. Loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of
the Group's interest-bearing loans and horrowings, which are
measured at amartised cost. For more infarmation about the
Group's exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity
risk refer to Note 23.3.

For more information about the embedded derivate, the carly-
repayment option relating to our senior notes, please refer to
Neote 21.1.

The Group has fully refinanced it's debt under the 2015 and
2016 Seniar Facilities Agreements in November 2018 by the
issuance of EUR 500 million senior notes (Maturing in
November 2025), a USD 200 million term loan, a GBP

100 million term loan and a EUR 150 million undrawn Revolving
Credit Facility (all maturing in Novemnber 2023).

In 2019 due to the acquisitions. the Group entered into a new
agreement of USD 150 million term loan {maturing in june
2022, Facility A3) and drawn down USD 99 million from the
existing Revolving Cradit Facility entered in 2018 of which
USh 65 million was outstanding per the end of the year.

The financing arrangements are on an unsecurad basis,

20.1. Terms and debt movement schedule
Termns and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

(EUR 00Q)
et e e e e ettt et e et e e e e L+ s e e e et ot et e -
Debt arrangernent Currency . Initial interest rate Repayment  31.12.2019  31.12.2018
maturity
Principal value S
Senior Notes EUR 2025 3.375% Bullet 500 000 500.000
Facility A1 UsD 2023 Libor + 2.25% a)  Buller 178031 174.672
Facilily A2 GBP 2023 Libor + 2.25% al  Bullet 114536 111.7941
Facility A3 usD 2022 Libor + 1.9% a)  Bullet 133523 -
Revolving credit facility Multicurreney 2023 libor + 1.85% + Utibsation Fee a)  Revolving 57,860 -
Negative balances in Cashpool Multicurrency 38,062 -
T T T T e e e e GeEai T Tacaes”
Financing costs 19057} (10.185)
Early redemption vajuation adjustment 1.082 1,082
olamie T 1017037 777.360
Total current T esgol 2433
Totalnon-current T 918346 774927

{a) If the Libar rates are below 0%, the rate is 0%, The margin
can change depending on leverage ratio.
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The schedule below shows the movements of the bank

facilities during the period:

(EUR 00Q)

Balance at 01 Janvary 2018
Draw down facilitics
Repayrnents

Effect of exchange rate

Balance at 31 Decemnber 2018

Balance at 01 January 2018
Capitalised financing costs
Amortised financing casts

Effect of exchange rate

Accrued Interest and commitment fees

Balance at 01 January 2018

Valuation adjustment’

Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 01 January 2019

Draw down facilities

Repayments

Effect of exchange rate

Balance at 31 December 2019

Balance at 01 January 2019
Capilalised finarcing costs
Arnortised financing costs

Eftect of exchange rate

Ncerued Interest and commitment fees

Balance at 31 December 2019 o

Balance at 01 January 2019

Valuation adjustment!

Balance at 31 December 2019

Balance at 31 December 2015

Principal value

‘Met

CPrincipalvalue

Financing costs

G e e
" Early redemption valuation adjustment
" Early redemption valuation adjustment

Principal value

Financing costs

Financing costs
' Earle redéfﬁpﬁon valuation adj:LrJrstr'nenrf

Eady redemption valuation adjustment

© 776.830
782,802
(782.906)
2,737
786,463

(6,088)
(13.104)
6,949
)
2067
(10,185)

1.082
S
777360

786,463
259,556
(30.471)

9,464
T 1035012
""(10,185)
[1.767)
2,558

(19

356

1,017,037

* The carly redempt.on oplion was at inual recognition recogrused ar fair va.ue and subsequently measured at amortised cost, AL inception, the adjustrrert was made and

pa-allel we recagnised a dnancial other asset (option] which was subsequ ently vatued an FYTPL

* This repeyment is included in the "Repayment of .cans and borrowings banks” tne in the Conselidated statement. of cash Aows,

On 7 Novermnber 2018, the Company and Intertrust Group B.V.
signed the 2018 Senior Facilities Agreement between, amang
others, Intertrust Group B.V, as original borrower, the Company
as parent and original guarantor, ABN AMRO Bank N.V.,
Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, Goldman Sachs Bank LISA,
HSBC Bank ple. ING Bank NV, Mizuho Bank Led, MUFG Bank
{(Europe) N.V., National Westminter Bank ple, Sumitamo Mitsui

Banking Corporation, AB Group (UK) plc and BAWAG PSK Bank
as arrangers, the financial institutions named therein as original
lenders and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A, as agent.,

In 2013 due to the acquisitions, the Group entered into a new
agreement of USD 150 million term loan (maturing in June
2022, Facility A3) and has drawn down USD 99 million from the
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existing Revolving Credit Facility of which USD 65 million was
oulstanding per the end of the year.

Under the facilities agreement there is a requirement to ensure
that the leverage ratio in respect of any relevant period on or
after 31 December 2018 shall nat exceed 4.50. For the year
ended 31 December 2019 the covenant was met with a
headroom of 11.9% (3.96) (2018: 25.0%). Taking into account
the pessibility to make use of the "acquisition spike” the
covenant headroom would amount to 20.7%.

The 2018 Senior Facilities Agreement is quaranteed by the
Company, Intertrust Group 8V, Intertrust (Netherlands) B.V..
Intertrust Administrative Services B.V.. Intertrust Management
B.V., Intertrust Corporate Services {Cayrnan) Limited, Intertrust
SPV (Cayran) Limited. Intertrust Fiduciary Services (Jersey)
Limited and Intertrust International Management Limited.

The 2018 Senior Facilities Agreement includes certain
restrictions on, amaong other things, our ability to pay dividends
and make other restricted payments (such as payments in
relation to share buybacks), The table below indicales the
restrictions to dividends and share buybacks:

Pro forma leverage Maximum annual dividend / share buyback

> 4.50x '5.00% of Market Capitalisation
3.50% - 4.50% 7.50% of Market Capitalisation
< 3.50% Unrestricted

21. Other financial assets and other
financial liabilities

Financial instruments

Classification and measurement
The Group has applied IFRS9 as of 1 January 2018.

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a inancial asset Is classified as
measured at amortised cost, FVOC - debt instrument,
FVOCI - equity instrument or FVTPL. Financial assets are
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business modet for managing
financial assets, in which case all sffected financial assers are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period
following the change in the business madal.

Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recagnises teans and receivables and
deposis on the date that they are originated. All other
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financiat assets (including assers designated at fair value
through profit or loss) are recogqrised inilially on the trade
date, which is the date that the Group becormes a party 7o
the cantractual provisions of the mstrument.

The Group cerecagnises a financial asset when the
cantractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it trarsfors the rights to recaive the contractual cash flows n
a transaction in which substantiatly alk the risks and rewards
of awmnersiip of the iinandial asset are transferred. Any
interest in such transferred inancial asset that is created ar
retainad by the Group is recognised as a separato asset or
liability.

Financial assets and financial liabdities are offset and the nel
amount presontad in the staterment of financial position
when, and only when, Lhe Graup currently has a tegally
enforceable right ta set off the amounts and it intends
either ta settle them on a net basis or ta realise the asset
and settle the tiability simultaneously.

Financial assets on amartised cost

Loans and recersxibles are financial assels measured on
amorbised cost with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market, Such assets arg
recogrised initially at fair value plus any directly attributabie
ransactien coses Thease assets are subsaquently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest mcthod. The
amaortised cost is reduced by impairment losses If applicable.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
irhpairment are recognised in profit or loss if any. Any gain or
lass on derecognition is recognised in profit o loss.

FVOC! financial assets

VOO Ainancial assets are non-derivative financial ausets
that are held for trading. or are not classified in any of the
abave calegories of financisl assets, FVOCT firancial assets
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable tramsaction costs.

These awsels are subsequently measured at fair value,
Dividends aie recognised as income in profit o loss unless
the dwidend clearly represents 2 secovery of part of the cost
of the invesgment, Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OC and are never reclassihed ta profit or loss if
equity instruments or reclassed to profit or loss in case of
debt instrurnents.

When investments in equity instrurmnents do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cast.
VOCT fnancial assets comprise aquity sharcs.
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Fimancial liabilities

Francial sabiities are ciassified as rmeasured aw amortised
cost or FYTPL, A Snancial liadility s classifed as at FVTPL ifiL
is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative cricis

designated as such onmitial recagnition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains ard
wsses, Including any interest expense, are recognised in
profit ar toss, Other financiat Labilkios are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the offective nterest
method. Interest expense and forcign excharge gains 2nd
lesses are recoginised i profit or loss, Any gain or loss on
aerccognition is 2lso recognised in profit ar loss.

The Group gerecognises a financial lizbilily when its
contractual obligatiors erc discharged or canceliod, or
expire. The Group aso dorecagnisos a financial lability when
its terms are modified and tha cash lows of Lthe maodihed
ligbility are substantialy diferent, in which case a now
financiat labihity based on the rmaedified terms is recognised
at fair value.

On derecogrution of a inancial liability, the difference
between Lhe carning amount extinguishec and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets
transferred or labilities assurmned) is recognised in profit or
loss,

The Group classifies non-derivative iinancial tiabilitics into
the ather financial {iabilities category. Such inancial
{iabilities arc rccognised initially at fair value less any drectly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recagnition, thesea finandal labilities are measured at
amortisad cost using the offective interest method. Other
financial liasilities compese leans and borrowings and trade
and other payables.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Tie Group inmially recognises debt securnities issued and
subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated.
Al other financial liabilities (including tabilities designated at
fair vaitle throuigh profit or loss) are recognsed initially on
the trade date. which is the date that the Group becomes a
parly Lo the contractual provisians of Lthe instrument.

Derivative financial instruments (assets and
liabilities), including hedge accounting and
early redemption option

Tha Group ho'ds derivative financial instruments to hedge its
inEesest rate risk exposures, Other than the hedges, when
the Group issued seniar nates with an carly redomption
option, the ‘nitial value of the option is accounted for and a

rnew gervat ve fnanciat asset is recognised at faw value, The
assel s defined as errbedded derivalve of the sen‘or nates.

Subsequenty the inzncial liability is amortised through
profic 2n< loss as a financial cost adjustment, The iinancial
asset s measured subscquently as FVTPL

Derivatives are initially recogrised at fair value any directly
attributable transzcion costs are recognised i profic or loss
as they are incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition.
derivatives are measured at fair velue and the accounting
for the changes therein depend on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument or nat,

The Group applics the following with regard ta the
embeddad derivatives in Lhe hybrid contract (2.g. early
redemption option relating Lo tha seriar notes). Crmbedded
derivatives are seporated from the host contract and
accounted for soparalely if the host contract is not a
financial assei and the following criteria are mel:

e Lhe economic characlerisiics and risk of the embedded
derivalive are nat clasely related to the economic
characterstics and risks of the host contract:

e g separales instrumenl with the sarne Lerms as the
ermbedded derivative would meet the definiion of a
denvate: and

e the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognisad in profit or loss,

If an emhbedded derivative is separated from the hybrid
contract, the host contract is accounted for in accordance
with the determ ned policies for sich a contract. The
embedded derivative is acccunted for in accordance with
the Group's princinles for the applicable derivatives.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivalive is designated as a cash flow hedging
instrument, the effective portion of cnanges in fair value of
the derivative is recagnised in other comprehensive incorme
and accumulatec in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective
portion of changes in the Tair value of Lhe derivative is
recognised immediately in profit or toss.

The amaount accumulated in equity is retained in other
camprehensive incame and reclassilied to profit or loss in
Lhe same period or periods during whreh the hadged item
affects profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the critearia for
hedge accounting. exgires or is sold, terminated or
exercised, or the designation is reveked, then hedge
accounting 15 discontinued prospoctively. If the forocasted
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transaction is no longer expectad o accur, then Lhe
armount accumutated in equicy is reclassified Lo proft or loss,

Other non-trading derivatives

When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a
hedge relationship that qualifies far hedge accounting, alt
changes in its fair value are recognised immed.ately in profit

ar loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The lease liabilities are financial liabitities measured at
arnortised cost, They are initially measured at the present
value of cutstanding tease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if Lhal rate cannol be
reacily determined, the group's incremental borrowing rate.
Generally, the group uses its incremental barrowing rate
{"IBR") g5 the discount rale. The tease liabilivy is rneasured
at amorlised cost using the effective interest method and is
rermeasurod when there is a change in future leass
payments arising from a change in an index or rale or if the
group changes its assessment of whether it will axercise a
purchase, extension or termination option, A correspanding
adjustment s made Lo Lthe carmying amount of the right-of -
use assel with any excess over the carrying amount of the
asset being recognised in profit or foss, The groun has
clected not to recagnise lease assets and lease liahilives for
shaori—term loases (leases with a term of 12 monkbs er less)
and teases of low-value assets, including 1T equiprment. Tha
yroup recognises the lease payments associated with these
taases as an expense on a straight-Une basis aver the lease

term.

Nssets and liabilities arising from a lease are inidially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liakilitics include
the net present value of the foliowing lease payiments:

s fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payrents),
less any lease incantives raceivable;

& variable lease payment that are hased on anindex or a
rate,

® e execise price of a purchase option if the lessee iy
reasanably certain 0 exarcise that option, and

® payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease Lerm refllects the lessee exercising thal option.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets not classified at fair value through profit or

loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted investee,
are assessed at cach reporting date to determine whether

there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset
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is imparred 1f there is objective evidence of impairment as a
resull of one or mare events Lhal occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset, and that loss event(s) had an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
tnat ¢an be estimated relably.

Objective cvidence that inancial assets are impaired
includes default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of
an amount due to the Group on torms that the Group
would not consider othenwise, indications that a debtor or
issuer will erter bankruptey, adverse changes in the
DaymMent status of banowers or issuers. eeonomic
conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance
ol an active market for a security. In addition, for an
investrnent in an cquity securily, a significant or prolonged
decling inits fair value helow its cost is objective evidence
al impairrnient,

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The Group considers evidence of imparment for inanciat
assels measured al amorlised cosl {loans and receivables)
at both a specfic asset and collective level, All individually
significant assels are assessed {or specific impairment. Those
found not to be specifically impaired are Lthen collectively
assessed for any Impairment that has been incurred but not
yet identified.

Agsets that are not individually signdicant are colicctivoly
assessed for impairment by grouping together assets with
TN Tisk charagieristics

In assessing collective impairment, the Group yses historical
trends of the probabitity of default, the timing of recoveries
and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
managerment's judgoment as to whether curent cconamic
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are
likely to be greater or tess than suggested by historical
rends.

Animpairment lass in respect of a financial asset measured
al amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrymig arnount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s ariginal effective
interest rale. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowance account against loans and
receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be
recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised causes the srmount of irmpairment oss,

FVOCi financial assets

Impairment fosses on FVOCH financial assets are recognised
by reclassifying the losses accumutated in the fair value
resenve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is
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reclasaified [-om equty wo profit or loss is the difference
belween the acguisition cas., net of any principal
repayment and amortsaticn, and the curent fair va.ue, less
ary impairment loss recagnised previous.y i7 proft or loss.
Chanrges in cumulative impairment .osses aitrbutable o
applicatior af the offective intercst methoc are reflecteo as
a companent of interest InCome,

i, in a subsedeent period tae fair vatuc of 2n impaired
FVOC debt seourity increases and the increasa can be
related ohjectively to an evant occurnng after the
impairment (ass was recognised, then the immpairment [0ss s
reversed, with the amaount of the reversal recogniscd in
praft or loss, However, any subsequent recoverny in Lhe fair
value of an impaired FVOCE oguily socuricy is recagnised Lo
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is roversad
through peofit or Lass.

21.1. Other financial assets

(EUR 000} 31122019  31.12.2018

Financial instruments at FvTPL T T T T T
Early redemation option 24523 817

Total financial instruments at FVTPL 23,523 817
Financial instruments at FVOCT

Unquoted equity shares 294 334

Total financial instruments at Fvod 295 334
Financial assets at amortised cost
Lease assets 16427 -

| aans and receivables 174 138

Bank guarantees 595 319

Guarantee deposits 47227 1,317

Total financial assets at amortised cost Co21523 1774
Total cther financial assets 45347 2925

Totalcoremt "2453 0 521
Total nan-current 42888 2,404

Cash flow hedges

See details in other inancial liahilities.

Financial instrurnents at fair value through
Income Statement

On 14 Novemnber 2018 the Group issued senior notes which
contains an early redemption cption. The option is fair valued
through the profit or loss. Initially recognised at the value of
EUR 1.082 thousand in Novernber 2018. The fair value gain
adjustment was recognised as a profit amounting to

EUR 22,706 thousand (2018 EUR 265 thousand). See further
details on refinancing in Note 20. The significant increase in the
value is caused by the reduction of long term interest rates and
credit risk margins in the market. The bond is trading around
105 which has significantly increased the value of the call
aption.

The Group entered into currency forward contracts in USD. The
forwards are fair valued through the statement of profit or loss
with an impact of a loss of EUR & thousand.

Subleases

Subleases are disclosed under current and non-current financial
assets. The Group recognised those subleases under the IFRS16
transition as at 1 Jenuary 2019, For more delails, please see
Note 15,

An amount of EUR 1,463 thousand relating Lo our lease assets
is included in the staternent of cash flows in inancing activily
(Change in financial lease liability/asset due to IFRS16)
offsetting the lease liability paymenits.

Guarantee depaosits

Includes quarantee deposits mainty for rent and utility contracts
held in banks or nan-financial institutions, These funds are
restricted.

Unquoted equity shares

Valued at FVTPL and includes participations in non-
consolidated companies and special purpose companies for
EUR 64 thousand (20718 EUR 66 thousand), shelf companies
for EUR 232 thousand (2018: EUR 266 thousand), deposits for
EUR 1.265 thousand (2018: EUR 148 thousand) and the new
financial lease assets as of 1 January 2019 amounting to

EUR 815 thouwsand as at 31 December 2019,

None of the "Other financial assets” are past due or impaired.

Bnnual Report 2019 111



, Consolidated Financial Statements

21.2. Other financial liabilities

(EUR 000) 31.12.2019  31.12.2018
Fair value -Hedging instrumerss

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge

liabilities 4977 1248
Total fair value - hedging instruments 4,977 1,248
Financial dabilities at FVvTPL

Farwards s -
Total finan esatfairvalve I

Lease liability
Gther fi
To

nancial liabilities

Total other financial isbilities
Total current

Significant estimates

The adoption of IFRS16 brings additional areas that require use
of judgement and estimates that are signifcant to the financial
statements as described below. Some leases of office buildings
contain extension oplions exercisable by the Group. Where
practicable, the Group secks to include extension options in
new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension
options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
lessors. The Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain to
exarcise the options at lease commencement and
subsequently, if thercis a change in circumstances within its
control. Such assessment involves managernent judgement and
estimate based on information at the time the assessments are
made.

Anather significant estimate is the weighted average lessee's
incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") applied to the lease liabilities
which derives also the value of the right-of-use assets, The IBR
was as at 1 January 2012 3.67% (31 Decemnber 2019: 3.56%),
On a lessor perspective in our subleases where the Group
recognised transitioned assets. the IBR was as at 1 January 2019
4% (31 Decernber 2019 4%),

Cash flow hedges

Includes interest rate swaps ta cover part of the fluctuations an
the floating interest on the USD and GBP debt. Cash flow
hedges relating te the previous financing (EUR, GBP and

USD debt) were settled in 2018 and the Group entered into
new cash flow hedges in 2018 for the floating rate debt
denominated in USD and GBP. Those hedges are still in place as
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at 37 December 2019. See further details on refinancing in
Note 20.

The USD and GBP hedges were assessed to be effective at
inception and throughout our reporting periods in 2019 and as
at 31 December 2019. Balance sheet position recagnised as
liabilities amounts to EUR 4,977 thousand (2018: EUR 1,248
thousand).

Lease liabilities

The Group adopted the new lease standard, and recognised
new financial lease liabilities. See details about the adoption
under Nate 3.1, The impact on the opening balance sheet is
analysed under Note 15.

Other financial liabilties
Other inancial liabilities contains deferred earn-out estimate on
the acquisition of Seed in 2018 and 2019 described in Note 14.

22. Financial results

Finance income and finance costs

Finance incame coimprises interest income on laans leases
and reccivables, fair value gains on financial asscts at fair
value through profit or loss and gans on the
remcasurement to fair value of any pre-existing intorsst in
an acquirec, Interest income is recagrised as it accrues in
profit or loss, using the effectve interest miethod

Financa costs comprise interest expenses on lodns, leasoes,
receivables and barrawings, unwinding of the discaunt an
provisions and contingent consideration. Tair value losses on
financial assets at fair value through profit and Loss,
impairment losses on financial assets (other than trade
receivables), gains and Losses on hedging instrurnents that
are recognised in proft or toss and reclassifications of
amaounts previously recogmsed in cther comprehensive
income,

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issuance of a financial instrument are
capitalised to the associate instiument and amortised to the
profit ar loss over the contractual tenm using the effective
interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis
as either finance income or inance cost depending on
whether foreign currency moverments are in a net gain or
loss position.
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Hadge ineffectiveness is recognised in profit or loss within
the fnancial incoine o~ financial costs.

The ez-ly redemption optior was at initial recognition
recogaised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortiscd cost. AT inception, the adjustment was mado and
parailel we recogrised a financial other asset {opton) which
was subsequently va:ued on FVTRL

{EUR DO} 2019 2018
Recogmsed\nproﬁt e
Net foreign exchange gain 233 65
Interest income on loans ard receivables 1,462 -
Cnange i farr value of early repayrnent

aption 22706 -
QOther financiat income - 322
Finance incerne 24,401 3’y
Interest expense on financial labilities

measured at amnartised cost (39,9706} (31.761)
Change in fair value of inancial iability (1,250} -
Net change in fair value of derivatives

(ineffective cash flow hedge) - (581)
Change in fair value of carly repayment

aption - (265)
Other firancial expense (399) (714)
Finance expense (42125)  (33.321)
Financialresult T (17.724) (32934

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost includes interests on debt of EUR 33,549 thousand (2018&:
EUR 24,812 thousand}. The increase is due to the higher debt
level including the bond fair value of which the coupan is also
accounted as interest expense. In 2018 due to the refinancing,
the capitalised financing costs relating to the previous financing
structure were recycled Lo the income statement and the new
financing fees were capitalised and started their amartisation
from inception. The amortisation of capitalised financing fees
was EUR 2.558 thausand (2018: ELIR 6,949 thousand). See
further details on refinancing in Note 20.

23. Financial instruments

23.1. Financial risk management
Qverview

The Group has exposure to the following main risks from its
financial instrurnents: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk

(including currency risk and intercst rate risk).

This note presents information about the Group's @xposure Lo
each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, palicies and

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's
management of capilal.

Further information about the risk management of the Group is
included in the Compliance and Risk Managerent chapter of
this Annual Report.

23.2. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterpart will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer cantract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is expased to credit risk
prirnarily for trade receivables and cash at banks, Customer
credit risk is managed by each of the Group entities subject to
the Group's policy, procedures and control relating to customer
credit risk managemnent.

Outstanding custormer receivables are monitored and followed
up continugusly. Specific pravisions are made when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able ta collect the
debts (indication that the debtor is experiencing significant
financial difficulty or default, probability of bankruptcy, problerns
to contact Lhe clients, disputes with a customer, etc.). Analysis
is done on a case by case basis in line with policies.

The cash and cash equivalents and interest receivable are held
mainly with banks which are rated "A-" or higher by Standard &
Poor's Rating Services or Fitch Ratings Ltd for lang term credit

rating.

Exposure to credit risk

The gross carrying amount of financial assets represents the
maximurm credit exposure, The raximum expasure to credit
risk at the reporting date was as follows:

{EUR 000} Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cashand cash equivalents 19 12164 127803
Trade receivables i 100, /94 90,478

Work in pragress 10 33551 34,228

Other receivables 13 51,197 18,427

Other financial assets - loans and

receivables 21 21,523 2,591

e e 308409 C555e5

The 'Other financial assets' of EUR 374 thousand (2018:

EUR 363 thousand) related to the participations in non-
cantrolling entities and shell companies have nct been included
in this analysis.

The assets that are exposed to credit risk are held 9.0% by the
Netherlands (2018: 13.1%]), 15.2% by Luxembourg (2018:
14.8%), 23.5% by Americas (2018: 30.0%), and the remaining
52.39% (2018 42.1%) by other jurisdictions,

Rnnual Report 2018 113



Trade receivables are presented net of a provision for trade
receivables.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects ta receive). As a first step the credit risk is
measured and analysed an a local level, amalysis on
recoverability is done on a case hy case basis in line with policies
and specific provisions are made as mentioned above. Evidence
af historical experience demonstrates that debtors, in all ageing
cateqories, have high recoverability ratios. As a second step, the
ECL's applied on the remaining balance of trade receivables. The
Group has applied the simplified approach Lo measure the
expected credit loss and the lifetirme expected loss altowance
for trade recelvables. ECLs are a prabability -weighted estimate
of credit losses.

The ageing of trade receivables and the provision for trade
receivables at reporting date, including movement schedule for
the provision lor trade receivables, is included in Note 11,

WiLh respect ta the trade receivables that are neither impaired
nor past due, Lthere are no indications as of the reporting date
that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

23.3. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk to a shortage of funds and the risk
ro encounter difficulty in mecting obligations associated with
financiat labilities.

The Group entities prepare their own cash flow forecasts and
they are centrally consolidated by Group Finance. Group
Finance monitors rolling ferecasts of the Group's liquidity
reguirements, as well as the Graup's actual cash and receivables
position to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headreorn on its committed
borrowing facilities to ensure that the Group does not breach
borrowing limits or covenants.

The Group entities keep the amounts required for warking
capital management and the excess cash is transferred to Group
Finance who defines the best use of these funds (cancellation
of loans. deposits. etc.),

Access to sourcing of funding is sufficiently available through
the revolving credit facility agreement that the Group has with
banks (Note 20),

Exposure to Liquidity risk

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's
nan-derivative inancial liabilities and net-settled derivative
financial labilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.
This analysis includes estimated interest payments and does not
consider voluntary prepayments of bank debt that could be
possible following the agreements,

(EUR 000} Balance at 31 December 2019
o T  amying T T S batwreer 1 Due betwesn 2 Due 5 years and
amounts Total Due wihic T year and 2 years and 5 years More
Laans and borrowings 1,017,057 1,138,196 91,324 125,239 401,805 516,828
Lease lishilities 105,638 123,156 21,268 17,960 40526 45,342
Trade payables and other
payables 83,279 88,279 88229 - - -
Interest rate swaps used for
hedging A7 5120 1239 1417 2414 -
Towal T 1215881 1,354,701 202110 147,616 444,805 560,170
(FUR 000) Balance at 31 December 2018
Carrying " Due between 1 Due between 2 Due 5 years and
Total Due within 1 year
amounts and 2 years and 5 years mare
Loans and borrowings 777360 963,655 28910 28.886 372156 533.703
Trade payables and other
payables 89382 89,382 89,382 - - -
Interest rate swaps used for
hedging 1,248 1.303 314 297 692
Total 867990 1,054,340 118606 29183 372,848
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The flows expected for interest rate swaps will affect profit and
loss in the same period as they are expected to occur,

23.4. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as
foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group's
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
abjective of market risk management is ta manage and contral
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return,

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in exchange rates
relates primarily Lo the Group's operating activities (when
revenue or expense is denaminated in a different currency from
the Group's presentation currency). The exposures are mainly
with respect Lo the US dollars (USD) and Pound sterling (GBP).
The leans and borrowings of the Group are denorminated in G8P
and LUSD, the notes are dengminated in ELIR. The objective is to
partly malch the main cash llows generated by the underlying
aperations of the Group with the debt which pravides an
economic hedge,

At 31 December 2019, the face value of the USD designated
loan refinanced in 2018 on the Group's investment in its
Cayman subsidiary partially hedged was EUR 178,031 thousand
(2018: EUR 174,672 thousand). The new loan obtained for the

{EUR 000)

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade. other recervables and othe financial assets

Loans and borrowings

Trade and alher payables

Net staternent of financial position exposure

The following significant exchange rates have been applied:

usbo
GBP

uso
GBP

Viteos acquisition is also an USD loan which is hedged in its US
subsidiaries (31 Decernber 2019: EUR 133,523 thousand) as
well as the drawn down RCF USD facility (31 December 2019:
EUR 57,860 thousand)}. The USD loans and the RCF are
designated as a net investment hedge. No ineffectiveness was
recognised from the net investment hedge.

Simnitarly to the Cayman investment and the USD denominated
bank loans relation, the Company identified effective relations
betwaen the Jersey investment and its GBP denominated bank
loans, therefare the loan is fully designated as a hedge relation
which also ritigates a portion of the foreign currency
translation risk arising from the subsidiary's net assets,

As al 31 December 2019, the face value of the GEP designated
loan was EUR 117,535 thousand (2018 EUR 111,791
thousand).

The GBP loan is designated as a net investment hedge. No
ineffectiveness was recegnised fram the net investment hedge,

The Group's investrnents in other subsidianes are not hedged.
Exposure to currency risk

The group has mainly currency exposure in USD and GBP, as
presented below:

31.12.2019 31.12.2018
s e T
6,064 245 11.810 1,524
3,299 772 1631 81
(369.414) [117.535) (174,672) (111.791)
(121 (468) (344) (174)
1360472)  (116986) (161575 (110.360)

Reporting date spot rate

Average rate

1.1°34 1,1195
0.8508 Q8778

Reporting date spot rate

31.12.2018 2018
1.1450 1.1810
0.8945 0.8847
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Sensitivity analysis

(EUR 000)

Ut o irimaation

2019
Effect in Equity

2019
Effect im profit orloss

FUR Stengthening EUR Weskening ELIR Strengthening EUR Weakening

USD (10% movement)
GBP (10% movement}

(4.070) 4,070 3277 {32.771)
(3.722) 3.722 10,635 (10.635)
..... org

Effectin Equity

ELUR Strengthening EUR Weakening LUR Strengthening EUR Weakening

USD (10% movement)
GBP (10% mavement)

A 10 percent strengthening of the USD and the GBP against all
ather currencies at 31 December 2019 would have affected the
value of financial assets and liabilities denorninated in foreign
currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the arnounts
shown above. This analysis assurmes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates. remain constant and ignores any impact
of forecast sales and purchases.

Interest rate risk

The risk relales to the Group's long term debt obligations with
floating interest rates. To manage this risk, the Company
entered into interest rate swaps.

Exposure to interest rate risk
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the interest
bearing financial instrument was:

(EUR 000) 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
.................. m(riér'ry'ingj” - Carrymg
amaunt amount
Fixed rate instruments o
Financial liabilitics (%00,000) {500,000)
Total fixed rate instruments " (500,000) (50,0000
Varieble rate instruments
Financial assets 52,543 55488
Financial Labilities (526,094) (286,463)
Laans and borrowings hedged 147 784 143237
Total net unhedged variable rate T
instruments {325,767} (87,743)

Financial assets mainly include cash in bank accounts with
interest bearing rates.

In Novernber 2018 the EUR denorminated interest rate swaps
were terminated as the hedged term loans were repaid. In
December 2018 the GBP and USD denominated interest rate
swaps were terminated and replaced by new GBP and
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(4.056)
(3,162}

4056
3182

9413
7169

(9,413)
(7.469)

USD interesl rate swaps, with maturity dates and interest
payment dates linked to the new senior faciliLies agreement.
The interest rate swaps cover 30% of the floating interest rates
on the toans and borrowings. The senior notes have a fiked
interest rale,

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
An increase of 50 basis points in interest rates an loans and
barrowings would have decreased the profit and loss before tax
by EURT,696 thousand (2018: EUR 716 thousand). A decrease
of 50 basis paints in interest rates on loans and borrowings
would have increased the profit and loss befare tax by

EUR 1,696 thousand (2018: EUR 716 thousand increase). The
sensitivity of interest to moverments in interest rates is
calculated on floating rate expasures on debt, net of interest
rate swaps. This analysis assumes that all other variables rernain
constant.

23.5. Capital management

The capital structure of the Group consists of shares and share
premium and bank borrowings. The cbjective of the Group's
capital management is to ensure that it mainlains heslthy debt
ratios in order to support its business and face obligations with
lenders.

The Group's target is to reach a leverage ratio around 3.0x. This
leverage ratio mighl be higher depending on potential
acquisitions, The bank barrowings are subject to covenants that
are tested bi-annually, For more information, see Note 20.
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‘23.6. Fair values of financial instruments
| Level 1

Tre fair value of the senior notes is based aon fa'rvalue f

the stock exchance as at 31 December 2019 and reflects
the credit risk of tne instrumert,

aim

observable yield curves. Fair valees reflect the credit risk of
e instrurnent a0d incluge adiustrients to take account of
the cradi risk of the Group entty a7d counterparty when
appropriate. The early redemption option is valued at initial
recagnition on far value. The call option within e bond

represents an embodded derivative that is separated from

the host contract and accounted for as a derivative. Fair
valae < determined zs callable bond value equal to the sum
of the straight bonc value and the call option vaioe,
Subsequently the aptian is valued FVTPL

Leve, 2

The tair values of the interest rate swaps and currency

forwards are based on broker quotes and s calculated as the
present value of the estimared Tatare cash flows based on The following tatle shows Lhe carrying amounts and fair values
of financial assets and financial labilities, including their levels in

the fair value hierarchy,

31.12.2019 Carrying amounts Fair value Fair value
e i e S T O R P
Fair value - Other
through assets at . .
(EUR 000) Naote ) Hedging financial Total
profit and amortised N

loss cost instruments liabilitles Level 1 Level 2
Financial assets measured at S S T I
fair valuve
Early redemption valuation
adjustment 21 23525 - - - 23525 - 23,523
el T T T gmgas e R ,,23.523. Ry
G e e e T e e
at fair value
Loans and receivables 21 - 5,096 - . 5,096 - -
Lease assets 21 - 16,427 - 16,427 - -
Unquoted ecuty shares 21 - 295 - - 295 - -
[rade receivables M - B0, /34 - - 100,794 - -
Other receivables 13 31,197 - - 31,197 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 - 21044 - - 171,024 - -
o e e N gaghy T o e
B i s e s e e
at fair vaiue
Interest rate swaps - cash flow
hedge 21 - - 4,985 - 4,935 - 4985
Total o L 4e85 - agss - 4985
Financial liabflities not o e o
measured at fair value
Lease liabilities - 105,638 - - 105,633 - -
Loans and borrowings 20 - - - 1.017.037 1.017.037 550,278 483,591
Trade payables - - - 11,814 11,814 - -
QOther pavables 13 - - - 76,415 76,415 - -
Total T D T qose3s - 105286 1,210,904 550278 483591

! Fair value irrpact on tha Statenent of Profit or Lass for tne full vear 2019 was EUR 22,786 thousand For further cetals in the eary redemption option valuation see Note
250
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31.12,2018

(EUR 000)

Financial assets measured at fair
value

Early redermptior valuation
adjustment

o

Financial assets not measared at fair
value

Loans and receivables

tUnquoted cquity shares

Trade receivables

Uther receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

G
Financia liabilities measured at fair
value

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hadge
Towat
Financial liabilities not measured at
fair value

Loans and borrowings

Trade payables

Other payables

ol T

Note

21

21
21
11
13

19

21

20

Fair value

through
profit and
lass

' For further details on the 2arly rederption aption valuation see Note 21.1.

There are level 1 and level 2 fair values. No transfers between
levels were applicable in 2079 and 2018. The level 1 fair value
at the end of 2019 and 2018 represent the market value of the

senior Notoes,
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Carrying amounts
Financial R
Fair value - Other
assets at Hedai & ial
a neia

amortised ang nand
instruments liabilities
cost

- O —
1,774 - -
334 - -
90,478 - -
18.422 ~ -
127,803 - -
23811 L -
- 1.248 -
- 1,248 -
- - 777,360
- - 8375
- - 81,007
- - 866,742

Ot e

Tatal

817

e

1,774
334
90.478
18,422
127803

Czssrr

777360
8,375
81.007

§66.742

st orematiae

Fair value

Level 1

493,965

" 493965

Fair value

Level 2

;7
e

1,248
T 1,248

270.882

" 270.882
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24. Cap|ta[ and reserves  which includes directly attsibstable costs and is net of any

Lax efflects. Repurchased shares are classified as Lreasury
shares and are piesentec in the treasury share reserve.

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classiize as cguity. Incremental costs
directly attributabie o the issuc of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of zny tax

When freasury shares are scld or reissued subsequently, the

amount receivad is recognised zs an increase in equity. and
the resultirg surplus or defict on the transaction s
vansferred o or from retaned eanirgs,

s
offects.

Dividends

Repurchase and reissue of ordinary shares o , . -
Dividends are recognised as a biability in the pernad in which

(treasury shares)
When shaies are repurchased those are recognised ¢5 a
dehit to equity for the anount of the consideration paid,

L1ay are declared.

24.1. Share capital

The subscribed capital from 31 Decernber 2018 (EUR 53,853 thousand) increased to EUR 54,190 thousand as at 37 December
2019, Number of shares issued was 89,755,202 as at 31 December 2018 and due to the shares issued far the acquisition of Viteos
(see further details in Note 14.1) the number of fully paid-up shares increased to 90,316,352, On 25 September 20718, the Group
cancelled 2,244,190 shares. Nominal value per share of EUR 0.60 did not change since 31 December 2018.

The maovemants of the year were:

Ordinary shares In number of shares (EUR 000)

lssued ardinary shares at 01 January 593, /95.202 91,999,392 53853 55,200
Share cancellation - (2.244,190) - (1.347)
Share issue 561150 - 33/ -
Authorised shares at end of period - fully paid 90316352 89755202 ' 54190 53853

24.2. Share premium

At 31 Decermnber 2019 the share premium amounts o EUR 630,441 thousand. unchanged compared to 31 December 2018,
When the Group cancelled it's own shares in 2018, the amount above the nominal value of Lhe shares were accounted for in
retained earnings, therefore there were na maovernents during 2019 in the share premium in EUR:

In number of shares (EUR 000)
2019 C01s 0 zeie T o018
Issued ordinary shares at 01 january 79,755,207 91,999,392 630 441 630,441
Share cancellation - (2.244,190) - -
Share issiue 561,150 - - -
Authorised shares at end of period — fully paid 90316352 89755202 630441 630,441

24.3. Retained earnings

The retained earnings include accumulated profits and losses,
plus remeasurements of defined benefit liability {asset) and
equity-settled share-based payment.

The fellowing dividends were declared and paid by the
Company for the year:
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{EUR 000) 2019
Final dvidend for 2017 of EUR 23 )per 7
cualifying ardinary share

Intesim dividend for 2018 of EUR 0.30 per
rualifying ordinary snare

Final dividend for 2018 of EUR Q.32 per
qualifying ordinary share

Interim dividend for 2019 of EUR 0.30 per
qualifying ordinary share

Total dividend declared and paid

2018

- 29,40
- 26,770
28,658 -

27016 -
55,654

For 2019, a total dividend of EUR 0.63 per share (2018:

EUR 0.62 per share) will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting. If approved, a final dividend of EUR 0.33 per share
(20718 EUR Q.32 per share) will be paid on 5 June 2020, and an
interim dividend of EUR 0.30 per share (2018: EUR 0.30 per
share) was paid on 29 Navernber 2019, The payment will be
subject ta 15% Dutch withholding tax.

After Lhe reporting date, the above rmentioned dividends were
proposed by the Management Board. The dividends, taking into
account the interim dividends declared and paid. have not been
recognised as liabilities.

24.4. Reserves

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises alt foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
staternents of foreign operations (2019: EUR 22,3196 thousand
gain, 2018: EUR 14,858 thousand gain) and foreign currency
diferences arising on the revaluation of financial liabilities
designated as a hedge of net investment, to the extent that the
hedge is effective (2019: EUR 6.458 thousand loss, 2018:

EUR 3,266 thousand loss).

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments
used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in
profit or loss as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.

Treasury share reserve

The treasury share reserve comprises Lhe costs of the
Company's shares held by the Group. At 31 December 2018,
the Group held 260,846 of the Company's shares (2018&:
523.354)

120 Annual Report 2019

56171

o irtasnating

25. Non-controlling interests

Non-controtling interests
Non-controfing interests are meastired aither at their

pragadionate share of the acquirec's dentifiable net assots
or at fair vatue at the accuisition date. The choice of
measurcment is made on an acquisition-by-acgusition
Ddsis,

The Group has at the end of 2079 compared to the end of
2018 the same ownership in LBL data services BV, (ownership
509%) which is not material for the Company.
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Section 6
Other disclosures

This section includes the notes on taxes, employee benefits, provisions, commitments and contingent liabilities, remunerations of
members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, refated party transactions and auditor's remuneration,

ETR Single largest sharchalding

1.3%  9.92%
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26. Income tax expense : reviewed al each reporting dale and are reduced to the
i exlentthalilis no longer probable that the relaled Lax

Income tax henefit will be realised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are

Income tax expense comprises current and ceferred tax,
Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or toss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, ar iterns recognised directly in cquity orin

reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profirs witl allow the deferred tax assct to ne recovered.

a.her comprehensive income. 26.1. Income tax FECOgDiSEd in pi’Oﬁt or loss
Current tax (EUR 000) 2019 2018
Current tax is Lhe expeclad tax payable or recewable on the Curremyear TG a0 (21 504)
taxable income or loss for the period, using 1ax sates Prior years 1.565 (261)
enacted or substantively enactec al the reporting date, and Current tax (expensel/gain  (26235)  (21,565)
any adjustment Lo Lax payabie in respect of previous years, Origination and reversal of ternporary

differences 2.456 2908
Deferred tax Impact of enacted Lax rale changes on
Deferred tax s recognised in respect of temporary deferred tax position {1,336} 9342
differences between the carrying amaunts of assets ang Deferred tax leases 150 -
liabitities for financial reporting purposes and the amourits Recognition of previously unrecognised tax
used for taxation purpases. Deferred tax is not recognised losses 552 296
far: Change in recognised deductible temporary
e ternporary differences on the initial recognition of assets differences (34) 611
or liahilities in a fransaction that is not a business 'Dre'f'érfed“c‘é'i‘élé}ﬁf(éicﬁé'hs‘é']‘ T Ty 5e8 T T13as7
combination and that affects naither accaunting nor taxable Income tax (expense)/gain for continuing
arafit ar loss aperations (24,447) {8.408)

e taxable termpaorary differences arising on the iritial
recognitian of goodwill.
The Group believes that its accruals for Lax liabilities are

Deferred tax is measured al the Lax rates that are expected adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, many factars, including interpretations of tax law and prior
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the experience.

reporting date,
In 2018, the positive impact of tax rate changes mainly

Deferred tax assets and lizbilities are offset if there is a impacted our deferred tax positions by EUR 9,342 thousand. For
legally enforceable nght to offset current Lax liabilities anc the same reason the Group recognised additional EUR 1,536
assets, and they relate 1o taxes levied by the seme tax thousand deferred tax expense in 2079,
authority an the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, bul they intend ta sellle current fax liabilities and 26.2. Tax recognised in other
assets an a net basis or their tax assets and abilitias wdll be comprehensive income (och
realised simultaneously.

(EUR 000) 2019 2018
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax Cash flow hedges T T ey 132
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) _ 154
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, Inroma tax expense ré;n'éh;ma'in'bﬁl TR T Toge

against which thoy can be util'sed. Deferred ox assets are
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26.3. Reconciliation of effective tax rate

(EUR 000) 2019 2018
B year i i
Total income tax expense (24.£47) (8.408)
Profit before income tax 7 o C1d4789 92799
Inceme tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 25.00% (28,697) 25.00% (24,450)
Effect of tax -ates in foreign jurisdictions 7,910 8,958
Changes in incorme tax rates {1.336) 9,342
Non deduct ble expenses {4,214) (3.143)
Tax exempt incoms 1,268 616
Change in recognised deductible temporary diiferences (44) 611
Recognition of previously unrecagnised tax losses 552 2986
Current year losses far which no deferred tax has heen recognised {234) (372)
(Under) over provided in previous years (current and deflerrec) 816 (261)
Others (328) (35)
Efective income tax T 3y T(2a4dny T B (8,408)

Our adjusled net incorme contains adjusting tax iterns for an armount of EUR 5982 thousand benefit, mainly related ta the effect of
the bond option revaluation recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss, See Note 27.3 for more details.

27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

27.1. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax
losses for EUR 12,393 thousand (2018: EUR 10,163 thousand).
Tax lasses for an amount of EUR 6,584 thousand (2018:

ELR 5,333 thousand) will expirc in the next 5 years and

EUR 5,809 thousand (2018: EUR 4,830 thousand) do not
expire. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these iterns because it is not probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the Group entities can
utilise the benefits.
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27.2. Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and lisbilities are attributable to the following:

(EUR 000} Balance at 31 D

mber 2019 Balance at 31 Decemnber 2018
eferred tax  Deferred tax  Deferred tax

Deferred tax

assets liabilities assets liabilities
Praperty, plant and equipment 1ol - 192 -
Intangible assets 116 (82,017) 309 (64.595)
Loans and barrawings - {(5.343) - (4.463)
Other non-current financial assets or liabilites - {190) 122 -
Employce benefit liabilities 14496 - - -
Qther iterms 532 - 332 (2/2)
Tax loss carry-forwards 3.584 - 1,204 -
e e e S e RN RS (683905

27.3. Mavements in temporary differences during the period

. . . Effect of
Balance at Acquired in . Recognised in ) Balance at
i Recognised in ) foreign
01 January business QCi or retained 31 December
L profit ar loss ) exchange
2018 combinations earnings' . 2019
(EUR 000} differences
S Net Net
Property, plant and eguipment 192 LR 155 331 1 1,101
Intargible assets (64,786} (27.884) 5,745 - (478) (81.901)
Loans and barrowings (4,463} - (4,380 - - (2.343]
e nun=unen i ingnicial assets w
lizbilities 122 - - 1312) - 1130
Ermployee benefits labiliLes - 1,156 357 - (11) 1.496
Other items 60 a0 403 - (1) 532
Tax loss carry-forwards 1,204 2,337 M - 32 3584
Total {67,171) {18,892) 1,788 19 (465) (84.7213
""""" o " Effect of
Balance at Acquired in ) L ) Balance at
. Recognised in  Recagnised in fareign
01 January business 31 December
. profit or loss olell exchange
2018 caombinatians . 2018
(EUR 000) differences
Net ' Net
Property, plant and equipment 33 74 86 - (1 192
Intangible assets (80.373) - 15,967 - 120 (64.286)
| pans and borowings - (1.392) (3.071) - - (4.463)
Other non-current financial assets or
liabilities 27 - 97) 132 - 122
Employee benefits liabilities - - {154) 154 - -
Other items 126 (378) 309 - 3 60
Tax loss carny-forwards 1,079 - 117 - 8 1,204
Total o T T (79.048)  (1,696) 13,157 286 130 67,171

" Other comprehersive incame ("OCH) and Retained earnings due to the mpiementation of IFRS16
= Other cormprehensive income ("0
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in 2019 deferrad lax expenses contain EUR 1,336 thousand (2018: EUR 9,342 thousand income) due to expected income tax rate
changes in jurisdictions where our intangible assets relate to, where we amartise our capitalised financing fees and where we
revaluate our bond option, therefore this income is accounted as adjusting item and excluded from the adjusted net incorme.

28. Emp[oyee benefits {nsset) daring the period as a result of conributio s and

bonefits payments, Not interest expense anc othor

Shart-term empLoyee benefits expenses retated ta defined banefit plans are recognised in

Shart-term employee benefits zre expensad a: the related

Droft or Lass,
senvice is provided. Atiability is recognised for the amauns ) ‘
Wnen the benefits of a plan are changed or when a pan s
curtailed, the resulting change in berefit that relates to past
sonvice of thez gain ar loss on curtallment is recognised
imred-ately in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and
losses on the seltlement of a defined beneflit plan when the

exsectea (o be paid I the Group has a present legal or
construclive obligation 1o pay this armount as @ result of
sast service provided by the employee, and the abligation
can he estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans settlernent occurs.

Obligations for contibutions to defined contribution plans , \
Termination benefits

are expensed as the related service is provided, Prepaid T
Termination benafits are exnensed at the earlie” of when

contributions are recognised as an asset wo the extent that 2 i o .
. . ‘ s the Croup can no longer withdraw the offer of those
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. . . .
benefits and when the Group recngnises casts far a
restrucluring, If benefits are nol expacted Lo be settied
whaolly within T2 months of the end of the reportng penad.,

then Lhey are discounted,

Defined benefit plans

The Group’s net abligation 1n respect of defined benafit
plans is calculated separately far cach plan by estimating
the amount of furure benefit that amplayees have camed
in the current and prior penads, discounting that amount
and deducting the fair value of any plan assets,

The Group sponsars defined benefit pension plans in
Switzerland. In most other countries, employees are provided
with benefits under defined contribution plans, Al pension plans
comply with local tax and legal restrictions in their respective
country, including funding obligations.

The calculation of defined peneft abligatons is performed
annually by a qualilied actuary using the projecled unit
credit method, When the caleulation rosulls i a patential
asset for the Group, the recogrised asset is imited to the
present value of econonue benelits available in the form of

The Swiss pension plan is managed by an independent, legally
autonomaus entity which has the legal structure of a
foundation, accarding to Swiss Federal Law on Occupational
Retirernent, Survivors and Disability (LPP). All benefits in
accordance with the requlations are reinsured In their entirely
with an insurance carmpany. The foundation provides benefits
on a defined contribution basis. All employees are participants
to the plan and are insured against the financial consequences
of old age, disability and death. The insurance benefits are
subject to regulations, with the LPP specifying the minimurm
benefits that are to be provided. The employer and employees
pay contributions to the pension plan at rates set out in the
foundation rules based on a percentage of salary. The amount
of the retirement account can be taken by the emplayee at
retirement in the form of pension or capital. The risk of
disability, death and longevity are covered by the insurance
campany. The insurance company invests the vested pension
capital and provides a 100% capital and interest guarantee.
Even if actuarial and investment risks are covered by an
insurance company, this plan is cansidered under IAS19R as a
defined benefit plan because the employer remains exposed to
cantract termination risks.

any future reflunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions te the plan,

To calculate the present value of cconomic benefils,
consideration is given to any minimam funding
requirernents that apply Lo any plan in the Group,
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which
cormprise actuarial gains and tosses, the return on plan
assets (excluding imterest) and the effect of the asset ceiling
UF any, excluding intgrest), are recognised immediately in
ather comprehensive incoime.

The Group determines the net interest expense/lincomc)
on the net defined benafit lizbility/(asset) for the periad by
applying the discount rate used to measuie the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual periad to
the then-net defined benefit lability/(asset), taking into
account any changes in the net defined beneAt tiability/
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The Group has also agreed to provide certain additional post-
employrment medical benefits to senicr employees in Curacae.
These benefits are unfunded and the contributions equal the
insurance premiums paid.

As of the arquisition of Viteos, the Group accounts for the
past-employment benefits in India. The Group operates a
defined benefit final salary gratuity plan which is open to new
entrants in India. The gratuity benefits payable to the
employees are based on the employee's service and last drawn
salary at the time of leaving. The employees do not contribute
towards this plan and the full cost of providing these benefits
arc met by the Group. There are no minimum funding
requircments for a gratuity plan in India. The Group has chosen
not to fund the gratuity liabilities of the plan but instead carry a
provision based on actuarial valuation in its boaks of accounts,
The anly regulatary framework which applies to such plans is if

the company in Iindia is cavered by the Payrment of Gratuity Act.

1972 then the affiliste is bound to pay the statutory minimum
gratuily as prescribed under this Act. The affiliate is responsible
for the overall governance of the plan. Since the plan is

[ TS NS LA et

unfunded, the governance of the plan is limited Lo employees
being paid gratuity as per the terms of the plan. The planis of a
final salary defined benefit in nature which is sponsored by the
affiliate and hence it underwrites all the risks pertaining to the
plan. In particular, there is a risk for the affiliate that any adverse
salary growth or demographic experience can result in an
increase in cost of providing these benefits to employees in
future. Since the benefits are lurmp sum in nature the plan is not
subject to any longevity risks.

The Group expects EUR 349 thausand in contributions to be
paid to its defined benefit plans in 2020.

28.1. Amounts recagnised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

(EUR 00Q) 31.12.2015 31.12.2018
Net defned liability - Pension 2456 /84
Net defined liability - Med cal 19 145
Total employee penefits lisbiliies 2575 929

28.2. Movement in the net defined benefit liability

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for the net defined benefit liability and

its cormponents:
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(EUR 0Q0)

Balance at O1 Jaruary
Included ir-wupr-oﬁ-t- or loss
Current service cost

Past service cost

Interest cost

Administration casts

Total

IncludedinoCl
Rermeaswiements loss/(gain):
- Actuarial loss/(gain) arising frarmn:

- financial assumnptions

- experience adjustment
Return on plan assets excluding irterest

incame

Fffect of movements in exchange rates

Total

Other

Business combination

Contributions paid by the p.an participants
Contributions paid by the ernployer
Benefits paid

Total

Balance at 31 December

' Relating to restructuring in Switzerland.

Defined benefit

obligation

2260

3hh

781

52

755
2417

{1,504)

208

4,806

2018
Fair value of
plan assets
o33

14
7z

2017
348
{1,551}

2231

814

2018

" Netdefined Defined benefit  Fair value of
benefit liability obligation plan assets
T ez T se1 3317
223 473 -
1379) (470} -
57 43 -
19 22 ~
355 (125) -
/B (743) -
(14) - (24)
10 26 26
1132 " (842) T2
755 - -
- 664 664
(348) - 355
113) (2.811) (3.007)
394 (2.247) {1.988)
2,575 2,260 S 133
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28.3. Plan assets

The plan assets comprise:

(EUR 000) 31.12.2019  31,12.2018
Insurence contracts N 372 R BV
Cash 3 3
Totat T Tazim U7 Em

None of the plan assets are quoted on an active market.

28.4. Actuarial assumptions

The principal assurnptions used in determining pension and
post-employment medical benefit abligaticns at the reporting
date are:

31.12.2019
" switzerand | ladia | Clragac
Discount rate 31 December 0.209% 7.05% 5.004%
Future salary increases 1.00% 700% -
Medical cost trend rate - - 2.00%
C31a22018 0 T
""""" Switzerland ~ India 'Curéqao'
Discount rate 31 Decermnbar 1.00% na. 5.00%
Future salary increases 1.00% n.a. -
Medical cost trend rate - n.a 2400%

L.ongevity Is reflected in the defined benefit obligation by using
martality tables of the respective countries in which the plans
are located and only applicable in Switzerland.

Expressed in years 31.12.2019

i
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners

- Males 22.6
- Fermales 24,/

| ongevity at age 65 for current membors aged 45

- Males 24.3
- Females 26.3

Expressed inyears 31122018

"""" Switzerland
Longevity at age 65 for currént pensioncrs

- Males 22.4
- Fernales 254
Longevity at age 65 far current mermbers aged 45

- Males 239
- Fernales 269

The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit
obligation was as follows:
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Expressed in years 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
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28.5. Sensitivity analysis

Reasanably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the
relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions
consistent. would have affected the defined benefit abligation
by the amounts shown below:

(EUR 000} Increase Decrease
Impact of 1% change in the discount rate 2.882 4,128
Impact of 19 change in the future salary

ncreases 3,56/ 3273
Impact of 1% change in the future pension

increases 2,799 -
Impact of 1% change in the medical cost

trend rate -

Impact of 1 year change in the life

expectancy 2619 2.534
Impact of 1% change in the discount rate (231) 529
Impact of 1% change in the future salary

iicreases (38) (137}
Impact of 1% change in the future pensian

increases 77 -
Impact of 1% change in the medical cost

trend rate - -
Impact of 1 year change in the life

expectancy (58) (122)

Although the analysis does not take into account the full
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it docs
provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions
shown.

All sensitivities are calculated using the sarme actuarial method
as for Lhe disclased present value of the defined benefit
abligations at period-end.
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29. Provisions

A provision is recognised if a3 a result of a past ovent, the
Group has a present legal or constructive cb
be estimated relably, and it s probable that an outflow of

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. {f

igation that ¢an

the impact of tirme walue of money is material, provisions
ere delennined by ciscounting Lhe expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current markert
assessments of the timea value of manay and the risks
specific Lo the Bability, The cnwinding of the discountis

Legal matters

& provision is recagnisad ta cover the costs for lagal
praoceedings or legal requirements, in those cases where a
probable outhiow of cashiis identified.

Legal matters

(EUR 000)

Balance at 01 January 2018

Provisions made during the period 74

Pravisions used during the period (333

Provisions reversed during the period (126

Effect of mavernents in exchange rates -

Balance at 31 Decemnber 2018~ a2

Current
No
Balance at 31 Decemnber 2018

urrent

Balanceat01january2019
Provisions made during the period 150
Provisions used during the period (39
Provisians reversed during the period (3
Impact of IFR5716 -
Effect of movements in exchange rates 5
Balance at 31 December 2019 155
Current 155
Non-current -
Balance at 31 Decernber 2019 155

Provision for legal matters
Provisions for legal matters have been recognised to cover costs
related to claims filed against the Company.

Provision for restructuring
Provisions for restructuring have been recagnised due to a
headcount alignment program in 2018, In 2019 the provisions

Restructuring

A provision for resLructuring is recognised whien e Group
has approved 2 detailed and formal restructuning plan, and
e restrLcturing e has commenced or has been
announced publcly. FLture operating losses are not
provided for.

it

Onerous contracts

A provision for o ous contracts is measured at The prescnt
vatue of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the expected ret cost of continuing with Lthe
cantract. Before a provison is establshed the Group
recognises any impairment loss on the assets assocated
witn the contract. For IFRS16 transilion relatec oncraus
rental conliacts, pleass see policy in Note 15,

) Onerous
Restructuring Others Total
contracts
T e T s 425 love
8535 395 554 9,558
) (4.548) (302) - (1.983)
) (705) - - (831)
17 7 (20} 4
3,535 288 959 4,824
229 322 T T a12s
59 Te37 " e99
3835 7 o8 959 4824
Caz 3535 288 Toesg T 4804
79y - 736 3,183
) (3.814) - - (3.5853)
) {1,365) {2G) - (1.894)
- [762) - [262)
38 - 20 63
691 - 1,215 2,061
Te91 - 1215 2081

concern transformation programs mainly related to staff
restructuring.

Provision for onerous contracts

Pravisions for onerous contracts that have been recognised for
operating leases are no longer material for the Group since the
implementation cf IFRS16 as at 1 January 2019.
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30. Operating leases

The Group principally enters into operating leases for the
rental of eguipment and buildings. Payments done under
such leases are typically charged to profit or loss on a
straight line basis aver the period of the lease. Wher an
operating lease is terminated before the lease period has
axpired, any payment required Lo be done Lo the lessor by
way of penalty is recognisad as an expense in the perind in
which termination takes place. Any incentives received
fram the lessor in relation to operating leases are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight line basis. From 1 January 2019, the gioup has
racognised right-of -use assets far these leases, except for
short term and low-valug ieases, see Note 3 and Note 15
for further information, This change had impact on both as
a lessee and a lessor positions of the Group.

. Sune indF snanen

30.1. Leases as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain motor
vehicles and office equipment. These leases have an average life
of between less than 1 year and 5 years with no renewal option
included In the contracts.

The Group has entered inta leases for rental agreements in
different countries. The leases run for a period between less
than 1 year and 15 years. The ones qualified for transiticning per
[FR516 as at 1 January 2019 are no longer reported under this
chapler. Recanicilidlion Lo Uwse reputled as dt 31 Decenniber
2019 is deldilud in Nole 15,

There are noestictions placed upon Lhe Group by entering intw

these leases,

Tuture rhinirurr rental payable under nun-cancellable leases

as at 41 December are as 1ollows:

Between one and five

(EUR 000) 31.12.201%  Not later than one year Later than five years
years
e rﬂach\nc’ryand eqmpmmt S g T
Leased real estate 28./37 25910 11,686 14,141
Total 29.571 3,138 12,302 14,131
""" 31122018  Nat later than one year Between one and five years  Later than five years
| eased machinery and equipment 2547 1.105 1.255 187
Leased real estate 61.174 17,421 34.760 8.953
Total 63,721 " 18,526 36,015 T'8180

During the period an amount of EUR 4,042 thousand was
recagnised as expense which is significantly lower than in 2018
(EUR 20,457 thousand) due ta the transitioned contract
accounting in 2019 changed as per the modified retrospective
approach applied as per 1 January 2019 with the application of
the new IFRS16 standard. See Nate 3.1. for more detalls. These
costs were recognised as an expense in profit or lass in respect
of operating leases, the ones that were capitalised had an
impact through depreciation and interest. Total rental expenses
reported in staternent of profit or loss includes utilities,
maintenance and repair expenses. Other than these, also the
not transitioned leases in line with cur accounting policies are
reparted as rentat expenses.
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30.2. Leases as lessars
Some affiliates have entered into sublease contracts of office

space.

Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:
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(EUR 000) 31.12.2019

Leaéed 're-a-t-l 'eéﬁé t-e

Total 2,262
31.12.2018

Leased real estate 12,222

Total 12,222

As of 1 January 2019, the Group introduced the new standard
on leases. See Note 3.1. for more details. The ones which were
transitioning as at 1 fanuary 2019 under IFRS16 are excluded
from the above overview at the end of 2019,

During the penod an amount of EUR 3,682 thaousand (2018:
EUR 5,195 thousand) was included in revenues related to
incame from sublease contracts. The decrease is partially due to
transitioning contracts due to the implermentation of IFRS16 as
at 1 January 2019,

31. Commitments

The Group is cornmitted to incur IT operational expenditure
mainly related to managed communication netwarks and
autsourced activities of EUR 54,488 thousand (20718

EUR 18,596 thousand) spread within the next ten years. The
increase is due ta signing of several service contracts for longer
periods than before and the licencing need of the increased
tech-enabled services the Group provides.

32. Contingencies

Intertrust is involved in govemnmental, requlatory. and legal
proceadings and investigations in several jurisdictians, involving
amongs others claims in the ordinary course of business. While
it is not feasible Lo predicl or determine the ultimate outcome
of all pending or potential governmental, regulatory, legal
proceedings and investigations, we concluded that an
aggregate amount of the liabilities cannat be estimated
reasonably and we cansider that the possibility of outflow is not
probable, Where necessary legal and/or external advice has
been obtained.

33. Related parties

During 2018, The Blackstone Group LOP (Blackstone) sold off a
large portion of their shares resulting in a below 10%

Not later than one year

" Nat later than one year Between one and five y-é-é-rs- -

Betwean one and five
Later than five years

years
1703 1059 -
1,203 1,059 -

Later than five years
2927
2927

2.856
2.856

6,440
6,440

shareholding in the Company. Blackstone's representation on
the Supervisory Board ended in 2019 with the resignation of
Lionel Assant.

33.1. Parent and ultimate controlling party
Priar Lo listing at the Curonext Amsterdarn on 15 October 2015,
the Company was ultimately controlled by funds managed by
Blackstone which had the majority shareholding in the Group.
The remaining shares were owned by parties related to
rmanagement. Following the IPO, the Company is the new
ultimate controlling party of the Group.

33.2. Transactions with key management
personnel

The Group has defined key management persannet as the
rmembers of the 2019 Supervisory Board, Management Board
and Executive Committee of the Group, responsible for the
strategic and operational activities,

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation comprises:

(EUR 000) 2019 2018
Short_term employee benefits 6.6/ 6262
Past-emplayment benefits 201 133
Share-based payment” 2,810 309
Other benefits® 1,493 700
R T RN T T had

This includes the expenses recognised by the Graup related to the EOP and LTIP
awards macle to key management personrel.

* Includ ng Rollover share plan casts.
* Includng termnation benefits.

Management Board
For the individual members of the Management Board. the
Group recognised the following remuneration expenses:
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{EUR D00)

Stephanie Miller

Hans Turkesteen®
Henk Pieter van Asselt
Rogier van Wik’

Totat

{EUR 000)

Stephanie Miller

Hans Turkesteen
Henk Pieler van Asselt
Dawvid de Buck®

Total

2019 remuneration
Cther  Short-term Deferred
Base salary benefits incentive’ remuneration
600 184 [clnla] 390
538 als 310 134
245 20 - 132
32 a9 21 13
1415 821 931 669
2018 remuneration
Other  Short-term Deferred
Base salary benefits? incentive? remuneration
496 104 352 225
a3 4 38 21
350 ERE 250 222
37 4 - 28
‘966 485 640 " 496

Shat~terr remuneration rea-esents accrued bonuses to be paid in the following fnanaa: year,

* The remunerations o the Management Board are presciited for the period they were part of the Management Board.
- As the cosls cortain expenses on an aceruel basis 2nd in ine with Group Accounung Policies, the comparison for share based payinenis is oreseailéd in details 0 the tatbles
hereafte’ shawing the Management Board awards. In the annualised Lotal, onty thaose imembers of the Maragement Baard are shown  Lhey were in charge as at
371 December 2019 or 31 Decemuer 2018 respectively,
Resigned and stepped dawn from the Management Board s of 12 Septernber 2079 but rernains ermpuoyed by intertiuse Lp to 31 Maich 2020,

T Effective 28 November 2019, Rogier var Wik bacame memoar of the Managamiaat Baad.

° Effectve 22 Jaruary 2018 Stephanie Miller replaced David de Buck as intertrust's CFOL Dav d de Back remmained empicyed by Intetrust up to 17 May 2018,

2019 deferred

remuneration

Stephanie Miller

Hans Turkesteen

Henk Pieter van Asselt
Rogier van Wik

Total S

(EUR 000}
Stephanie Miller

Hans Turkesteen
Henk Pieter van Asselt
David de Buck®

Total

2018 deferred

remuneration

£

94
29

123

Reagned in 2018 and left the Management Baard an 16 May 2019 and remaned employed by Intertrust unnl 37 July 20149,

240

125

[¥a)

" Other LTI'
1071

11z

' 208

Other LTI

IS MUY el

" Extraordinary

oxpense

Total-  from total
1,774 -
1.590 560
397 -
75 -
‘3836 560

expense
Tatal®>  from total
1177 -
146 -
1,195 350
69 -

5 5a R

Other benefits inc.ude | fe course carmpensat.an, car allowance, relaocztion o ather allowances such as seimination benelts wher applicatle,

150
134

124
21
16

4
85

T Represents the expense recognised cunre the year ir accordance wath IFRS2, share-based payment, retated to the EOP ard L TIP awards.
- EOF accelerated vested on 1 May 2018 with the apprava. of the Supervisary Board.

The Management Board EOP awards outstanding and
movements durting the financial year were:

132 Annuat Report 2019

Extraordinary

Pension costs

Annualised
tatal’
1,774

855
T 2629

Annualised
total
1,318

711

2,028

“Total
390
134
132

13
689

" Total
225

21

222

28
496
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) Fair value per
Movements in

Award date 1Jan 2018 2018 31 Dec 2018 share at grant

date (EUR)
David de Buck R
EQP - Matching shares 19 0ct 2015 50013 {50.013) - 14,28

Henk Pieter van Asselt T T e
EQP - Matching shares 19 Oct 2015 25006 {25.006) - 14.28

T The moverneris 112018 a-¢ caused by Lhe vesting of the FCF shares,

Upon vesting of the share-based payment awards to the The LTIP awards of 2018 for the members of the Management
mermbers of the Management Beoard and other eligible Board were set by the Supervisory Board of the Company on
employees, the Company may at its discretion make the 31 March 2018. The Management Board LTIP awards

required number of Ordinary Shares available either by issuing outstanding and movernents during the financial year were:

new Ordinary Shares or by purchasing existing Ordinary Shares in
the open market,

Outstanding Outstanding  Fair value per
as at 1Jan Granted in Movements  as at 31 Dec share at grant
Other LTI Award date 2019 2019 in 20191 20192 date (EUR)  Vesting date?
Stephanle RFr v v s i e
PSP shares 29 Now 2019 - 35,108 - 35108 11,96 29 Ney 2022
PSP shares 29 Nov 2019 - 35,108 - 35,108 11896 29 Now 2027
LTIP4 shares- T Ap 2018 28.5324 - - 28534 14,286 I Apr 2021
Rog.;'i‘er-valr\ Wuk A ST T L - T
PSP shares 29 Nov 2019 - 4388 - 4,588 1196 29 Now 2002
SDP shares? 1 April 2019 - - 2,381 2,381 15,26 1 Apr 2022
LTIP4 snares® 1 Apri 2018 - - 2,700 2700 1486 1 Apr 2021
Henk Picter van Asselt R e T S
LTIP4 shares 1 Apr 2013 10.000 - (10,000} - 1486 1 Apr 2021
LTIPS shares I Apr 2017 4,000 - (4.000) - 1603 1 Apr2020
LTIP1 skares 1 Apr 2016 4,925 - (1,925) 1795 1 Ape 2016

T Rogier van Witk was appainted to the Managerent Board as at 28 Navermiber 2019, Other movernenrts are caused by vesling.

 Ihe Group is planning ta transfer availeble treasury shares Lo cover tha vesting of the grants i1 2020,

- Following the vesting date the LTIP shares granted to members of the Maragernent Board a-e subject to an additional twa-year lock up penad, except for the LTIP shares
that can be sold to cover incurme taxes dae.

! Stephante Miller was awarded 35 108 shares for perfarmance year 2018 and 35,108 shares for performance year 2019 on 29 Novernber 2019,

- LTIP4 shares grantad to Stephanie Miller da not need Lo meet performance conditions,

¢ Grasts from 1 April 2019 and 1 Apnl 2018 do rot have performance criteriz.
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Stephanie Millerr
LTIP shares

David de Buck*
LTIP shares
LTIP shares

Henk Pieter van Asselt
LTIP shares
LTIF shares
LTIP shares

Outstanding

Award date 1 Jan 2078

1 Apr 2018 -
1 Apr2017 4,000
i Apr2016 4,925
T Apr2018 -
T Apr 20717 4,000
1 Apr2016 4925

' Movements are caused by the resignation of David de Buck as per 16 May 2018,
* Followang the vesting date, the LTIP shares granted Lo members of the Managemert Boatd are subject ta an adcitional two-year lock up periad, except for the LTIP shares

that can be seld to cover ncome taxes due.

¥ Shares granted ta Stephanie Miller do rot need ta meet performance condruons,

14

As of 31 December 2019, the members of the Management

Board have no loans outstanding with the Group and no
guarantees or advance payments are granted Lo members of

the Management Board.

{EUR 000)

Heléme Vetter—van Dot
Toine van Laacl

Anthany Ruys

Charlotte Lambkn

Paul Wiling

Stewart Bennett

Total T

Member since / (until}

21 August 2015
14 May 2017
271 August 2015
17 October 2017
17 Octaber 2017

16 May 2019

Te PR 1t e AT

Outstanding
Movements as at 31 Dec
in 2018?

Granted in
2018

28,534 - 28,534
- (4,000) -
- (4,925) -
10.000 - 10,000
- - 4.000
- - 4,925

Vesung of | TiP shares for David de Buck will rernain as per the arig nal vesting dares of the respective grants.

Supervisory Board
The individual members of the Supenvisory Board receivad the
following remuneration:

LY
O
Joow onom ooy O 0o =
LD o 0 m Do

' vaddiuon, EUR 35 thausand remuncration from- aff Lated entities as the Chan of the Supervisury Boa-d,
¢ in addition. EUR 25 thousand remunerat on from afilated entbes as mermber of the Supendsory Board.

The Cornpany does not grant variable remuneration, shares or
options to the member of the Supervisory Board, They had no
loans outstandings any of the year ends far the abave
respective years. No guarantees or advance payrnents are
granted to members of the Supervisory Board,
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2618

i sosincine

Fair value
per share at
grant date
(EUR}

14.86

16.03

17.95

14.86
16.03
17.95

Vesting date?
1 Aor 2021

1 Apr 2020
1 Apr 2019

1 Apr 2021
1 Aar 2020
1 Apr 2019

2018
63
60
[<8]
50

315
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34. Group entities

34.1. Significant affiliates

The following companies were the significant affiliates of the Group as at 31 December 2019 due to their location, revenue, total
assets or investments in other affiliates and have been included in the consolidated financial statements:

Name

Ine-trust Group BV,

Inzetrust Holding (Jersey) Lirmited

Elian TopCa Limited

Elian MidCa Lirnited

Elian BidCo Limited

Biplane BidCo (UK) Limited

Intertrust Managernent Limited

Intertrust Offshare Limited

Inzertrust Fiduciary Services (Jersey) Limited
fnzertrust Fiduciary Shared Services Uimited
Intertrust Premises (Jersey) Limited
Intertrust Fiduciary Services {LIK} Limited
Intertrust (Netherlands) BV,

Intetrust (Netherlands} Employiment BV,
intertrust Managenent B.V.

Intertrust Adrministrative Senvices BV
Intertrust Escrow and Settlemenrts BV,
Intertrust Group Holding S.A

Intertrust (Sweden) AB

Intertrust {(Nonway) AS

Intertrust Finland Oy

Inzertrust Holding (Guernsey) Limited
Inzertrust (Spain} SL

intertrust Holding {Curacac) N.V.
Intertrust Resources Management Limited
Intertrust (Singapore) Ltd.

Intertrust Managernent Services Pte, Ltd.
Intertrust (Belgium) NV/SA

Intetrust (Suisse) S.A,

Intetrust (Denmark) ASS

Intertrust (Shanghai) Consuttants Limited
Intertrust Management Ireland Limited

Intertrust Alternative Investment Fund Managernent (Ireland) Lmited

Intertrust Haldings (UK) Limited

intertrust {Cyprus) Limited

intertrust Hatding {Cayman) Limited
intertrust Corporate Services (B Limited
intertrust {Dubai] Limited

Intertrust Corporate Services Delaware LEC
Intertrust {Brazil) Servicos Corporativos Ltda
Intertrust {Bahamas) Limited

Intertrust Germany GmbH

Inzertrust Topholding (Luxembourg) S.ar.l

Country of incarporation

TNetherlands

Metherlands
Jersey

Guernsey
CGuernsey

Jersey

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Jersey

Jersey

Jersey

Jersey

United Kingdom
MNethertands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Switzerland
Swoden

Nonway

Fintand
Guernsey

Spain

Curacao

Hang Kong S.AR.

Singapore
Singapore
Belgium
Switzerland
Derumnark

China

Ireland

Iretand

United Kingdom
Cyprus

Cayman Istands

Virgin Islands, British
United Arab Ermirates

United States
Brazil
Bahamas
Germany
Luxermbourg

Type

parent

affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
afhliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affilate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiiate
affiiate
affitiate
affitiate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliale
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affiliate
affliate
affiliate
affiliate
affitiate
affiliate

Cwnership interest
31.12.2019
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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Name

Incertrust Holding (Lusembourg) S& el

Intertrust (Luxernbourg) S.arl,
Radar Executive S.A

Intertrust Australia Pty Ltd

Intertrust USA LLC

Viteos Fund Services LLC

Viteos Capilal Market Private Limited

ooerat, Povanaial Bty omg ot G ingoesenen

; . Ownership interest
Country of incorporation Type

31.12.2019
Luxembourg affiiate T Ho0%
Luxembaurg affliate 100%
Luxernbaurg affiliate 100%
Australia affiliate 100%
United States affiliate 100%
United States affiliate 100%
India affiliate 100%

A list containing the information referred to in Section 379(1}, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Cade has been fled with the office of the
Cormmercial Register of Amsterdam, in accordance with Sectian 373(5], Book 2 of the Dutch Civit Code.

34.2. Guarantees issued to affiliates

The Carnpany has issued several declarations of joint and
several liability for various Group companies, in compliance with
section 403 of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Duteh Civit Cade, The UK
subsidiaries listed below have claimed audit exernption under
Companies Act 2006 s, 479A with respect Lo the year ended

Name

Intertrust Investments Limited
Intertrust Trustees (LK) Limited

Inzertrust Holdings (UK} Limited
Interrust (UK} Limited

Intertrust Trustees Limited

Intertrust Fiduciary Services (UK) Limited
Intertrust Corporate Services (UK} Lirmiteg
Biplane Bidco (LK) Lirnited

Intertrust paols cash from certain subsidiaries to the extent
legally and economically feasible. The entities that participate in
the notional pooling have provided cross guarantees and
autharization for set-off, Cash not pooled remains available for
local operational or investmenl needs.

35. Subsequent events

Therg was a subsequent event from 31 December 2019 to the
date of issue of these inancial statements

On 23 January 2020, Intertrust announced that it reached an
agreement with Round Hill Capital to take over the company's
legal and corpaorate administration services business. Intertrust
will continue to provide fund administration services to Round
Hill Capital, whilst deepening its real estate value proposition
with increasing expertise for this growth sector, The transaction
was completed on 21 January 2020. Valuation of the impact of
the transaction is not yet completed.

Other than this, there were no subsequent events identified.
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37 December 20719, The Company has given a staternent of
quarantee under Companics Act 2006 s, 479C, whereby the
Company will guarantee all outstanding liabilities ta which the
respective subsidiary companies are subject as at 31 December
2019:

Country of incorporation Registration number

United Kingdom 04996467
United Kingdam 07632657
United Kingdom 06263011
United Kingdom 06307550
United Kingdom 07359549
United Kingdurm 05081658
United Kingdom 04723839
United Kingdom 09693921

S



36. Appropriation of results payment of a dividend and to add EUR 33,542 thousand (2018:
EUR 34,887 thousand) to the retained eamings.

The Management Baard proposes to appropriate EUR 56,783
thousand (2018: EUR 54,504 thausand) of the profit for a

The financial statements are signed by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board:

Management Board: Supervisory Board:
Stephanie Miller Hélene Vletter-van Dort
Rogier van Wijk Toina van Laack

Anthony Ruys
Charlatte Lambkin
Paul Willing
Stewart Bennett

Amsterdam, the Netherlands

13 February 2020
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Company statement of profit or loss

{EUR 000) 2018
Staff expenses j (3.520)
Other operating expenses 12,546) {2.906)
QJther operating income - 6315
Loss from aperating activities 5723 an
Finance incame / (expense) 2619 (3)
Financial resule Tgele ()
Result of subsidiaries {net of tax) 86 861 86918
Profit before income tax ‘89757 86504
Income tax 568 2458

Profit for the year after tax

Frafit for the year after tax atiributable ro;

Owners of the Company 90375 89,362
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Company statement of financial position

After profit appropriation
(EUROOD) T T mm mmr e T Nete T 3122019 T 312.2018
D e T e TR
Investments in participating interasts 4 915 501 807,385
N e e T e e g el
Other receivables 155 88
Current tax assats - 116
Cash and cash equivalents 3 13
T91s659 807,602

Equity
Share capital 54 190) 53853

Share preanium 711,499 641,499
Reserves (P3.276) (39.794)
Retained earnings 102 0%4 62,488
TotalEqunty B R e e
Uabities 7 o
Trade payables 118 752
Other payables 140952 88,804
Current tax liabilities 117 -
Current (iabilities O Amass T saoss
Total liabilities S T T T e 89,086
T o R Sy 603

To”ta'l'e”q-uﬁy and liabilities
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Company statement of changes in equity

(EUR 000} Far the periad ended 31 December 2019
" Attributable to swners of the Company

. . . Treasury
. Share Retained  Translation Hedging
Share capital : : share Total
premiurn earnings reserve reserve
reserve
Balance at 01 January 2019 53,853 641,489 62,488 (29.845) {938) (B.511) 718,546

Profit/(loss) far the year - - 90 525 - - - 90,525

Other comprenensive income/(loss) for the

- - (1122) 15 861 (4,041) - 10,693
year, ret of tax
Totat comprehensive income/(loss) for the R o o
- - 89,203 15861 {4,041) - 101,023
year
Contributions and distributions -
Equity-settled share-based payiment - - 6,130 - - - a.130
Treasury shares delivered - - {4,195 - - 4,198
Dividends paid - - (h5.654) : - - [55.654)
Total contributions and distibutions - = Utazzezy - T S T a9 (49,524)
Changes in ownership interests
Business combination 337 - (337) - - - -
Total changes in ownership interest 337 20T @m0 - T T - -
Total transactions with awners of the T S B
Company
IFRS 16 opening balance adjustrnent - - 4,427 - - - 4,477
Total apening balance sheet adjustments - - aa27 - 77D 7T Tqgey
Balance at 31 December 2019 54,190 641,499 102,059 (13,984)  (4.979) (4313) 774472
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(EUR 000) For the period ended 31 December 2018
B T 7 Amiputable to pwners of the Corﬁpény o
‘ ) Treasury
Share Retained  Translation Hedging
Share capital ) ) share Total
premium earnings reserve reserve
reserve
Balance at 01 January 2018 55200 641,499 64,527  (41.437) " (545) (1a326) 704978
Profit/{loss) for the year - - 89,362 - - - 89,362
ath hensive i /(loss) for th
er camprehensive incorne/(lass) for the ) B 997 11 592 (394) ~ 12196
year, net of tax
Tatal comprehensive income/(lass) for the
- - 90,359 11.592 (393) - 101,558
year
Contributions and distribiutions
Equity-secttied share-based payment - - 5454 - - - 5454
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - (36.011) (36011}
Treasury shares aclivered - - (5,937) - - 5937 -
Dividends paid - - (56,171) - - - (56,171)
Total contributions and distributions - - {56,654) - - (30,074)  (86,728)
Changes in ownership interasts
Share cancellation {1.347) - (34.542) - - 35,889 -
Total changes in ownership interest  (1.347y = (34,542) LT . T 35889 T o
Total transactions with owners of the L o S -
(1.347) - (91,196) - - 5815 (86.728)
Company
IFRS 9 opening balance adjustment - - (1,202} - - - (1.202]
Total'opening- balance -sh-eé't‘adjus-t-ménts ’ . ‘ - (1.202) - - - (1.202)
Balance at 31 Decemnber 2018 53,853 641,499 62,488 (29,845) (938) {8,511) 718,546
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. Company Financial Statements

Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Reporting entity

The Company financial statements of Intertrust N.V. are part of
the consolidated financial statements.

2. Basis of preparation

The Campany financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code. The Company uses the option of Article 362.8 of
Part @ of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code ta prepare the
Company financial statements, using the same accounting
policies as in the consolidated financial statements. Valuation is
based on recagnition and measurement requirerments of
accounting slandards adopted by the EU (i.e. only IFRS that is
adopted for use in the EU at the date of authorisation) as
explained further in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

3. Significant accounting policies

3.1. Result of participating interests

The share of profit of participating interests consists of the share
of the Company in the results of these participating interests.
Results on transactions, where the transfer of assets and
liabilities between the Company and its participating interests
and mutually between participating interests, themselves, are
not realised.

3.2. Financial fixed assets

Participating interests in Group companies are accounted forin
the Company financial stalements according to the equity
method. Refer ta the basis of consclidstion accounting palicy in
the consclidated iinancial staterments,

4. Investments in participating interests

(EUR 00Q) 2019 2018
Balance at 01 January 807385 802,297
Impact of new standards (IFRS16 & IFRS?) 4,427 (1.202)
Restated balance as at 01 January  811.812 801,095
Share of result of participating interests 86,861 86,915
Changes in hedging ard translation

resenves 11,320 11,199
Equity-settled share-based payment 6,130 5,454
Actuarial gains/{losses) 11,122) 997
Dividend income - (98.275)
Balance at 31 December 915501 807,385

In 2019 opening balances, the Company's subsidiaries adjusted
their retained earnings by the impact of the implementation of
the new lease standard which resulted in an increase in equity
amournting to EUR 4,427 thousand in their opening balances,
Similarly in 2018 resulting for the implementation of IFRS9,
equity decreased by EUR 1,202 thousand.

5. Loans to and from participating interests
From the total closing balance as at 31 December 2019 of
other liabilities EUR 140,952 thousand there is EUR 138,960
thousand (2018: EUR £8.543 thousand] relating to a current

liability an arm's length basis to its subsidiary Intertrust Group
B.V.

6. Shareholders' equity

There is no legal reserve identified on the Company level.
lor movernents in Equity, refer to Naote 24,

7. Fees of the auditors

The following fees frarm KPMG Accountants N.V. and ils

member firms to the Company and its subsidiaries have been
booked for the financial period:
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(EUROGOY

Audit of the financial statements

QOther assurance related services (including half year review)
Other fres

Total

For the periad to which the statutory audit relates, KPMG

provided the following services to Intertrust N V. in addition to

the audit:

« review of financial information for consolidation purposes:

« procedures relating to our refinancing:

« |T and business process attestations under ISAE 3000,/3402
standard.

8. Remuneration

Refer to Note 33.2 of the consolidated financial statements far
the remuneration of the Managerment Board and the
Supervisory Board.

9, Off-balance sheet commitments

Fiscal unity
The Company is head of a fiscal unity for corporate Income tax
purposes. The Company calculates its taxes an a stand-alone

Management Board:
Stephanie Miller
Ragier van Wijk

. Company Financial Statements

L Gemerimy rsiten

mber fi
KPMG Accountants N.Y. Other KPMG me r firms and

affiliates

20197 T 2ot AT oo
{434} (386) 11,399} (1,334)
(261) (474) {124) (38)

i _ - 37)
6oy 8e0) T (imem T (1.400)

basis. The payables and/or receivables of the corporate income
tax are settled with the companies that are part of the fiscal
unity. In accordance with the standard conditions of the fiscal
unity. each of the companies is liable for the incorme tax
liabilities of the entire fiscal unity.

Far further details, please refer to Note 26.
10. Subsequent events

For subsequent events, please refer to Note 35.

Supervisory Board: !
Héléne Vietter-van Dort
Taine van Laack

Anthany Ruys
Charlotte Lambkin
Paut Willing
Stewart Bennett

Amsterdam, the Netherlands

13 February 2020
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Statutory provision with respect to
appropriation of results

According to the Company's Articles of Association, the
Company's result is freely at the disposal of the sharehclders,
provided that total shareholders' equity exceeds the called-up
and paid-up capital of the Company and the reserves which
rmust be maintained pursuant to Dutch law.

If the adopled annual accounts show a profit the Management
Board shall determine which parl of Lhe profits shall be resenved.
The profit, as this appears from the adopted annual accounts, to
the extent not reserved shall be at the disposal of the General
Meeting, provided however that the General Meeting may only
resolve on any reservation of the profits or the distribution of
any profits pursuant to and in accordance with a proposal
thereto of the Management Board. which proposal has been
approved by the Supervisory Board.

In calculating the profits available for distribution, the Shares
held by the Campany in its own capital are not counted, unless
such Shares are subject to a right of pledge on such Shares if
the pledgee is entitled to the distributions on the Shares or a
right of usufruct for the benefit of a parly other than the
Company.

Resolutions of the General Meeting with regard to a distribution
at the expense of the reserves shall require the approval of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board.

The Management Board may resolve to make interim
distributions to Shareholders, provided that the approval of the
Supenvisory Board has been obtained. Pursuant to and in
accordance with a proposal thereto by the Management Board,
which propasal has been approved by the Supervisory Board,
the General Meeting may also resolve to make interim
distributions to Shareholders.

Interim distributions are anly permitted to the extent that the
requirements set forth in the Dutch Civil Code are satisfied as
apparent from an (interim) inancial staternent drawn up in
accordance with Dutch law.

N CL Y _ Other information

After approval of the Supervisary Board, the Management
Board may determine that a distribution on Shares shall be
made payable either in euro or in another currency.

After approval of the Supervisary Board, the Management
Board may decide that a distribution on Shares shall not or not
entirely be made in cash but other than in cash, including,
without limitation, in the form of Shares, or decide that
Shareholders shall be given the opticn to receive the distribution
either in cash or other than in cash. After approvat of Lthe
Supervisory Board, Lhe Management Board may determine the
conditions under which such option can be given 1o the
Shareholders.

Any claim a Shareholder may have to a distribution shall lapse
after five years, to be calculated from the date following the
date on which such dividend has become payable.

If a resolution is adopted to make a distribution on Shares, the
Company shall make the distribution to the person in whose
name the Share is registered on the date as to be determined
by the Management Beard in accordance with Dutch law and
the rules of Lhe stock exchange where the Shares are listed. The
Management Board shall determine the date from which a
distribution to the persons entitled as referred to in the previous
sentence shall be made payable.
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naependent auditors repart

To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Intertrust N.V.
Report on the audit of the financial statements 2019 included in the annual report

Our opinion

In our opinion:

— the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Intertrust N.V. as at 31 December 2019 and of its result and its cash flows for the

year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

— the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Intertrust N.V. as at 31 December 2019 and of its resuit for the year then ended in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements 2019 of Intertrust N.V. (the ‘Company’) based in
Amsterdam. The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the
company financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
1 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

2 the following consolidated statements for 2019: the statements of profit or loss,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and

3 the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The company financial statements comprise:

1 the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2019,

2 the company profit and loss account for 2019 and the company statement of changes in
equity as at 31 December 2019; and

3 the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

KPMG Accountants N.V., registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member fimn of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG International Cooperative ({KPMG Intematianal’), a Swiss anlily.

1638605/20W00168489AVN
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Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing. Cur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our
respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.

We are independent of Intertrust N.V. in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViQ, Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the
‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants' (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinicn.

Audit approach

Summary

Materiality

— Materiality of EUR 4 million {2018: EUR 4 million)
— 3.5% of profit before tax from continuing operations (2018: 4%)

Group audit

— B87% (2018:; B4%) of revenue
— 89% (2018: 93%) of assets

Key audit matters

— Revenue recognition including management override of controls
— Valuation of goodwill

— Provisions and contingencies

— Purchase price allocation

— Information technology

Opinion

Unqualified

KPMG Accountants NV, registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263883, 1s a member firm of the KPMG network of independant membar firms affiliated with
KPMG Intemational Cooperative { KPMG [ntemational’), a Swiss entity.

1638605/20W00168489AVN
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Materiality

Based on our professional judgement, we determined the materiality for the financial statements
as a whole at EUR 4 million (2018: EUR 4 million). The materiality is determined with reference
to the 2019 profit before tax frem continuing operations (3.5%; 2018: 4%). We consider profit
before tax from continuing operations as the most appropriate benchmark because it reflects the
operations of the Company. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible
misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for
qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of
EUR 200,000 which are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller
misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

Intertrust N.V. is at the head of a group of components. The financial information of this group is
included in the financial statements of Intertrust N.V.

Qur group audit mainly focused on significant components. Components that were considered
significant based on revenues or assets, are included in scope. These were the operating
entities in the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Cayman Islands, Jersey and Viteos' entities (in india
and US). Furthermore, we included in scope the operating entity in Guernsey as we identified a
significant risk of material misstatement related to revenue recognition including management
override of controls.

In addition, to arrive at a sufficient cverall coverage over all relevant significant account
halances, we included operating entities in Spain, UK, Ireland and Hong Kong in scope of cur
group audit as well.

All components in scope for group reporting are audited by KPMG member firms, with the

exception of Viteos’ entities (in India and US). The contribution to revenues of this entity amounts
to 5% of Intertrust N.V.

We have:
— performed audit procedures ourselves at grcup components Intertrust N.V. and
Intertrust Group B.V;

— made use of the work of other auditors for the audit of the operating entities in the
Netherlands, Luxembourg, Cayman islands, Jersey, Guernsey, Spain, UK, Ireland,
Hong Kong and Viteos’ entities (in India and US);

— performed audit procedures over sighificant accounts such as external debt, goodwill and
share-based payments ourselves at the group holding entity in the Netherlands.

KPMG Accountants N.V_, registared with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member firn of the KPMG network of independant member firms affiliated with
KPMG {ntematianal Coaparative (KPNG Intermational’y, a Swiss entity.
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For all operating entities in scope, an audit of the complete reporting package (full-scope audit)
was performed. For components in scope we have:

— sent detailed instructions to all component auditors cavering significant areas including the
relevant risks of material misstatement, and set out the information required to be reported to
the group audit team;

— held conference calls and/or physical meetings with the auditors of the components. During
these visits, meetings and calls, the planning, risk assessment, procedures performed,
findings and observations reported to the group auditor were discussed in more detail;

— visited component locations in the Netherlands, Luxembourg, India and Jersey where we
performed audit file reviews.

The group audit team has set component materiality levels which ranged from EUR 0.5 million to
EUR 2 million, based on the mix of size and financial statement risk profile of the components
within the group, to reduce the aggregation risk to an acceptable level. The consolidation of the
group, the disclosures in the annual accounts and certain accounting topics that are performed
at group level, are audited by the group audit team.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group components, together with additional
procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the financial statements.

Qur procedures as described above can be summarized as follows:

Total assets

30 /7

Audit of the complete Covered by audit procedures
reporting package perfarmed at group level
Revenue
Audit of the complete Covered by audit procedures
reporting package performed at group level

KPMG Accountants N.V , registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member fim of the KPMG netwaork of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG Intemational Caoperative ('KPMG Intemational’), a Swiss entity.
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Audit scope in relation to fraud

In accordance with the Dutch standards on auditing, we are responsibie for obtaining a high
(but not absolute) level of assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.

As part of our risk assessment process, we have evaluated events or conditions that indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud (‘fraud risk
factors’) to determine whether fraud risks are relevant to our audit. During this risk assessment,
we made use of our own forensic specialists.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout our team and remained alert to any
indications of fraud throughout the audit. This included communicaticn from the group team to
component audit teams of relevant fraud risks identified at group level.

In accordance with the auditing standard, we evaluated the fraud risks that are relevant to our
audit:

— Revenue recognition, in particular existence of revenue for time-based fees (a presumed
risk).

— Management override of controls (a presumed risk).

Qur audit procedures included an evaluation of the design, implementation as well as the
operating effectiveness of internal controls relevant to mitigate these risks, and substantive audit
procedures, including detailed testing of high risk jocurnal entries and evaluation of management
bias. In determining the audit procedures, we will make use of the company’s evaluation in
relation to fraud risk management (prevention, detections and response), including the set-up of
ethical standards to create a culture of honesty.

As part of our evaluation of any instances of fraud, we inspected the incident register/whistle
blowing reports and foliow-up by management.

We communicated our risk assessment and audit response to management and the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board. Our audit procedures differ from a specific forensic fraud
investigation, which investigation often has a more in-depth character.

Our procedures to address fraud risks did result in the identification of a key audit matter
‘Revenue recognition including management override of controls’.

We do note that our audit is based on the procedures described in line with applicable auditing
standards and are not primarily designed to detect fraud.

Audit scope in relation to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We have evaluated facts and circumstances in order to assess compliance with laws and
regulations relevant to the company. In this evaluation, we also made use of our own {forensic)
specialist.

We identified laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect
on the financial statements based on our general understanding and sector experience, through
discussion with relevant management and evaluating the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

KPMG Accountants N V., registered with the frade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member firn of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG Intemational Cooperative {KPMG Intemational’), a Swiss entity.
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We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert tc any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the group
tearmn to component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at group level. The
potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably:

— Firstly, the company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial
statements including taxation and financial reporting {including related company legislation).
We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.

— Secondly, the company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the
consequences of non-compliance could have an indirect material effect on amounts
recognised or disclosures provided in the financial statements, or both, for instance through
the imposition of fines or litigation.

We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an indirect effect:
— Anti-money laundering laws and regulations.

— Trade sanctions laws and regulations.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify hon-compliance with laws and
regulations that have an indirect effect to inquiring of relevant management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Through these procedures, we did not identify any
additional actual or suspected non-compliance other than those previously identified by the
company in each of the above areas. We considered the effect of actual or suspected non-
compliance as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Our procedures to address compliance with laws and regulations did result in the identification of
a key audit matter ‘Provisions and contingencies’.

We do note that our audit is not primarily designed to detect non-compliance with taws and
regulations and that management is responsible for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to errors or fraud, including compliance with laws and
regulations.

The more distant non-compliance with indirect laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit, there
remained a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit
matters to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a
comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed. Compared to prior year, we have added a
Key Audit Matter ‘Purchase Price Allocation’ related to the acquisition of the company Viteos.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KPMG Accountants NV, registered with the trade register in the Netherands under number 33263683, 1s a member firn of the KPMG netwark of independent member firms affilated with
KPMG International Coaperative ('KPMG Intemational’), a Swiss entity.
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Revenue recognition including management override of controls

Description

Revenue recognition, in particular existence of revenue for time-based fees, is considered a
significant audit risk. It relates to potential manipulation of cut-off and management override of
controls. Management override relevant to internal controls is an action or a series of actions
performed by management to bypass established internal controls. Management override
may be driven by an incentive or pressure to reach analyst expectations. The risk relates to
cut-off of revenue whereby revenue is overstated.

Our response

We addressed the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition and management override of controls
in our audit through a combination of controls testing (if possible based on the maturity level of
controls at a component) and substantive testing:

— Testing of the key controls in relation to revenue recognition, such as the approval of hours
recorded, reconciliation of written hours to contractual hours and review of proposed
invoicing.

— Testing operating effectiveness of the IT application and the general IT controls to the
extent that this is considered effective and efficient in our audit approach. This resulted in
for example testing of the general IT controls and IT application controls over the input of
information into the back-office system and testing of application controls over approval of
invoices and approval of timesheets. For components where we do not rely on IT controls,
this resulted in additional substantive audit procedures such as manual reconciliations of
data.

— Testing the cut-off of revenue with underlying documentation. Amongst others, we verified
the timing of revenue recognition with underlying contracts and written hours, whether
credit notes issued after balance sheet date related to revenue recognised in 2019, the
existence and collectability of WIP and debtor balances by reconciling WIP to written hours
and testing the aging of accounts receivable.

— Journal entry testing of both manual journal entries recorded directly in the consolidation,
and manual journal entries recorded by local management and high risk journal entries in
the consolidation system, using data analysis tools where possible.

— Analysis of the Company’s accounting policies and practices in relation to revenue
recognition for compliance with IFRS 15.

Our observation

Our audit procedures did not reveal indications of manipulations in revenue cut-off nor
management override of controls in the accounting applied by management in relation to the
recoghnition of revenue.

KPMG Accountants NV, registered with the trade register in the Nethedands under number 33263683, is a member firm of the KPMG netwark of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG Intermational Cooperative (‘'KPMG Intemational’), 8 Swiss entity.
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Vaiuation of goodwill

Description

The company has recognised a significant amount of goodwill predominantly emanating from
the acquisitions of Elian and ATC and Viteos. There is a potential risk of impairment of
goodwill, to the extent actual developments deviate negatively from the assumptions applied
during the acquisition of the group entities. The annual impairment test performed was
significant to our audit because the assessment process is complex, judgemental and is
based on assumptions that are affected by expected future economic and market conditions.
in performing the impairment testing for goodwill, the Company used various assumptions in
respect of future economic and market conditions, such as the discount rate, revenue and
margin development, expected inflation rates and the terminal value growth.

The amounts recognised, the assumptions and sensitivities used to assess the recoverable
amount recognised, are disclosed in ncte 16 of the consolidated financial statements.

Our response

Our response was geared to a full substantive audit approach instead of testing of internal
controls relating to the valuation of goodwill. We performed, amongst others, the following
procedures:

— Assessed whether the impairment testing was performed in accordance with IAS 38.

— Assessed if management's determination of, and changes to, the Cash Generating Unit
(CGU) and the related carrying value was appropriate.

— Challenged management's budget and cash flow forecasts, performing sensitivity
analyses and a retrospective review of the historical accuracy of management’s
estimations.

— Involved a KPMG valuation specialist to assist the audit team in the audit procedures
performed. The valuation specialist's procedures included evaluating the reasonability of
the methodology used by management, assessing the reasonableness of the key input
parameters (including Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) and terminal growth
rate), performing independent sensitivity analyses over the outcome of the impairment
test, and comparison with market data.

— Assessed the mathematical accuracy of the goodwill impairment model and assessed
whether the calculated recoverable amount is greater than the carrying amount of the
CGUs tested.

— Reconciled source data used in the model to underlying audit evidence.

— Assessed the adequacy of the Company’s disclosure in note 16.

Our observation

Based on our procedures performed, we found management’s assessment relating the
valuation of goodwill overall within an acceptable range and adequately disclosed in note 16
of the financial statements.

KPMG Accountants N.V.. registered with the trade registerin the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a membar firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affihated with
KPMG Intemational Cooperative {KPMG Intemational’}, a Swiss entity.
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Provisions and contingencies

Description

As disclosed in note 32, Intertrust is involved in governmental, reguiatory and legal
proeceedings and investigations in several jurisdictions.

Management judgement is invoived in assessing the accounting for these proceedings and
investigations. The risk is mainly associated with the completeness of the disclosure of
contingent liabilities and the recognition and measurement of the provisions in the financial
statements.

Management's assessment of legal ¢laims is included in note 29 of the consclidated
financial statements and the description of contingent liabilities is included in note 32.

Our response

We performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

-— Tested management's controls over litigation and claims menitoring and adequacy of
provision measurement.

— Involved forensic specialists in our procedures regarding governmental and regulatory
proceedings and investigations.

— Inspected correspondence with governmental and regulatory authorities.
— Inspected Management Board and Supervisory Board minutes,

-— Inspected correspondence with external legal advisors of the Company and evaluated of
legal expenses.

— Challenged management’s assessment of proceedings, investigations, litigations and
claims and subsequent assessment of provisions and disclosures required as at year-
end.

— Inquired Management Board, in-house legal counsel, Chief Risk Officer and Head of
Internal Audit and verified substantive audit evidence.

— We also assessed the adequacy of the Company's disclosure as included in note 29 and
note 32.
QOur observation

Based on our procedures, we found the provisians recognised reasonable and we found the
disclosures of contingent liabilities to be appropriate.

KPMG Accountants N.V., registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is @ member firm of the KPMG network of ndependent member firms affifiated with
KPMG ional Cooperative {KPMG | ional’), 8 Swiss entity.
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Purchase Price Allocation

| :

Description

As disclosed in note 14, the company acquired 100% of the share capital in the company
Viteos for a total consideration of EUR 259 million during the financial year.

The purchase price allocation (‘PPA’) as required by IFRS contains management judgement in
estimates, such as the fair value of the individual assets acquired. Management performed the
PPA with the use of external experts and determined the resulting goodwill.

The primary element of the valuation and PPA process was to assess the fair value of
intangible assets (EUR 39 million) in the form of software and client relationships. Resulting
goodwill amounted to EUR 221 million.

The judgement involved in determining the PPA as well as the value allocated to intangible
assets, makes the PPA a key audit matter.
Our response

We involved a valuation specialist to assist us in our audit procedures. We performed amongst
others the following procedures for the PPA as per 31 December 2019:

— Verified the total consideration identified by Intertrust based on the signed agreements.
— Evaluated of the adequacy and completeness of the identification of the intangible assets.

— Assessed the reasonability of the valuation approach applied for the valuation of the
identified intangible assets.

— Assessed the reasonability of the key assumptions applied in the valuation of the intangible
assets.

— Challenged the forecasts and cash flows used in the calculations.

— Evaluated the reascnability of the overall outcome of the preliminary PPA.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures included in note 14.

Our observation

Based cn our procedures performed, we found the overall outcome of the PPA of the company
Viteos {o be reasonable. We found the disclosure of the acquisition of the company Viteos to
be appropriate.

KPMG Accountants N V., registered with the trade register in the Netherdands under number 33253683, is a member finm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affilialed with
KPMG Intemalicnal Cooperative (KPMG Intemational’), a Swiss entity.
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Information technology

Description

The Company is dependent on its IT infrastructure for the continuity of its cperations. The
Company makes investments in its 1T systems and processes as it is confinuously improving
the efficiency and effectiveness of the IT infrastructure and the reliabiiity and continuity of the
electronic data processing.

Our response

We have assessed the reliability and continuity of the electronic data processing, as far as
necessary within the scope of our audit. For that purpose, we inciuded IT auditors in our
audit team. As part of the audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding
of the entity's IT environment and how the Company has mitigated the risks arising from the
IT systems, by testing internal controls where relevant for the purpose of our audit, that
maintain the integrity of information and the security of the data that such systems process.
Our procedures included, amongst others, the assessment of access 1o programs and data,
change management, compufer operations, and hack-up and recovery in the |T domain and
testing of the relevant internai controls with respect to relevant IT systems and

processes.

To the extent where (part of the) General IT Controls are not cperating effectively, we assess
the impact on our substantive audit approach. This includes test of details of specific
transactions and reports.

Qur ohservatian

Overall, the resuilts of our audit procedures on information technolegy were satisfactory. In
our reporting to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board, we provided
recommendations for further improvements to the IT controls.

KPMG Accountaats NV, registered wath the trade registec in the Netherands uader aumber 33263683, 15 a mambec firm of the KPMG netwade of indepeadent member firms affilated with
KPMG Internaticnal Coop: (KPMG I 1al’). @ Swiss antity.
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Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report
contains other information. Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the
other information:

— is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and
— contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other
information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Engagement

We were engaged by the General Meeting as auditor of Intertrust N.V. on 25 September 2015,
as of the audit for the year 2015 and have operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial
year.

No prohibited non-audit services

We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the
EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities.

Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the Management Board of the Company and the
Supervisory Board for the financial statements

The Management Board of Intertrust N.V. is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. Furthermore, the Management Board of Intertrust N.V. is responsible for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

KPMG Accountanis NV | registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member fimm of the K PMG network of indepandent member firms affiliated with
KPMG Intemational Cooperative (KPMG ktematicnal), a Swiss entity.
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As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Management Board of Intertrust N.V.
is responsible for assessing Intertrust N.V.'s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the
financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the Management Board of Intertrust N.V. should
prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Management Board of Intertrust N.V. either intends to liquidate the Company cr to cease
operations, or has no realistic aliernative but to do so. The Management Board of Intertrust N.V.
should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing Intertrust N.V.’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we
may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our
opinion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in
the appendix to this auditor's report. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Amstelveen 13 February 2G20
KPMG Accountants NV,
W.G. Bakker RA

Appendix:
Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

KPMG Accouniants NV, registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is 2 member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms atfilated with
KPMG Intemational Caoperative KPMG Intemational’), a Swiss entity.
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Appendix

Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and
independence requirements. Our audit included among others:

- identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
the risk resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

— obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;

— evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management Board of the
Company;

— concluding on the appropriateness of the Management Board of the Company's use of the
going concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related tc events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to medify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to
continue as a going concern;

— evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures; and

— evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We are solely responsible for the opinion and therefore responsible to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial informaticn of the entities or business activities
within the group to express an opinion on the financial statements. In this respect we are also
responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in
internal control that we identify during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional
report to the Audit Committee in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific
requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities. The information included in this
additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor's report.

KPMG Acceuntants N.V., registered with the trade register in the Netherands under number 33263683, is a member finm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affilialed with
KPMG International Caoperative {KPMG Infemational’). a Swiss entity.
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We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit
matters: those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disciosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the
matter is in the public interest.

KPMG Accountants N.V., registered with the trade register i the Netheriands under number 33263683, 15 a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms zffillated with
KeMG 0 {KPMG fanal}, a Swiss entity.
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Office locations

Intertrust N.V.,

Prins Bernhardplein 200
F.0. Box 990

1000 AZ Amsterdam

The Netherlands

tel +31 (0)20 521 4777
fax +31 (0)20 521 4888
infol@intertrustgroup.com

Americas

Intertrust Bahamas
Providence Houise

East Wing, East Hill Street
P.0. Box CB12400. Nassau
Bahamas

tel +1 242 322 5316

fax +1 242 322 4455
nassau@interLrustgroup.com

Intertrust Brazil

Rua Viradouro, 63

77 andar - Cj 77 itaim Bibi
SP-04538-110 Sa0 Paulo
Brazil

tel +55 17 3073 0765

saopaulo@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust BVI

Ritter House, Wickhams Cay |l
P.O. Box 4047 Road Tawn
VGE1110 Tortola

British Virgin Islands

tel +1 284 394 9100

fax +1 284 494 9101
bvi@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Canada

330 Bay Street — Suite 2700
Toronto ON M5) 251

Canada

tel +1 416 572 2401
toronto@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Cayman Islands
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman, KY1-9005
Cayman Islands

tel +1 345943 3100

fax +1 345 945 4757
cayman@intertrystgroup.com

Intertrust Curagao
Zeelandia Office Park

Kaya W.F.G. (Jambi)

Mensing 14

Willermstad, Curagao

tel +539 9 433 1000

fax +5999 461 4129
curacao@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust United States
715 Peachtree Street NE, st floor
Atlanta, GA 30308

United States of America

tel +1 470378 1137
atlanta@intertrustgroup.com

200 Scuth Wacker Drive, 31st floor
Chicago, IL 60606

United States of America

tel +1 312 674 4672
chicago@inlertrustgroup.com

1200 Smith Street - Suite 1600
Houston, TX 77002

United States of America
tel+1713 3538873
houston@intertrustgroup. com
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447 Lexington Avenue - Suite 1404
New York, NY 10017

United States of America

tel +1 646 8617 3409
newyork@intertrustgroup.com

275 Madison Avenue - Suite 1674
New York, NY 10016

United States of America

tel +1 212 949 5530
newyork@intertrustgroup,com

505 Montgomery Street ~ Suite 1022
San Francisco, CA 94111

United States of America

tel +1 415 874 3147
sanfrancisco@intertrustgroup.corm

80 Cottontail Lane ~ Suite 430
Somerset, NJ 08873

United States of America

tel +1 732 3456 1200
info@intertrustgroup.corn

200 Bellevue Parkway - Suite 210
Wilmington, DE 19809

UniLed Sldales uf Anericd

tel +1 302 798 5867
intertrustus@intertrustgroup.com
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Europe, Middle East &
Africa

Intertrust Belgium
Avenue Marnix 23, 5th floar
1000 Brussels, Belgium

tel +32 2209 22 00
brussels@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Cyprus
Spyrou Kyprianou 47

1st floor, Mesa Geltonia
4004 Limassol, Cyprus

tel +357 2525 7120
cyprus@intertrustgroup.caom

Intertrust Denmark

Harbour House

sundkrogsgade 21

2100 Copenhagen

Denmark

tel +45 3318 9000
copenhagen@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Finland
Bulevardi 1, &6th floor,
FI-00100 Helsinki

Finland

tel +358 9 8560 6303
helsinki@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Germany
Eschersheimer Landstrabe 14
60322 Frankfurt am Main
Germany

tel +43 63 643 508 300
frankfurt@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Guernsey
P.O.Box 119

Martello Court, Admiral Park

St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 3HB
tel +44 1481 211 000
guernsey@intertrustgroup.com

Ao semsros

Intertrust Ireland

2nd Floor, 1-2 Victoria Buildings
Haddington Road

Dublin 4 DO4 XN32

Ireland

tel +353 16686 152
dublin@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Jersey

44 Esplanade

St Helier

Jersey JE4 WG

tel +44 1534 504000
jersey@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Luxembourg
Vertigo Naos Building

6, Rue Eugéne Ruppert

L-2453 Luxembourg
Luxernbaourg

tel +352 26 44 91
luxernbaurg@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Netherlands
Prins Bernhardplein 200

1097 |B Amnsterdam

The Nethertands

tel +31 20521 4777
amsterdam@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Norway
Munkedamsveien 59b
0270 Oslo, Norway

tel +47 23 3083 20
oslo@intertrustgroup.corm

Intertrust Spain

Serrano 41, 4°

28001 Madrid, Spain

tel 13491 781 1671
madrid@intertrustgroup.com



Intertrust Sweden
Norra Vallgatan 70

211 22 Malmd, Sweden

tel +46 40973 250
malmo@intertrustgroup.cam

Sveavagen 9, 10th floor

111 57 Stoackholm, Sweden

tel +46 8 402 72 00
stockholm{@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Switzerland
Rue Philippe-Plantamour 18-20
1201 Geneva. Switzerland

Lel +41 22 317 80 00
geneva@intertrustgroup.com

Zahlerweg &

6300 Zug, Switzerland
tel +41 47 726 82 00
Zag@intertrustgroup.com

Limmatquai 72

P.O. Box 475

8024 ZUrich, Switzerland
tel +41 44 233 30 20
zurich@intertrustgroup.com

intertrust United Arab Emirates

Office 2463, 24, Al Sila Tower
Abu Dhabl Global Market Square
Al Maryah Istand, Abu Dhabi
United Arab Emirates

tel +971 2 694 8539
uae@intertrustgroup.com

Unit 1306, Lovel 13

Tower ll, Al Fattan Currency House, DIFC
P.0. Box 506615, Dubat

United Arab Emirates

tel +971 4 3780 600
dubai@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust United Kingdom
Berkeley Square House
London W1 6BD

United Kingdom

tel +44 207016 9170
info@intertrustgroup.com
35 Great St Helen's

London EC3A 6AP

United Kingdom

tel +44 20 7160 6300
london@intertrustgroup.com

Asia Pacific

Intertrust Australia

Suite 2, Level 25, 100 Miller St.
North Sydney, NSW 2060
Australia

T:+61 29954 1220
info@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust China

Room 1008, 10th Floor

CBD Internaticnal Mansian

16 Yong An Dong Li, Chaoyang District
Beijing, China 100022

tel +86 10 6514 8686
beljing@intertrustgroup.com

Room 911 Yingkai Plaza

No. 16 Huaxia Road, Tianhe District
Guangzhou, China 510623

tel +86 20 3885 8686

fax +86 20 3885 0686
quangzhou@inlertrustgroup.com

Unit 01, 3rd Floor, 100 Bund Square
Ng. 100 Zhong Shan Road South,
Huangpu, Shanghai, China 200010
tel +86 21 5098 8686
shanghai@intertrustgroup.com

Room 740, 7th Floar, SCC Tower A
No 88 Haide Yi Road,

Shenzhen, Guangdong. China 518054
tel +86 755 8435 6016
shenzhen@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Hong Kong
3806 Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kang

tel +852 2802 7711

fax +852 2802 7733
hongkang@intertrustgroup.com
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{ntertrust India

43 Electronics City
Phase-1 Hosur Road
Bangalore 560 100

India

tel +86 10 6514 8686
info@intertrustgroup.cormn

# 4/8 Block No 6, 5th Floor
Thiru-vi-ka Industrial Estate
Alandur Village, Guindy Taluk
Chennai 600032

India

tel +97 44 61114000
info@intertrustgroup.com

207-A Nomura Building, 2nd Floor
Hiranandani Business Park

High Street, Powali

Murmbai 400 076

India

tel +91 22 61082200
info@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Japan

Otemachi First Square, East Tower 4F,
1-5-1 Otemachi, Chiyada-ku,
Tokyo 100-0004

Japan

tel +81 35219 1216
japan@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust New Zealand

Level 26, PwC Tower, 188 Quay Street,
Auckland 1010

New Zcaland

T +64 9363 7844
info@intertrustgroup.com

Intertrust Singapare

77 Robinson Road

13-00 Rebinson 77

Singapaore 068336

tet +65 6500 6400
singapore@intertrustgroup.com
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Defined terms

The following list of defined terms is not intended to be an
exhausiive list of definitions, but provides a list of the defined
terms used in this Annual Report

Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA excluding specific itemns and the impact of IFRS16

Adjusted EBITA

Adjusted EBITA is defined as Adjusted EBITDA excluding
depreciation of all property, plant and equipment as well as
armortisation of other intangible assets

Adjusted EBITA margin
Adjusted EBITA divided by revenue, and is expressed as a
pereentage

Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted net income divided by the weighted-average number
of basic shares for the period

Adjusted net income

Adjusted EBITA less net interest costs, less adjusted tax
expenses and share of profit of equity accounted investees (nat
of tax] and excluding adjusted iterns in financial results and
income taxes

Adjusted revenue
Revenue excluding IFRS16 impact

AMX

Amsterdam Midkap Index

AFM
The Netherlands Autharity for the Financial Markets or Stichting
Autoriteit Financiéle Markten

AIFMD

The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive
(2011/61/EU)

Articles of Association
The articles of association (statuten) of the Company

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board

BEPS
The Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project

Blackstone
Blackslone Perpetual Topca S.arll.

CAGR
Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Capital employed

As the total of Warking capital (WC}) in the Staternent of
financial position. Property. Plant and Equipment and Intangibles
(including acquisition related and other assets)

Capital expenditure (Capex)

Investrments in property, plant, equipment, software and other
intangible assets not related to acquisitions and excludes right-
of -use assets

Company

Intertrust NV, and/or any of its subsidiaries

COS0-ERM Framework
COSO Enterprise Risk Managerment-Integrated Framework

CRS

Cormmon Reporting Standard

DNB
The Dutch Central Bank or De Nederlandsche Bank

Dutch Corporate Governance Code or the Code
The Dutch Corporate Governance Code 2016

EBITA

Profit/{loss) from operating activities excluding arortisation

EBITDA
Profit/{loss) from operating activities excluding depreciation and
amortisation
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Effective tax rate (ETR)
ETR is calculated as minus one times income tax expense
divided by the profit before tax of the Group

Elian
Elian Topco Limited and its subsidiaries

Elian acquisition
The acquisition of Elian by !ntertrust as completed on
23 September 2016

EOP

Executive Ownership Plan

ESOP

Employee Stack Ownership Plan

Euronext Amsterdam
The regulated market operated by Euronext Amsterdam NV,

EUR or €

The single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of
the European Economic and Manetary Union pursuant Lo the
Treaty on the functioning of the Eurapean Community, as
amended from time to time

Executive Cammittee or ExCo
The Executive Committee of Intertrust

FATCA

The Fareign Account Tax Compliance Act

FD!

Foreign Direct Investment

First trading date
15 October 2015, the date on which trading in the Offer Shares
an Euronext Amsterdam commenced

FTEs

Full-Time Equivalents

FVOCI

Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL

Fair vatue through profit and loss

GBPor &

The lawful currency of the United Kingdom
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General Meeting
The general meeting (algemene vergadering) of the Company

Group

The Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

PO
Initial Public Cffering

KPMG
KPMG Accountants NV,

Leverage ratio

Leverage ratio is defined as total net debt {on "last twelve
months” (LTM) average FX rates) divided by the adjusted
EBITDA profarma contsibution for acquisitions and full year run-
rate synergies related to acquisitions and other Senior Facility
Agreerent (SFA) adjustments such as the addback of LTM
LTIF, Share deferral plan {SDP) and Rollover share plan accruals

LTIP

Long-Term Incentive Plan

Management Board
The Management Board (bestuur) of the Company

Net debt

The net of the cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on
behalf of customers and gross value of the third party
indebtedness

Net interest

Net finance cost excluding foreign exchange gains and losses ‘
and fair value adjustments far specific inancial instrurments :
recognised in the Slaternent of profit or loss

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

Other working capital

Olher working capital in the Staternent of financial position is
defined as the total of Gther receivables, Prepayments and
Other payables

Relationship Agreement
The relationship agreement dated on or about 2 QOctober 2015
between the Company and Blackstone




Rermnuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee

The Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment Committee of
the Supervisory Board

RoA

Right-af-use assets

SbP
Share Deferral Plan

Shareholder
Any holder of Ordinary Shares at any time

Shares
The ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

Specific items

Income and expenses items that, based on their significance in
size ar nature, should be separately presented Lo provide further
understanding about the financial peformance. Specific iterns
include Transaction costs, Integration and transformation costs,
share-based paymentl upan IPQ, share-based payment upon
integraticn, and income/expenses related to disposal of assets.
Specific items are not of an operational nature and do nat
represent the core operating results

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board (raad van commissarissen) of the
Company

PSP

Performance Share Plan

Trade working capital

Trade working capital in the Staternent of financial position is
defined as the total of Trade receivables, Waork in progress,
Trade payables and Deferred income

UuBO

Ultimate beneficial owner

Underlying

Current and prior period al constant currency and, if applicable,
including proforma figures for acquisition(s) (excluding IFRS16
impact)

UsDor S

The lawful currency of the United States

VRS

Viteos Rollover Share Plan

Working capital (WC)

Working capital in the Statement of financial position is defined
as the total of the trade working capital. other waorking capital
and net current tax
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